

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Functional Analysis

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jfa

Regular Article

A conservative stochastic Dirac-Klein-Gordon system



Functiona Analysi

Evgueni Dinvay^{a,*}, Sigmund Selberg^b

 ^a Department of Chemistry, UiT The Arctic University of Norway, PO Box 6050 Langnes, N-9037 Tromsø, Norway
 ^b Department of Mathematics, University of Bergen, PO Box 7803, 5020 Bergen, Norway

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 30 May 2023 Accepted 19 June 2024 Available online 4 July 2024 Communicated by Jan Maas

MSC: 35Q53 35Q60 60H15

Keywords: Dirac equation Klein-Gordon equation Yukawa interaction Multiplicative noise

ABSTRACT

Considered herein is a particular nonlinear dispersive stochastic system consisting of Dirac and Klein-Gordon equations. They are coupled by nonlinear terms due to the Yukawa interaction. We consider a case of homogeneous multiplicative noise that seems to be very natural from the perspective of the least action formalism. We are able to show existence and uniqueness of a corresponding Cauchy problem in Bourgain spaces. Moreover, the regarded model implies charge conservation, known for the deterministic analogue of the system, and this is used to prove a global existence result for suitable initial data.

© 2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	. Introduction	 2
2.	P. Preliminaries	 7
	2.1. Random variables	 8
	2.2. Stopping times	 8

* Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: Evgueni.Dinvay@uit.no (E. Dinvay), Sigmund.Selberg@uib.no (S. Selberg).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfa.2024.110565

^{0022-1236/} © 2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

	2.3.	Stochastic integrals	10	
	2.4.	Function spaces	12	
	2.5.	Cutoffs and a modified Bourgain norm	17	
3.	Main	results	19	
4.	Bound	ls for Hilbert-Schmidt operators	24	
5.	Bilinea	ar bounds	27	
6.	Abstra	act well-posedness for dispersive PDE systems with noise	32	
	6.1.	Notation and definitions	32	
	6.2.	Initial value problem	33	
	6.3.	Existence and uniqueness	36	
	6.4.	Properties of M	39	
	6.5.	Properties of ${\bf N}$ and ${\bf L}$	42	
	6.6.	Existence for the truncated problem	43	
	6.7.	Extension	46	
	6.8.	Uniqueness	47	
	6.9.	Regularisation and Itô's formula	49	
	6.10.	Proof of Theorem 1	53	
7.	Charg	e conservation	54	
8.	Globa	l existence	58	
9.	Bourg	ain isometry	62	
10.	A mod	lified Bourgain norm	67	
11.	Cutoff	estimates in H^b and $X^{s,b}$	70	
	11.1.	Preliminary estimates	71	
	11.2.	Cutoff estimate, version I	75	
	11.3.	Cutoff estimate, version II	77	
	11.4.	Difference estimate, version I	77	
	11.5.	Difference estimate, version II	80	
	11.6.	Sobolev–Slobodeckij norm on $H^b(0,T)$	81	
Data	availab	ility	81	
Acknowledgments				
Refere	ences .		82	

1. Introduction

Consideration is given to the following Dirac-Klein-Gordon equations, one-dimensional in the space variable, containing homogeneous multiplicative noise of the Stratonovich type,

$$\begin{cases} (-i\partial_t - i\alpha\partial_x + M\beta)\psi = \phi\beta\psi + \beta\psi\xi_1, \\ (\partial_t^2 - \partial_x^2 + m^2)\phi = \psi^*\beta\psi + \phi\xi_2, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

with initial data

$$\psi(0, x, \omega) = \psi_0(x, \omega), \qquad \phi(0, x, \omega) = \phi_0(x, \omega), \qquad \partial_t \phi(0, x, \omega) = \phi_1(x, \omega). \tag{1.2}$$

The unknowns are random processes $\psi(t, x, \omega) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ and $\phi(t, x, \omega) \in \mathbb{R}$, for $t \ge 0$, $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and ω in a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$. Here $m, M \ge 0$ are constants and the 2 × 2 Dirac matrices α, β satisfy $\alpha = \alpha^*, \beta = \beta^*, \alpha^2 = \beta^2 = I$ and $\alpha\beta + \beta\alpha = 0$. For simplicity we choose the particular representation E. Dinvay, S. Selberg / Journal of Functional Analysis 287 (2024) 110565

$$\alpha = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \beta = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let W be the cylindrical Wiener process defined by a complete orthonormal sequence $\{e_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$ and a sequence $\{B_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ of independent real-valued Brownian motions on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}, \mathbb{P})$, where \mathcal{F}_t is an associated filtration of \mathcal{F} . We assume that the noise is of the form

$$\xi_j = \frac{d\mathcal{W}_j}{dt}, \qquad \mathcal{W}_j = \mathfrak{K}_j W \qquad (j = 1, 2),$$

where the \Re_j are convolution operators

$$\mathfrak{K}_j f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathfrak{k}_j (x - y) f(y) dy \tag{1.3}$$

with real-valued kernels $\mathfrak{k}_j \in H^{\sigma_j}(\mathbb{R})$. Here $\sigma_j \geq 0$ will be chosen depending on the Sobolev regularity of the initial data.

Interpreting the stochastic integrals in the Stratonovich sense, we can then write (1.1) as

$$\begin{cases} d\psi = (-\alpha\partial_x - iM\beta)\psi \, dt + i\phi\beta\psi \, dt + i\beta\psi\mathfrak{K}_1 \circ dW, \\ d\phi = \dot{\phi} \, dt, \\ d\dot{\phi} = (\partial_x^2 - m^2)\phi \, dt + \psi^*\beta\psi \, dt + \phi\mathfrak{K}_2 \circ dW, \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

where $\dot{\phi} = \partial \phi / \partial t$ and $\psi \mathfrak{K}_1$, $\phi \mathfrak{K}_2$ are understood as compositions of the convolution operators \mathfrak{K}_1 , \mathfrak{K}_2 with the multiplication operators given by ψ , ϕ . Thus

$$(\psi \mathfrak{K}_1)f(x) = \psi(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathfrak{k}_1(x-y)f(y)dy$$

and similarly for $\phi \mathfrak{K}_2$. Depending on the regularity of the initial data, the Sobolev regularity σ_j of the kernel \mathfrak{k}_j will be chosen so that the above compositions are Hilbert-Schmidt operators from $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ into suitable Sobolev spaces.

By introducing noise in the Stratonovich sense we respect two of the key physical properties of the original deterministic Dirac-Klein-Gordon system: the principle of least action and the conservation of the charge, $\int |\psi(t, x)|^2 dx$.

From an analysis perspective it is more convenient to work with the Itô stochastic integral. The Itô form of the above system is

$$\begin{cases} d\psi = (-\alpha\partial_x - iM\beta)\psi \,dt + i\phi\beta\psi \,dt - M_{\mathfrak{K}_1}\psi \,dt + i\beta\psi\mathfrak{K}_1 \,dW, \\ d\phi = \dot{\phi} \,dt, \\ d\dot{\phi} = (\partial_x^2 - m^2)\phi \,dt + \psi^*\beta\psi \,dt + \phi\mathfrak{K}_2 \,dW, \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

where $M_{\mathfrak{K}_1} = (1/2) \|\mathfrak{k}_1\|_{L^2}^2$. To see this, write (1.4) in the abstract form

$$dX = AXdt + \mathcal{N}(X)dt + \mathcal{M}(X) \circ dW,$$

where

$$X = \begin{pmatrix} \psi \\ \phi \\ \dot{\phi} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A = \begin{pmatrix} -\alpha \partial_x - iM\beta & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & \partial_x^2 - m^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{M}(X) = \begin{pmatrix} i\beta\psi\mathfrak{K}_1 \\ 0 \\ \phi\mathfrak{K}_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then, at least formally, the corresponding Itô form is (see e.g. [19])

$$dX = AXdt + \left(\mathcal{N}(X) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{k}\mathcal{M}_{k}\left(\mathcal{M}_{k}(X)\right)\right) dt + \mathcal{M}(X)dW,$$

where $\mathcal{M}_k(X) = \mathcal{M}(X)e_k$ and we calculate

$$\mathcal{M}_k\left(\mathcal{M}_k(X)\right) = \begin{pmatrix} (i\mathfrak{K}_1 e_k \beta)^2 \psi \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mathfrak{K}_1 e_k)^2 \psi \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and note that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\sum_{k} \left(\mathfrak{K}_{1} e_{k}(x) \right)^{2} = \sum_{k} \left\langle \mathfrak{k}_{1}(x - \cdot), e_{k} \right\rangle_{L^{2}}^{2} = \left\| \mathfrak{k}_{1} \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$$

by Parseval's identity. Formally, this verifies the conversion from (1.4) to (1.5).

Our aim is to prove existence and uniqueness for (1.5) with initial data $(\psi, \phi, \dot{\phi})(0) = (\psi_0, \phi_0, \phi_1)$ in the spaces

$$\psi_0 \in L^2\left(\Omega, H^s\left(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}^2\right)\right), \qquad \phi_0 \in L^2\left(\Omega, H^r(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})\right), \qquad \phi_1 \in L^2\left(\Omega, H^{r-1}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})\right),$$
(1.6)

for a certain range of Sobolev indices $s, r \in \mathbb{R}$. In particular, using the charge conservation we will prove global existence when s = 0 and 1/4 < r < 1/2, under the additional assumption that $\psi_0 \in L^p(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}))$ for a sufficiently large $p \ge 4$, depending on r.

Assuming for the moment that m > 0, then by a rescaling we may take m = 1. Applying the linear transformation $(\psi, \phi, \dot{\phi}) \mapsto (\psi_+, \psi_-, \phi_+, \phi_-)$ given by

$$\psi = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_+ \\ \psi_- \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \phi = \phi_+ + \phi_-, \qquad \phi_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\phi \pm \langle D_x \rangle^{-1} i \dot{\phi} \right)$$

where $D_x = -i\partial_x$ and $\langle \cdot \rangle = (1 + |\cdot|^2)^{1/2}$, the Cauchy problem (1.5), (1.6) then transforms to

$$\begin{cases}
-id\psi_{+} + D_{x}\psi_{+} dt = -M\psi_{-} dt + \phi\psi_{-} dt + \psi_{-}\mathfrak{K}_{1} dW + iM_{\mathfrak{K}_{1}}\psi_{+} dt, \\
-id\psi_{-} - D_{x}\psi_{-} dt = -M\psi_{+} dt + \phi\psi_{+} dt + \psi_{+}\mathfrak{K}_{1} dW + iM_{\mathfrak{K}_{1}}\psi_{-} dt, \\
-id\phi_{+} + \langle D_{x} \rangle \phi_{+} dt = + \langle D_{x} \rangle^{-1} \operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{\psi_{+}}\psi_{-}\right) dt + \frac{1}{2} \langle D_{x} \rangle^{-1} \phi\mathfrak{K}_{2} dW, \\
-id\phi_{-} - \langle D_{x} \rangle \phi_{-} dt = - \langle D_{x} \rangle^{-1} \operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{\psi_{+}}\psi_{-}\right) dt - \frac{1}{2} \langle D_{x} \rangle^{-1} \phi\mathfrak{K}_{2} dW,
\end{cases}$$
(1.7)

with

$$\psi_{\pm}(0) = f_{\pm} \in L^2\left(\Omega, H^s(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})\right), \qquad \phi_{\pm}(0) = g_{\pm} \in L^2\left(\Omega, H^r(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})\right), \qquad \overline{g_+} = g_-.$$
(1.8)

Here $\langle D_x \rangle^{-1} \phi \mathfrak{K}_2$ is understood as a composition of operators. We remark that $\overline{\phi_+} = \phi_-$. Thus $\phi = \phi_+ + \overline{\phi_+}$ and it suffices to solve for ψ_+ , ψ_- and ϕ_+ .

The deterministic Dirac-Klein-Gordon system has been extensively studied in space dimensions $d \leq 3$. For d = 1, the first global existence result was obtained in [9], for $\psi_0 \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$. This was improved to the charge class, that is, $\psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, in [6], by using space-time estimates of null form type. Both these results rely on the conservation of charge, of course. The complete null structure of the system, in dimensions $d \leq 3$, was determined in [11], and this opened the way for improvements in the low-regularity local well-posedness theory by using Bourgain's Fourier restriction norm spaces, see [11,29,30,25,26] and the references therein. Global existence in space dimension d = 2was proved in [20], and for d = 3 in [3,8] for small data. Global existence below the charge in space dimension d = 1 has been proved in [7].

The optimal low-regularity result for the deterministic case in space dimension d = 1was obtained in [26]; it states that the problem is locally well posed for s > -1/2 and $|s| \leq r \leq s+1$, and that this range is optimal since some form of ill-posedness holds outside it. In the present work we are primarily interested in getting a global result for s = 0 in the presence of noise, and not so much in reaching the lowest possible regularity. Therefore, we restrict attention to the range s > -1/4, which corresponds to the results in [30,25,29] for the deterministic case. In those papers, the local existence proof is based on contraction in Bourgain spaces $X^{s,b}$, and that is also the approach we follow. However, the presence of noise introduces some further technical issues that have to be dealt with, including the fact that one has to work with b < 1/2 (instead of b > 1/2 in the deterministic case), and that one has to introduce cutoffs to deal with the lack of uniform bounds with respect to the probabilistic variable ω . In order to deal with these issues and obtain local well-posedness of the stochastic extension (1.1), we adopt techniques developed in [15] and based on analysis in Bourgain spaces. To prove global existence we take advantage of the charge conservation, $\|\psi(t)\|_{L^2} = \text{const.}$, and that is why we need a Stratonovich noise, similar to one regarded in [14] with a nonlinear Schrödinger equation. We work in Bourgain spaces of low time regularity (b < 1/2) and so we need to extend product estimates proved in [29,30]. Once these have been obtained, the local existence and uniqueness for (1.7) follows from an abstract framework for wellposedness of nonlinear dispersive PDE systems with homogeneous multiplicative noise, presented in Section 6.

As mentioned, we are motivated by ideas that were introduced in [14] and [15] to analyse the nonlinear Schrödinger equation (NLS) and the Korteweg-de Vries equation with multiplicative noise. They employ the truncation argument, and so do we. Another approach worth mentioning is the rescaling method developed in [1,2] for stochastic NLS, which was also used in study of scattering [23]. With this approach, the stochastic NLS is transformed to an equation with random coefficients. This allows for pointwise estimations with respect to probability space, which in turn helps to avoid the use of cutoff estimates and provides a more general result on L^2 theory of stochastic NLS compared to [14]. This approach relies on a generalisation of Strichartz estimates for a perturbed Schrödinger operator [27].

In the classical field theory one can determine the equations of motion by the principle of least action. As we restrict ourselves to the one dimensional space, the action is an integral functional $S = \int \mathcal{L} dt dx$, where the Lagrangian density, depending on the field and time, is defined by the physical system under consideration. The deterministic analogue of Equations (1.1) is related to a particular choice of the density $\mathcal{L}(\psi, \phi, t)$, as explained in [5,32]. We recall very briefly the corresponding physical background and show how the noise can be naturally introduced here. In particle physics, the Yukawa interaction [32] explains how forces between nucleons are mediated by massive particles called mesons. Mathematically, this is described by the action integral $\mathcal{S}(\psi, \phi)$ defined by the Lagrangian density

$$\mathcal{L}(\psi, \phi) = \mathcal{L}_{\text{Dirac}}(\psi) + \mathcal{L}_{\text{meson}}(\phi) + \mathcal{L}_{\text{Yukawa}}(\psi, \phi).$$

Here ψ is a spinor field (the fermion field) and ϕ is a real scalar field (the meson field) whose free-field dynamics are determined by the Lagrangians

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{Dirac}}(\psi) = \psi^* \left(i\partial_t + i\alpha\partial_x - M\beta \right) \psi, \qquad \mathcal{L}_{\text{meson}}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_t \phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x \phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2}m^2\phi^2,$$

corresponding to the free Dirac and Klein-Gordon equations. Here $m, M \ge 0$ are masses and ψ^* denotes the complex conjugate transpose of ψ . The interaction is determined by the Yukawa coupling term

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{Yukawa}}(\psi, \phi) = \phi \psi^* \beta \psi.$$

The corresponding system of Euler-Lagrange equations is the deterministic Dirac-Klein-Gordon system. We introduce the noise by adding

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{noise}}(\psi,\phi,x,t) = \mathcal{L}_{\text{Dirac}}^{\text{noise}}(\psi,x,t) + \mathcal{L}_{\text{meson}}^{\text{noise}}(\phi,x,t) = \psi^* \beta \psi \xi_1 + \frac{1}{2} \phi^2 \xi_2.$$

One can think about $\mathcal{L}_{\text{Dirac}}^{\text{noise}}$ as stochastic fluctuations of the initial Dirac potential $M\psi^*\beta\psi$. Similarly, $\mathcal{L}_{\text{meson}}^{\text{noise}}$ represents a noisy extension of the potential $m^2\phi^2/2$ in the Klein-Gordon model. Thus using the new Lagrangian density

$$\mathcal{L}(\psi, \phi, x, t) = \mathcal{L}_{\text{Dirac}}(\psi) + \mathcal{L}_{\text{meson}}(\phi) + \mathcal{L}_{\text{Yukawa}}(\psi, \phi) + \mathcal{L}_{\text{noise}}(\psi, \phi, x, t)$$

one arrives at a stochastic variational principle leading to the system (1.1). Note that the Stratonovich calculus obeys normal differentiation rules, and so the derivation of the Euler-Lagrange equations works out as in the deterministic case.

The paper is devoted to an analysis of existence and uniqueness of a mild solution to the Cauchy problem for (1.7) complemented with the initial data (1.8). It is organised as follows. In the next section we introduce some preliminary notions that will be used throughout the paper. Section 3 provides the mild formulation of the Cauchy problem and the statement of the main existence theorems. Section 4 is devoted to an analysis of the stochastic integrals we are dealing with. Then in Section 5 we prove bilinear estimates necessary for treating nonlinear terms. In Section 6 we prove the local existence and uniqueness in an abstract setting. As a result we obtain a local mild solution to (1.7), (1.8). Section 7 is devoted to the proof of charge conservation. Finally, in Section 8 we prove existence of a global solution. Proofs of some very technical results are left for the last three sections, where we prove in general terms the so-called cutoff estimates. The idea of making use of a Slobodeckij norm for this comes from [15]. However, it turns out that the treatment should be more delicate than the argument given in [15].

2. Preliminaries

First, we fix some general notational conventions.

As usual, the symbol C will denote various positive constants, and its meaning can change from one instance to the next.

The characteristic function of a set E will be denoted $\mathbb{1}_E$. If E is determined by some property P, say $E = \{x \colon P(x)\}$, we will often use the convenient notation $\mathbb{1}_{P(x)}$ for $\mathbb{1}_E(x)$. If E is a subset of a set X, and f is a function defined on E, then by a slight abuse of notation we shall denote by $\mathbb{1}_E f$ the extension of f by zero outside E. We call this the *trivial extension* (of f).

We will adhere to the following convention regarding restrictions of σ -algebras. Suppose that \mathcal{M} is a σ -algebra and that $E \in \mathcal{M}$. Let $\mathcal{M}|_E$ be the σ -algebra on E consisting of all sets $A \cap E$, where $A \in \mathcal{M}$. Then if $f: E \to H$ is $\mathcal{M}|_E$ -measurable, we will simply say that it is \mathcal{M} -measurable. This is of course equivalent to saying that the trivial extension is \mathcal{M} -measurable.

We use the notation $a \wedge b = \min(a, b)$ for real numbers a and b.

2.1. Random variables

We fix a filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}, \mathbb{P})$ admitting an independent sequence $\{B_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ of one-dimensional Brownian motions. We write $\mathbb{E}(X) = \int_{\Omega} X(\omega) d\mathbb{P}(\omega)$ for $X \in L^1(\Omega)$.

A stochastic process X(t), defined on a time interval I = [S, T] or $I = [S, \infty)$, where $S \ge 0$, and taking values in a separable Hilbert space H, is said to be H-adapted (or just adapted if it is clear from the context which Hilbert space is meant) if X(t) is $(\mathcal{F}_t, \mathcal{B}_H)$ measurable for all $t \in I$. In other words, $\langle X(t), h \rangle_H$ is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable for all $h \in H$. Here \mathcal{B}_H denotes the Borel σ -algebra of H.

A process Y(t) is a modification of X(t) if for each $t \in I$ we have X(t) = Y(t) a.s. We assume that \mathcal{F}_0 contains all sets in \mathcal{F} with measure zero, so that any modification of an adapted process is itself adapted. Moreover, the filtration is supposed to be rightcontinuous, i.e. $\bigcap_{s>t} \mathcal{F}_s = \mathcal{F}_t$ for any $t \geq 0$.

The process X(t) is progressively measurable if for each $t \in I$ the map $(s, \omega) \mapsto X(s, \omega)$, from $[S, t] \times \Omega$ into H, is $(\mathcal{B}_{[S,t]} \otimes \mathcal{F}_t, \mathcal{B}_H)$ -measurable. Progressive measurability implies adaptedness (see [16, Proposition 2.34]), and the converse holds if the process has continuous paths (see [24, Proposition 1.13] or Lemma 2 below).

If Z is some Banach space of functions from [S,T] into H, we define

$$\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega, Z) = \left\{ u \in L^{2}(\Omega, Z) : u \text{ is progressively measurable} \right\}.$$
 (2.1)

2.2. Stopping times

A stopping time is a random variable $\tau: \Omega \to [0, \infty]$ such that for all $t \ge 0$, the set $\{\tau \le t\} = \{\omega \in \Omega: \tau(\omega) \le t\}$ is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable. Then also $\{\tau < t\}, \{\tau > t\}$ and $\{\tau \ge t\}$ have this property, of course. Note that any constant $\tau \ge 0$ is a stopping time.

In the next three lemmas we establish some facts about stopping times. We only consider strictly positive stopping times.

Lemma 1. Let $\tau: \Omega \to (0, \infty]$ be a stopping time. Then the set

$$E = \{ (s, \omega) \in [0, \infty) \times \Omega \colon 0 \le s < \tau(\omega) \}$$

belongs to the product σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}_{[0,\infty)} \otimes \mathcal{F}$. For any T > 0, the set

$$E_T = E \cap ([0,T] \times \Omega)$$

belongs to $\mathcal{B}_{[0,T]} \otimes \mathcal{F}_T$.

Proof. Let A_n be the set of numbers $iT/2^n$, $i = 0, ..., 2^n$. Then $E_T = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \bigcup_{t \in A_n} [0, t] \times \{t < \tau\}$, and of course $E = \bigcup_{N \in \mathbb{N}} E_N$. \Box

As a consequence of this lemma, if u is a random variable defined on E (so it is defined up to the time τ), then it makes sense to ask whether u is $\mathcal{B}_{[0,\infty)} \otimes \mathcal{F}$ -measurable. That is, whether the trivial extension of u has this property. Similarly, one can ask whether u restricted to E_t is $\mathcal{B}_{[0,t]} \otimes \mathcal{F}_t$ -measurable for all $t \geq 0$, which amounts to progressive measurability of the trivial extension. The next lemma gives sufficient conditions for this to hold.

Lemma 2. Let $\tau: \Omega \to (0, \infty]$ be a stopping time, and let E and E_t , for $t \ge 0$, be as in Lemma 1. Let $u: E \to H$, where H is a separable Hilbert space. Assume that u has continuous paths, in the sense that

$$t \mapsto u(t,\omega)$$
 is continuous on $[0,\tau(\omega))$, for each ω , (2.2)

and assume that u is adapted, in the sense that, for each $t \ge 0$ such that $\{t < \tau\}$ is non-empty, we have

$$\omega \mapsto u(t,\omega), \text{ defined for } \omega \in \{t < \tau\}, \text{ is } \mathcal{F}_t\text{-measurable.}$$
 (2.3)

Then $u|_{E_t}$ is $\mathcal{B}_{[0,t]} \otimes \mathcal{F}_t$ -measurable for all $t \ge 0$. In other words, the trivial extension of u is progressively measurable.

Proof. Let $U = \mathbb{1}_E u$ be the trivial extension of u to $[0, \infty) \times \Omega$. Then (2.3) says that U(t) is adapted for every $t \ge 0$. Now fix $t \ge 0$. For $n \in \mathbb{N}$ let $t_i = it/2^n$ for $i = 0, \ldots, 2^n$, and define

$$U_n(s,\omega) = U(0,\omega)\mathbb{1}_{\{0\}}(s) + \sum_{i=1}^{2^n} U(t_i,\omega)\mathbb{1}_{\{t_{i-1},t_i\}}(s) \qquad (0 \le s \le t, \omega \in \Omega).$$

Then U_n is $\mathcal{B}_{[0,t]} \otimes \mathcal{F}_t$ -measurable by the adaptedness of U, and (2.2) implies that U_n converges pointwise to U in E_t (and therefore in $[0,t] \times \Omega$). \Box

Lemma 3. Let $\tau: \Omega \to (0, \infty]$ be a stopping time. Suppose that $f(t, \omega) \ge 0$ is defined for $\omega \in \Omega$ and $0 \le t < \tau(\omega)$, and that for each ω ,

$$t \mapsto f(t,\omega)$$
 is continuous on $[0,\tau(\omega))$, and $f(0,\omega) = 0$, (2.4)

and moreover that, for each $t \ge 0$ such that $\{t < \tau\}$ is non-empty,

$$\omega \mapsto f(t,\omega), \text{ defined for } \omega \in \{t < \tau\}, \text{ is } \mathcal{F}_t\text{-measurable.}$$
 (2.5)

For R > 0 define $\tau_R \colon \Omega \to (0, \infty]$ by

$$\tau_R(\omega) = \sup \left\{ t \in [0, \tau(\omega)) \colon f(s, \omega) < R \text{ for } 0 \le s \le t \right\}.$$

Then τ_R is a stopping time. Moreover, for each ω ,

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \tau_R(\omega) = \tau(\omega), \tag{2.6}$$

$$0 \le t \le \tau_R(\omega) \text{ and } t < \tau(\omega) \implies f(t,\omega) \le R$$
 (2.7)

and

$$\tau_R(\omega) < \tau(\omega) \implies f(\tau_R(\omega), \omega) = R.$$
 (2.8)

Proof. Let $t \geq 0$. Note that, since $\tau_R \leq \tau$,

$$\{\tau_R > t\} = \{\tau_R > t\} \cap \{\tau > t\}.$$

Using (2.4), and the compactness of the interval [0, t], we write

$$\{\tau_R > t\} \cap \{\tau > t\} = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcap_{s \in \mathbb{Q} \cap [0,t)} \left(\left\{ f(s, \cdot) < R - \frac{1}{n} \right\} \cap \{\tau > t\} \right),$$

which is evidently \mathcal{F}_t -measurable. Indeed, for any ω belonging to the set on the right hand side there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for any $s \in \mathbb{Q} \cap [0, t)$ we have $f(s, \omega) < R - 1/n$. Since $t < \tau(\omega)$, the continuity now implies $f(s, \omega) \leq R - 1/n$ for any $s \in [0, t]$, hence $f(s, \omega) < R$ for s in some larger interval $[0, t + \delta]$. This implies $\tau_R(\omega) > t$ and ω belongs to the set on the left hand side. Conversely, if ω belongs to the set on the left hand side, then $f(s, \omega) < R$ for any $s \in [0, t]$. Hence there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $f(s, \omega) < R - 1/n$ for any $s \in [0, t]$, and in particular, for any $s \in \mathbb{Q} \cap [0, t)$. Therefore ω belongs to the set on the right hand side as well.

If $0 < a < \tau(\omega)$, then taking $R > \sup_{0 \le s \le a} f(s, \omega)$ gives $\tau_R(\omega) \ge a$, proving (2.6). Finally, the properties (2.7) and (2.8) are immediate from the definition of τ_R , and this concludes the proof of the lemma. \Box

2.3. Stochastic integrals

In this section, let K and H be separable Hilbert spaces, with orthonormal bases $\{e_k\}$ and $\{f_i\}$, respectively.

We denote by $\mathcal{L}(K, H)$ the space of bounded linear operators from K into H, with the operator norm, and by $\mathcal{L}_2(K, H)$ the class of Hilbert-Schmidt operators

$$\mathcal{L}_2(K,H) = \{T \in \mathcal{L}(K,H) \colon \operatorname{tr}(T^*T) < \infty\},\$$

which is a separable Hilbert space with the norm and inner product

$$||T||_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,H)} = \operatorname{tr}(T^{*}T)^{1/2} = \left(\sum_{k} ||Te_{k}||_{H}^{2}\right)^{1/2}, \qquad \langle S,T \rangle_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,H)} = \operatorname{tr}(T^{*}S).$$

One can think of Hilbert-Schmidt operators as infinite-dimensional matrices. Indeed, defining

$$T_{jk} = \langle Te_k, f_j \rangle_H$$

then $T \mapsto \{T_{jk}\}$ is an isometry from $\mathcal{L}_2(K, H)$ onto $l^2(\mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N})$.

For later use we note the fact that if $S \in \mathcal{L}(H, H')$, where H' is a Hilbert space, and $T \in \mathcal{L}_2(K, H)$ then the composition ST belongs to $\mathcal{L}_2(K, H')$ and

$$\|ST\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,H')} \leq \|S\|_{\mathcal{L}(H,H')} \|T\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,H)}.$$
(2.9)

Consider now the cylindrical Wiener process

$$W(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} B_k(t) e_k,$$

where the sum is formal. Given T > 0, the *H*-valued Itô integral of an adapted process

$$F \in L^2\left([0,T] \times \Omega, \mathcal{L}_2(K,H)\right)$$

is a natural generalisation of the n-dimensional Itô integral. It can be defined by

$$\int_{0}^{T} F(t) dW(t) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \left(\int_{0}^{T} F_{jk}(t) dB_k(t) \right) f_j,$$

where the integrals on the right hand side are ordinary Itô integrals and $F_{jk} = \langle Fe_k, f_j \rangle_H$ are the matrix entries of F. The sum converges in $L^2(\Omega; H)$ and the Itô isometry holds:

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\int_{0}^{T}F(t)\,dW(t)\right\|_{H}^{2}\right) = \mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{T}\|F(t)\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,H)}^{2}\,dt\right).$$
(2.10)

Moreover, the *H*-valued random variable $I(t, \omega) = \int_0^t F(s, \omega) dW(s, \omega)$ is adapted and we can assume that it has continuous paths, since it has a modification with this property. Further, *I* is a martingale, so by Doob's maximal inequality (see, e.g., [17]),

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\sup_{0\leq t\leq T}\left\|\int_{0}^{t}F(s)\,dW(s)\right\|_{H}^{2}\right)\leq 4\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\int_{0}^{T}F(s)\,dW(s)\right\|_{H}^{2}\right).$$
(2.11)

2.4. Function spaces

Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$. First, $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ denotes the usual Sobolev space with norm

$$\|f\|_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} \left| \widehat{f}(\xi) \right|^2 d\xi \right)^{1/2}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where $\left< \xi \right> = \left(1 + \left| \xi \right|^2 \right)^{1/2}$ and the Fourier transform is defined by

$$\widehat{f}(\xi) = \mathcal{F}f(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-ix\xi} f(x) \, dx \qquad \left(\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d\right).$$

Then the inverse transform is given by $\mathcal{F}^{-1}g(x) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{ix\xi} g(\xi) d\xi$, the Plancherel identity reads $\|\mathcal{F}f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} = (2\pi)^{d/2} \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$, and we have $\widehat{fg} = (2\pi)^{-d} \widehat{f} * \widehat{g}$ and $\widehat{f*g} = \widehat{fg}$ for $f, g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

We recall the Sobolev product law (see Theorem 2.2 in [13])

$$\|fg\|_{H^{-s_1}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \le C \,\|f\|_{H^{s_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \,\|g\|_{H^{s_3}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \,, \tag{2.13}$$

which holds for all Schwartz functions f and g on \mathbb{R}^d if and only if $s_1, s_2, s_3 \in \mathbb{R}$ satisfy

$$s_1 + s_2 + s_3 \ge \frac{d}{2}$$
 and $\min_{i \ne j} (s_i + s_j) \ge 0$, which are not both equalities. (2.14)

For d = 1 and 0 < b < 1 we will make use of the norm equivalence (see [28, Lemma 3.15])

$$\|f\|_{H^{b}(\mathbb{R})} \sim \left(\|f\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} + \|f\|_{S^{b}(\mathbb{R})}^{2}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(2.15)

Here $\|f\|_{S^b(\Omega)}$ denotes the Slobodeckij seminorm on an open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}$,

$$\|f\|_{S^{b}(\Omega)}^{2} = \int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|f(t) - f(r)|^{2}}{|t - r|^{1 + 2b}} dr dt.$$

On any finite time interval I = (S, T) there is a similar norm equivalence (see [21, Theorem 4.1])

$$\|f\|_{H^{b}(I)} \sim_{I} \left(\|f\|_{L^{2}(I)}^{2} + \|f\|_{S^{b}(I)}^{2} \right)^{1/2}, \qquad (2.16)$$

but with the caveat that the constants depend on the interval. The norm on the left hand side is the restriction norm, defined as the infimum of $||g||_{H^b(\mathbb{R})}$ taken over $g \in H^b(\mathbb{R})$ with g = f on I.

Second, given a function $h \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$, we denote by $X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ the Bourgain space with norm

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} \langle \tau + h(\xi) \rangle^{2b} \left| \widehat{u}(\tau,\xi) \right|^2 \, d\tau \, d\xi \right)^{1/2}, \tag{2.17}$$

where $\hat{u} = \mathcal{F}_{(t,x)}u$ is the space-time Fourier transform. The restriction to a time-slab $(S,T) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ is denoted $X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)$, and is equipped with the norm

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)} = \inf\left\{\|v\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}} : u(t) = v(t) \text{ for } t \in (S,T)\right\}.$$
(2.18)

The symbol $\tau + h(\xi)$ in (2.17) is associated to the linear PDE $-i\partial_t u + h(D_x)u = 0$ with the group

$$S_{h(\xi)}(t) = e^{-ith(D_x)},$$

whose action on f(x) is given by $\mathcal{F}_x\left\{S_{h(\xi)}(t)f\right\}(\xi) = e^{-ith(\xi)}\widehat{f}(\xi)$. Here we recall that $D_x = -i\partial_x$, so that $\widehat{D_x f}(\xi) = \xi \widehat{f}(\xi)$. Note that we can also write (2.17) as

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}}^{2} = \int \langle\xi\rangle^{2s} \left\| e^{ith(\xi)} \mathcal{F}_{x} u(t,\xi) \right\|_{H^{b}_{t}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} d\xi.$$
(2.19)

We now mention some well-known properties of Bourgain norms; we refer to [18] and [31] for more details. First, we note the obvious conjugation property

$$\|\overline{u}\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)} = \|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{-h(-\xi)}(S,T)}$$
(2.20)

valid also on the whole line \mathbb{R} , of course. By L^2 duality and Plancherel's theorem it is clear that

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}} = (2\pi)^{d+1} \sup_{\|v\|_{X^{-s,-b}_{h(\xi)}} = 1} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}} u(t,x) \overline{v(t,x)} \, dt \, dx \right|$$
(2.21)

and

$$(2\pi)^{d+1} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}} u(t,x) \overline{v(t,x)} \, dt \, dx \right| \le \|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}} \|v\|_{X^{-s,-b}_{h(\xi)}}.$$
 (2.22)

Now let $\theta(t)$ be any smooth, compactly supported function. From (2.19) it is clear that

$$\left\|\theta(t)S_{h(\xi)}(t)f\right\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}} = \left\|\theta\right\|_{H^b(\mathbb{R})} \left\|f\right\|_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)} \quad \text{for } b \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(2.23)

Moreover, for b > 1/2,

$$\left\| \theta(t) \int_{0}^{t} S_{h(\xi)}(t-t')F(t') dt' \right\|_{X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}} \leq C_{b} \left(\|\theta\|_{H^{b}(\mathbb{R})} + \|t\theta(t)\|_{H_{t}^{b}(\mathbb{R})} \right) \|F\|_{X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b-1}} \quad (2.24)$$

which by (2.19) reduces to the inequality

$$\left\| \theta(t) \int_{0}^{t} f(t') dt' \right\|_{H_{t}^{b}(\mathbb{R})} \leq C_{b} \left(\|\theta\|_{H^{b}(\mathbb{R})} + \|t\theta(t)\|_{H_{t}^{b}(\mathbb{R})} \right) \|f\|_{H^{b-1}(\mathbb{R})} \quad \text{for } b > \frac{1}{2}.$$
(2.25)

The latter can be proved by using Fourier inversion on f as follows, cf. [18]. Assuming $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})$ and using Plancherel's theorem we can rewrite the integral of f as

$$\int_{0}^{t} f(t') dt' = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \widehat{f}(\tau) \overline{\mathcal{F}\left(\mathbb{1}_{(0,t)}\right)(\tau)} d\tau = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \widehat{f}(\tau) \frac{1}{\tau} \left(e^{it\tau} - 1\right) d\tau$$

Note that the right hand side here is well defined for any $f \in H^{b-1}(\mathbb{R})$ with b > 1/2, as we shall see below. It serves as a definition for the left hand side. We need to calculate the L^2 -norm of

$$J(\lambda) = \langle \lambda \rangle^b \mathcal{F}_t \left(\theta(t) \int_0^t f(t') dt' \right) (\lambda) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \widehat{f}(\tau) \frac{\langle \lambda \rangle^b}{\tau} \left(\widehat{\theta}(\lambda - \tau) - \widehat{\theta}(\lambda) \right) d\tau.$$

At first we split this integral into integrals over $|\tau| < 1$ and $|\tau| \ge 1$. On the second domain we can just bound $|\tau| \ge \langle \tau \rangle/2$ and then return to the integration over the whole line \mathbb{R} . On the first domain we use the fundamental theorem of calculus for the difference in brackets

$$\frac{1}{\tau} \left(\widehat{\theta}(\lambda - \tau) - \widehat{\theta}(\lambda) \right) = i \int_{0}^{1} \mathcal{F}_{t}(t\theta(t))(\lambda - \mu\tau) \, d\mu.$$

Hence

$$\begin{aligned} |J(\lambda)| &\leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{-1}^{1} \left| \widehat{f}(\tau) \right| \langle \lambda \rangle^{b} \left| \mathcal{F}_{t}(t\theta(t))(\lambda - \mu\tau) \right| \, d\tau d\mu \\ &+ \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \widehat{f}(\tau) \right| \frac{\langle \lambda \rangle^{b}}{\langle \tau \rangle} \left(\left| \widehat{\theta}(\lambda - \tau) \right| + \left| \widehat{\theta}(\lambda) \right| \right) \, d\tau. \end{aligned}$$

In the first integral we can bound $\langle \lambda \rangle^b \lesssim \langle \lambda - \mu \tau \rangle^b + 1 \lesssim \langle \lambda - \mu \tau \rangle^b$, so up to a constant its L^2 -norm gives rise to the term

$$\|t\theta(t)\|_{H^b_t} \int_{-1}^1 \left|\widehat{f}(\tau)\right| \, d\tau \lesssim \|t\theta(t)\|_{H^b_t} \int_{-1}^1 \left|\widehat{f}(\tau)\right| \langle \tau \rangle^{b-1} \, d\tau \lesssim \|t\theta(t)\|_{H^b_t} \, \|f\|_{H^{b-1}}$$

by Minkowski's integral inequality. Now noticing $\langle \lambda \rangle^b \lesssim \langle \lambda - \tau \rangle^b + \langle \tau \rangle^b$ the second integral can be split, up to a constant, into the following three integrals

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \widehat{f}(\tau) \right| \frac{\langle \lambda \rangle^{b}}{\langle \tau \rangle} \left| \widehat{\theta}(\lambda) \right| d\tau + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \widehat{f}(\tau) \right| \frac{\langle \lambda - \tau \rangle^{b}}{\langle \tau \rangle} \left| \widehat{\theta}(\lambda - \tau) \right| d\tau + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \widehat{f}(\tau) \right| \langle \tau \rangle^{b-1} \left| \widehat{\theta}(\lambda - \tau) \right| d\tau = J_{1} + J_{2} + J_{3}.$$

Here J_3 is a convolution, hence

$$\left\|J_{3}\right\|_{L^{2}} \leqslant \left\|\widehat{\theta}\right\|_{L^{1}} \left\|\widehat{f}(\tau)\langle\tau\rangle^{b-1}\right\|_{L^{2}} \leqslant \left\|\langle\tau\rangle^{-b}\right\|_{L^{2}_{\tau}} \left\|\theta\right\|_{H^{b}} \left\|f\right\|_{H^{b-1}},$$

where the L^1 -norm was estimated by Hölder. Similarly,

$$\|J_1\|_{L^2} + \|J_2\|_{L^2} \leq 2 \left\|\widehat{\theta}(\lambda) \langle \lambda \rangle^b \right\|_{L^2} \left\|\widehat{f}(\tau) \langle \tau \rangle^{-1} \right\|_{L^1} \leq 2 \left\| \langle \tau \rangle^{-b} \right\|_{L^2_{\tau}} \|\theta\|_{H^b} \|f\|_{H^{b-1}}$$

that finishes the proof of (2.25).

From (2.23) and (2.24), one immediately obtains the corresponding restriction norm inequalities on any time interval (0, T), by choosing a bump function θ such that $\theta(t) = 1$ for $|t| \leq 1$. If $T \in (0, 1]$, we apply (2.23) and (2.24) with $\theta(t)$, while if T > 1 we apply them with $\theta(t/T)$ instead of $\theta(t)$, and use the fact that $\|\theta(t/T)\|_{H_t^b} \leq \sqrt{T} \|\theta\|_{H^{\max(b,0)}}$ and $\|t\theta(t/T)\|_{H_t^b} \leq T^{3/2} \|t\theta(t)\|_{H_t^{\max(b,0)}}$ for T > 1. This gives

$$\|S_{h(\xi)}(t)f\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(0,T)} \le C_b \left(1 + \sqrt{T}\right) \|f\|_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)} \quad \text{for } b \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } T > 0$$
(2.26)

and

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} S_{h(\xi)}(t-t')F(t') dt' \right\|_{X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}(0,T)} \le C_{b} \left(1+T^{3/2} \right) \|F\|_{X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b-1}(0,T)}$$
for $b > \frac{1}{2}$ and $T > 0$,
$$(2.27)$$

where C_b depends on b but not on T.

Further, one has (see Lemma 2.11 in [31])

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(0,T)} \le C_{b,b'}T^{b'-b} \|u\|_{X^{s,b'}_{h(\xi)}(0,T)} \quad \text{for } -\frac{1}{2} < b < b' < \frac{1}{2} \text{ and } 0 < T \le 1 \quad (2.28)$$

and

$$b > \frac{1}{2} \implies X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}(0,T) \hookrightarrow C\left([0,T], H^s\right) \quad \text{with}$$

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|u(t)\|_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)} \le C_b \|u\|_{X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}(0,T)},$$

$$(2.29)$$

where the last inequality follows by applying the Sobolev embedding $H^b(\mathbb{R}) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, for b > 1/2, to the function $t \mapsto e^{ith(\xi)}\widehat{u}(t,\xi)$ staying in $||u(t)||^2_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)} = \int \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} |e^{ith(\xi)}\widehat{u}(t,\xi)|^2 d\xi$, and recalling first (2.19), then (2.18).

We will also need the trivial fact that

$$b \ge 0 \implies X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}(0,T) \hookrightarrow L^2([0,T], H^s) \quad \text{with} \quad \|u\|_{L^2([0,T], H^s)} \le \|u\|_{X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}(0,T)}.$$
(2.30)

In particular, this implies that the space $\mathbb{L}^2\left(\Omega, X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}\right)$ is well-defined when $b \ge 0$, as in (2.1).

Finally, we recall that for -1/2 < b < 1/2 the restriction norm on $H^b(S,T)$ is equivalent to the $H^b(\mathbb{R})$ -norm of the trivial extension. More precisely, for all $\phi \in H^b(\mathbb{R})$ we have

$$\|\phi\|_{H^{b}(S,T)} \leq \|\mathbb{1}_{(S,T)}\phi\|_{H^{b}(\mathbb{R})} \leq C_{b} \|\phi\|_{H^{b}(S,T)} \quad \text{for } -\frac{1}{2} < b < \frac{1}{2},$$
(2.31)

where we emphasise that C_b is independent of (S, T). Similarly, for all $u \in X^{s,b}_{h(\mathcal{E})}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$,

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)} \leqslant \|\mathbb{1}_{(S,T)}u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}} \leqslant C_b \|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)} \quad \text{for } -\frac{1}{2} < b < \frac{1}{2}.$$
(2.32)

Here $\mathbb{1}_{(S,T)}(t)$ is the characteristic function of the interval (S,T). Note that the left inequalities in (2.31) and (2.32) hold trivially by the definition the restriction norm; for a proof of the right inequalities, by an argument relying on the Slobodeckij seminorm, see Lemma 4 in [7] (alternatively one can use the Fourier transform, applying the ideas used to prove Lemma 3.2 in [10]).

Combining (2.31) and (2.32) with (2.19), we get the restriction norm equivalence

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)} \sim \left(\int \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} \left\| e^{ith(\xi)} \mathcal{F}_x u(t,\xi) \right\|_{H^b_t(S,T)}^2 d\xi \right)^{1/2} \quad \text{for } -\frac{1}{2} < b < \frac{1}{2}, \quad (2.33)$$

with constants depending on b but not on (S, T). With an additional effort one can get a stronger result.

16

Lemma 4 (Bourgain isometry). For any $s, b \in \mathbb{R}$, interval (S,T) and $h \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ we have the following

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)} = \left(\int \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} \left\| e^{ith(\xi)} \mathcal{F}_x u(t,\xi) \right\|_{H^b_t(S,T)}^2 d\xi \right)^{1/2}.$$
 (2.34)

We find the proof of this lemma instructive and not completely straightforward, so we put it in a separate section 9. Moreover, we could not find it presented anywhere else. As a matter of fact, even the weaker result (2.33) would serve all our needs below. So Lemma 4 together with its proof given in Section 9 can be regarded as a complementary material.

Another immediate consequence of (2.32) is that functions on adjacent time intervals can be glued together.

Lemma 5. Let -1/2 < b < 1/2. Then there exists a constant C_b such that if $u \in X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(t_0,t_1)$ and $v \in X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(t_1,t_2)$, where $t_0 < t_1 < t_2$, then the glued function

$$[u, v](t) = \begin{cases} u(t) & t_0 < t < t_1 \\ v(t) & t_1 < t < t_2 \end{cases}$$

belongs to $X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}(t_0,t_2)$ and

$$\|[u,v]\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(t_0,t_2)} \le C_b \left(\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(t_0,t_1)} + \|v\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(t_1,t_2)} \right).$$

Proof. This follows from (2.32) and the triangle inequality since $\mathbb{1}_{(t_0,t_2)} = \mathbb{1}_{(t_0,t_1)} + \mathbb{1}_{(t_1,t_2)}$ a.e. \Box

2.5. Cutoffs and a modified Bourgain norm

As usual with a multiplicative noise, we have to truncate the nonlinearity in order to prove existence by iteration. In the corresponding cutoffs we will use, for technical reasons, not the restriction norm (2.18) but an equivalent norm, defined by

$$\|u\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)}^{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\frac{1}{(T-S)^{2b}} \int_{S}^{T} |U(t,\xi)|^{2} dt + \int_{S}^{T} \int_{S}^{T} \frac{|U(t,\xi) - U(r,\xi)|^{2}}{|t-r|^{1+2b}} dr dt \right) d\xi,$$
(2.35)

where $U(t,\xi) = \langle \xi \rangle^s e^{ith(\xi)} \mathcal{F}_x u(t,\xi)$. It is thoroughly studied below in Sections 10 and 11. Here it is crucial that the norm equivalence is uniform with respect to the time interval to which we restrict. To be precise, for any $T_0 > 0$ and $b \in (0, 1/2)$ there exists a constant $C_{T_0,b}$ such that (see Lemma 21)

$$C_{T_0,b}^{-1} \|u\|_{X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}(S,T)} \le \|u\|_{\widetilde{X}_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}(S,T)} \le C_{T_0,b} \|u\|_{X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}(S,T)}$$
(2.36)

for all $u \in X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)$ with $0 < S < T \le T_0$.

The idea of exploiting the Slobodeckij seminorm, the double integral over (S,T) in (2.35), comes from [15]. However, we point out that the factor $1/(T-S)^{2b}$ in front of the L^2 -norm turns out to be important to claim the uniform equivalence (2.36); see Remark 6 in Section 11 for a further discussion of this. Moreover, the necessity of this factor becomes clear when one calculates these norms on a concrete element, say $u(t) = S_{h(\xi)}(t)f$, where $f \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$. In fact, by (2.34) it follows immediately that

$$\left\|S_{h(\xi)}(t)f\right\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(0,T)} = \left\|1\right\|_{H^{b}(0,T)} \left\|f\right\|_{H^{s}}$$

for all T > 0 and $b \in \mathbb{R}$, and it is easy to see that

$$\|1\|_{H^b(0,T)} \sim T^{1/2-b} \quad \text{for } 0 \le b < \frac{1}{2} \text{ and } 0 < T \le 1.$$
 (2.37)

Indeed, recalling (2.31), we can calculate the equivalent norm

$$\left\|\mathbb{1}_{(0,T)}\right\|_{H^b}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left|\int_0^T e^{-it\tau} dt\right|^2 \langle \tau \rangle^{2b} d\tau = T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left|\frac{2}{\tau} \sin\frac{\tau}{2}\right|^2 \left\langle \frac{\tau}{T} \right\rangle^{2b} d\tau,$$

which is comparable to $T^2 + T^{1-2b} \sim T^{1-2b}$ (for $0 < T \le 1$ and $0 \le b < 1/2$) as one can see by splitting the last integration into $|\tau| \le T$ and $|\tau| > T$. On the other hand, it is easily seen from (2.35), with $U(t,\xi) = \langle \xi \rangle^s \hat{f}(\xi)$, that

$$\left\|S_{h(\xi)}(t)f\right\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(0,T)} = T^{1/2-b} \left\|f\right\|_{H^s}.$$

For the modified restriction norm (2.35) we have the following key estimates, proved in Section 11.

Proposition 1. Let $T_0 > 0$ and $b \in (0, 1/2)$. Let $\theta \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a smooth, compactly supported function and set $\theta_R(x) = \theta(x/R)$ for R > 0. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and for $1 \le i \le n$ let $s_i \in \mathbb{R}$, $h_i \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ and $u_i, v_i \in X^{s_i, b}_{h_i(\xi)}(0, T_0)$. Then for $T \in (0, T_0]$, R > 0 and $1 \le j \le n$ we have the estimates

$$\begin{split} \left\| \theta_R \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \|u_i\|_{\widetilde{X}_{h_i(\xi)}^{s_i,b}(0,t)}^2 \right) u_j(t) \right\|_{X_{h_j(\xi)}^{s_j,b}(0,T)} \leqslant C\sqrt{R}, \\ \left\| \theta_R \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \|u_i\|_{\widetilde{X}_{h_i(\xi)}^{s_i,b}(0,t)}^2 \right) u_j(t) - \theta_R \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \|v_i\|_{\widetilde{X}_{h_i(\xi)}^{s_i,b}(0,t)}^2 \right) v_j(t) \right\|_{X_{h_j(\xi)}^{s_j,b}(0,T)} \\ \leqslant C \sum_{i=1}^n \|u_i - v_i\|_{X_{h_i(\xi)}^{s_i,b}(0,T)}, \end{split}$$

where C depends only on b, T_0 and θ .

The modified norm (2.35) can be formulated also for functions $\phi(t)$ depending only on the time variable t, and this gives cutoff estimates for functions in $H^b(0,T)$, 0 < b < 1/2. See Section 11.6.

3. Main results

We consider the mild form of (1.7), which reads

$$\psi_{\pm}(t) = S_{\pm\xi}(t)f_{\pm} - iM \int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-\sigma)\psi_{\mp}(\sigma)\,d\sigma + i\int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-\sigma)(\phi\psi_{\mp})(\sigma)\,d\sigma + i\int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-\sigma)\psi_{\mp}(\sigma)\mathfrak{K}_{1}\,dW(\sigma) - M_{\mathfrak{K}_{1}}\int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-\sigma)\psi_{\pm}(\sigma)\,d\sigma$$
(3.1)

and

$$\phi_{+}(t) = S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t)g_{+} + i\int_{0}^{t} S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t-\sigma) \langle D_{x} \rangle^{-1} \operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{\psi_{+}}\psi_{-}\right)(\sigma) d\sigma + \frac{i}{2}\int_{0}^{t} S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t-\sigma) \langle D_{x} \rangle^{-1} \phi(\sigma)\mathfrak{K}_{2} dW(\sigma), \quad (3.2)$$

where $\phi = \phi_+ + \overline{\phi_+} = 2 \operatorname{Re} \phi_+$. We will look for solutions

$$\psi_{\pm} \in X^{s,b}_{\pm\xi}(0,T), \qquad \phi_{\pm} \in X^{r,b}_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(0,T),$$
(3.3)

where b < 1/2 is taken sufficiently close to 1/2, depending on s and r. Note that by the conjugation property (2.20) we have

$$\overline{\phi_+} \in X^{r,b}_{-\langle \xi \rangle}(0,T). \tag{3.4}$$

It will be convenient to define

$$\mathbf{H}^{(s,s,r)} = H^s(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{C}) \times H^s(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{C}) \times H^r(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{C})$$
(3.5)

and

$$\mathbf{X}^{(s,s,r),b}(0,T) = X^{s,b}_{+\xi}(0,T) \times X^{s,b}_{-\xi}(0,T) \times X^{r,b}_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(0,T),$$
(3.6)

with the product norms.

We now state our main results.

Theorem 1 (Local existence). Assume that $s, r \in \mathbb{R}$ satisfy

$$s > -\frac{1}{4}, \qquad |s| \le r \le s+1, \qquad 0 < r < 1+2s.$$

Assume further that the kernels \mathfrak{k}_j , defining the convolution operators \mathfrak{K}_j , have the regularity

$$\mathfrak{k}_1 \in H^{|s|}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R}), \qquad \mathfrak{k}_2 \in H^{\max(0,r-1)}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R}).$$

Then for any b < 1/2 sufficiently close to 1/2, the following holds. Assume that

$$(f_+, f_-, g_+) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^{(s,s,r)})$$
 is \mathcal{F}_0 -measurable.

Then there exists a stopping time $\tau: \Omega \to (0, \infty]$ and a random process

$$(\psi_+, \psi_-, \phi_+)(t) \in \mathbf{H}^{(s,s,r)} \text{ for } 0 \le t < \tau$$

such that for $0 < t < \tau$, (3.1) and (3.2) hold,

$$(\psi_+,\psi_-,\phi_+)(t)\colon \{t<\tau\}\to \mathbf{H}^{(s,s,r)}$$
 is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable

and

$$(\psi_+,\psi_-,\phi_+) \in C\left([0,t],\mathbf{H}^{(s,s,r)}\right) \cap \mathbf{X}^{(s,s,r),b}(0,t).$$

Moreover, the solution is maximal in the sense that

$$\tau < \infty \implies \limsup_{t \nearrow \tau} \|(\psi_+, \psi_-, \phi_+)\|_{\mathbf{X}^{(s,s,r),b}(0,t)} = \infty,$$

and it is unique in the sense that if (Ψ_+, Ψ_-, Φ_+) is a solution with the same initial data, and satisfying the same assumptions but with a stopping time τ' , then almost surely

$$(\psi_+, \psi_-, \phi_+)(t) = (\Psi_+, \Psi_-, \Phi_+)(t) \text{ for } 0 \le t < \min(\tau, \tau').$$

Further, if $s \ge 0$, then the charge is almost surely conserved:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(|\psi_{+}(t,x)|^{2} + |\psi_{-}(t,x)|^{2} \right) \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\psi_{0}(x)|^{2} \, dx \quad \text{for } 0 \le t < \tau,$$

where $\psi_0 = (f_+, f_-)$.

This theorem is a consequence of the abstract well-posedness theory presented in Section 6. The existence follows from Theorem 3 and the uniqueness from Theorem 4. The necessary assumptions stated in Section 6 are verified here on account of the bounds stated in Lemmas 6, 7, 8 and 9 below; see Section 6.10 for the details. The charge conservation is proved in Section 7.

Using the charge conservation, we will then deduce the following global result.

Theorem 2 (Global existence). Let s = 0 and 1/4 < r < 1/2. Let $\max(r, 1 - 2r) < b < 1/2$. Given initial data as in Theorem 1, we impose the additional condition $f_+, f_- \in L^p(\Omega, L^2)$, where

$$p \ge \max\left(4, \frac{2b+2r-1}{b+2r-1}\right)$$

Then the solution in Theorem 1 extends globally in time. That is, $\tau = \infty$.

The proof is given in Section 8.

Although the local result will, as mentioned, be deduced from the abstract framework expounded in some detail in Section 6, we find it worthwhile to present here a broad outline of the key ideas behind the proof.

Existence for a short time interval (0,T) will be proved by iteration in

$$\mathbb{L}^{2}\left(\Omega, \mathbf{X}^{(s,s,r),b}(0,T)\right) \cap \mathbb{L}^{2}\left(\Omega, C([0,T], \mathbf{H}^{(s,s,r)})\right),$$
(3.7)

and the first thing to notice is that we cannot expect the stochastic integrals to be in this space unless b is strictly less than 1/2, the reason being that the paths of any onedimensional Brownian motion belong to $H^b(0,T)$ if and only if b < 1/2, as shown in [4].

For b < 1/2 the stochastic integrals can indeed be controlled in (3.7), provided that we know that the linear operators

$$f \mapsto M_1(f) = f\mathfrak{K}_1 \quad \text{and} \quad g \mapsto M_2(g) = \langle D_x \rangle^{-1} g\mathfrak{K}_2$$

$$(3.8)$$

map $H^{s}(\mathbb{R})$ and $H^{r}(\mathbb{R})$, respectively, into Hilbert-Schmidt operators from $L^{2}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$ into $H^{s}(\mathbb{R})$ and $H^{r}(\mathbb{R})$, respectively. Thus, we need the following.

Lemma 6. Let s, r be as in Theorem 1. Assume that $\mathfrak{k}_1 \in H^{|s|}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ and $\mathfrak{k}_2 \in H^{\max(0,r-1)}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$. Then there exists a constant C such that the linear operators M_1 and M_2 defined by (3.8) satisfy

$$||M_1(f)||_{\mathcal{L}_2(L^2, H^s)} \le C ||f||_{H^s}$$
 and $||M_2(g)||_{\mathcal{L}_2(L^2, H^r)} \le C ||g||_{H^r}$

for all $f \in H^s(\mathbb{R})$ and $g \in H^r(\mathbb{R})$.

The proof of this lemma is given in Section 4, and in Section 6 we show how it is applied to control the stochastic integrals.

Now let us turn our attention to the deterministic terms in (3.1) and (3.2). Here there is a difference from the purely deterministic case, where one works with b > 1/2, see e.g. [29]. Since now we are forced to take b < 1/2, the required bilinear estimates are a bit tighter. We will prove the following bilinear bounds, extending those obtained in [29,30] to the case where b is less than, but close to, 1/2.

Lemma 7. Assume that $s, r \in \mathbb{R}$ satisfy

$$s > -\frac{1}{4}$$
, $|s| \le r \le s+1$, $0 < r < 1+2s$.

Then for any b < 1/2 sufficiently close to 1/2, there exists a constant C such that

$$\|\phi\psi\|_{X^{s,-b}_{\pm\xi}} \le C \,\|\phi\|_{X^{r,b}_{\pm\xi\xi}} \,\|\psi\|_{X^{s,b}_{-\xi}}, \tag{3.9}$$

$$\|\phi\psi\|_{X^{s,-b}_{-\xi}} \le C \,\|\phi\|_{X^{r,b}_{\pm\langle\xi\rangle}} \,\|\psi\|_{X^{s,b}_{+\xi}}\,,\tag{3.10}$$

$$\left\|\overline{\psi}\psi'\right\|_{X^{r-1,-b}_{\pm\langle\xi\rangle}} \le C \left\|\psi\right\|_{X^{s,b}_{+\xi}} \left\|\psi'\right\|_{X^{s,b}_{-\xi}},\tag{3.11}$$

for all Schwartz functions ψ , ψ' and ϕ on $\mathbb{R}_t \times \mathbb{R}_x$. In particular, in the case s = 0 and 1/4 < r < 1/2, relevant for Theorem 2, the above estimates hold for all b > 1/4.

This lemma is proved in Section 5. The method of proof does not differ significantly from that used in [29,30] for the case b > 1/2. Also, we remark that studying bilinear space-time estimates in Bourgain norms with b < 1/2 is nothing new. For example, general product estimates for wave-type spaces were studied in [12,13].

With b as in the last lemma, and choosing $0 < \varepsilon < 1/2 - b$, set

$$B = -b + 1 - \varepsilon.$$

Then B > 1/2, so we can apply (2.27) and (2.28) to control the deterministic integrals in $\mathbf{X}^{(s,s,r),B}(0,T)$. And then, crucially, by (2.29) they are also controlled in $C([0,T]; \mathbf{H}^{(s,s,r)})$ (and of course also in $\mathbf{X}^{(s,s,r),b}(0,T)$, since b < B). For example,

 $\leq CT^{\varepsilon} \|\phi_{+}\psi_{-}\|_{X^{s,-b}_{+\varepsilon}(0,T)} \qquad \qquad \text{by (2.28)}$

$$\leq CT^{\varepsilon} \left\| \phi_{+} \right\|_{X^{r,b}_{+\langle \xi \rangle}(0,T)} \left\| \psi_{-} \right\|_{X^{s,b}_{-\xi}(0,T)} \quad \text{by Lemma 7},$$

and similarly for the other bilinear terms, and also for the linear ones, for which we use the following. **Lemma 8.** Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $b \geq 0$. Then

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,-b}_{h(\xi)}} \le \sqrt{2\pi} \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_t,H^s)} \le \|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{g(\xi)}}$$

for all Schwartz functions u on $\mathbb{R}_t \times \mathbb{R}_x$ and any choice of $g, h \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$.

Proof. This is obvious from the definitions (2.17) and (2.12), and Plancherel's theorem. \Box

The bounds are pointwise in ω , and for the iteration in the space (3.7) one must now take the $L^2(\Omega)$ norm of them. So for example, one needs to control

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\phi_{+}\right\|_{X^{r,b}_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(0,T)}^{2}\left\|\psi_{-}-\Psi_{-}\right\|_{X^{s,b}_{-\xi}(0,T)}^{2}\right),$$

where ψ_{-} and Ψ_{-} represent different iterates. The only reasonable way to estimate this, seems to be

$$\left(\sup_{\omega} \|\phi_{+}\|^{2}_{X^{r,b}_{+(\xi)}(0,T)}\right) \mathbb{E}\left(\|\psi_{-}-\Psi_{-}\|^{2}_{X^{s,b}_{-\xi}(0,T)}\right),$$

so one needs to control the norms of the iterates uniformly in ω . Here, a further difference from the deterministic case becomes apparent, since there one usually chooses R > 0 and considers initial data whose norm is at most R. Then for T > 0 small enough depending on R, the Bourgain norms in the iteration are all bounded by R times some constant. This will not work in the stochastic case, since a bound in the space (3.7) does not imply a pointwise bound in ω . Instead, as is usual in stochastic problems with multiplicative noise, one must truncate the equations. Following the approach in [15], for a given R > 0we consider a truncated version of (3.1), (3.2) where in the deterministic integrals, each unknown is multiplied by the cutoff

$$\Theta(t) = \theta_R \left(\|\psi_+\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}_{+\xi}(0,t)}^2 + \|\psi_-\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}_{-\xi}(0,t)}^2 + \|\phi_+\|_{\widetilde{X}^{r,b}_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(0,t)}^2 \right),$$
(3.12)

where $\theta \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is any smooth, compactly supported cutoff function with $\theta(t) = 1$ for $t \in [0, 1]$, and we define $\theta_R(x) = \theta(x/R)$. So for example, the integral term

$$\int_{0}^{t} S_{+\xi}(t-\sigma)(\phi_{+}\psi_{-})(\sigma) \, d\sigma$$

considered above, is replaced by

$$\int_{0}^{t} S_{+\xi}(t-\sigma) \left(\Theta\phi_{+}\Theta\psi_{-}\right)(\sigma) \, d\sigma$$

and similarly for the other bilinear terms. For technical reasons, inside the cutoffs we do not use the Bourgain restriction norm as defined in (2.17), (2.18), but rather the equivalent norm (2.36), discussed in detail in Section 10.

With the truncation, and making use of Proposition 1, the bilinear terms can be controlled in the space (3.7), and by iteration one can prove existence up to a small time T > 0 depending only on R. Repeating this argument one obtains existence on a time interval of any size. Letting R tend to ∞ , this implies the existence of a maximal solution of the original, non-truncated problem. The uniqueness requires a separate argument. The details are shown in Section 6 in an abstract framework. As mentioned, the necessary assumptions in Section 6 are verified on account of the bounds in Lemmas 6, 7 and 8, as well as Lemma 9 below. The details are discussed in Section 6.10.

The following estimates show that the deterministic integrals make sense as Bochner integrals if the regularity is sufficiently high, and that this fails if $s \leq 0$.

Lemma 9. Assume that

$$s > 0,$$
 $s \le r \le s + 1,$ $\frac{1}{2} < r < \frac{1}{2} + 2s$

Then there exists a constant C such that

$$\|fg\|_{H^s} \le C \, \|f\|_{H^r} \, \|g\|_{H^s} \quad and \quad \|fg\|_{H^{r-1}} \le C \, \|f\|_{H^s} \, \|g\|_{H^s}$$

for all Schwartz functions f and g on \mathbb{R} . Moreover, if $s \leq 0$, the above estimates cannot both hold, for any $r \in \mathbb{R}$ and C > 0.

Proof. This follows from the Sobolev product law (2.13), (2.14).

Remark 1. The case m = 0 in (1.1) does not bring anything new to our analysis. Indeed, if m = 0 then we can add ϕ to both sides of the second line in (1.1), which gives rise to Equation (3.2) with an additional linear term

$$\frac{i}{2}\int_{0}^{t} S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t-s) \langle D_x \rangle^{-1} \phi(s) ds$$

on the right hand side. It can be treated by Lemma 8 and (2.24)–(2.29).

4. Bounds for Hilbert-Schmidt operators

Our main aim in this section is to prove Lemma 6.

To this end, we require the following lemma. It corresponds to Lemma 2.6 in [15], but we remove an additional assumption made there, namely that the convolution kernel \mathfrak{k} is in $L^1 \cap L^2$. **Lemma 10.** Let $\mathfrak{k} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$, $v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C})$ and let \mathfrak{K} be the convolution operator defined by

$$\Re f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{k}(x-y) f(y) dy.$$
(4.1)

Then for any orthonormal basis $\{e_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$ we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left| \mathcal{F}\left(v \mathfrak{K} e_{j} \right)(\xi) \right|^{2} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| \widehat{v}(\xi - \eta) \widehat{\mathfrak{t}}(\eta) \right|^{2} d\eta < \infty$$

for a.e. $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proof. Set $f_j(x) = e_j(-x)$. Then $\{f_j\}$ is also an orthonormal basis of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, and $\overline{\widehat{f_j}(\xi)} = \widehat{e_j}(\xi)$, by the assumption that e_j is real valued. Since

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \widehat{v}(\xi - \eta) \widehat{\mathfrak{t}}(\eta) \right|^2 d\xi \, d\eta = \| \widehat{v} \, \|_{L^2}^2 \, \| \widehat{\mathfrak{t}} \|_{L^2}^2 = (2\pi)^{2d} \, \| v \|_{L^2}^2 \, \| \mathfrak{t} \|_{L^2}^2$$

it follows that

$$\left\|F_{\xi}\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left|\widehat{v}(\xi - \eta)\widehat{\mathfrak{t}}(\eta)\right|^{2} d\eta < \infty \quad \text{for a.e. } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$

where $F_{\xi}(x) = \mathcal{F}^{-1}\left\{\eta \mapsto \widehat{v}(\xi - \eta)\widehat{\mathfrak{t}}(\eta)\right\}$. Applying Parseval's identity we have, for a.e. ξ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|F_{\xi}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} &= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left|\langle F_{\xi}, f_{j} \rangle_{L^{2}}\right|^{2} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left|\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \left\langle \widehat{F_{\xi}}, \widehat{f_{j}} \right\rangle_{L^{2}}\right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left|\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \widehat{v}(\xi - \eta)\widehat{\mathfrak{t}}(\eta)\widehat{e_{j}}(\eta) \, d\eta\right|^{2} < \infty. \end{aligned}$$

To finish the proof we only have to notice that $v \Re e_i$ belongs to L^2 (the operator \Re maps L^2 into L^{∞} , by Hölder's inequality) and has Fourier transform

$$\mathcal{F}(v\mathfrak{K}e_j)(\xi) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int \widehat{v}(\xi - \eta)\widehat{\mathfrak{k}} * \widehat{e_j}(\eta) \, d\eta = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int \widehat{v}(\xi - \eta)\widehat{\mathfrak{k}}(\eta) \widehat{e_j}(\eta) \, d\eta$$

We claim that this equality holds in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, hence for a.e. ξ . To prove the claim, approximate the L^2 functions v, \mathfrak{k} and e_i by Schwartz functions, for which the equality clearly holds, and then pass to the limit using the fact that $(2\pi)^{-d/2}\mathcal{F}$ is an isometry on L^2 , and the bound

E. Dinvay, S. Selberg / Journal of Functional Analysis 287 (2024) 110565

$$\left\|\int \widehat{v}(\xi-\eta)\widehat{\mathfrak{k}}(\eta)\widehat{e_j}(\eta)\,d\eta\right\|_{L^2_{\xi}} \leq \|\widehat{v}\|_{L^2}\int \left|\widehat{\mathfrak{k}}(\eta)\widehat{e_j}(\eta)\right|\,d\eta \leq \|\widehat{v}\|_{L^2}\,\|\widehat{\mathfrak{k}}\|_{L^2}\,\|\widehat{e_j}\|_{L^2}\,,$$

where we applied Minkowski's integral inequality and Hölder's inequality.

Remark 2. Integrating both sides of the equality in Lemma 10, one recovers the wellknown fact that $v\mathfrak{K}$ is a Hilbert-Schmidt operator on $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, and $\|v\mathfrak{K}\|_{\mathcal{L}_2(L^2,L^2)} = \|v\|_{L^2} \|\mathfrak{k}\|_{L^2}$.

Corollary 1. Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Assume that $\mathfrak{k} \in H^{|s|}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$. Then the convolution operator \mathfrak{K} defined by (4.1) satisfies

$$\|v\mathfrak{K}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(L^{2},H^{s})} \leq C \|v\|_{H^{s}} \|\mathfrak{k}\|_{H^{|s|}} \quad for \ all \ v \in \mathcal{S}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right),$$

where the constant depends only on s. Thus the map $v \mapsto v\mathfrak{K}$ extends to a bounded linear map from $H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ into $\mathcal{L}_2(L^2(\mathbb{R}^d), H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$.

Proof. Integrating both sides of the equality in Lemma 10 with respect to $\langle \xi \rangle^{2s} d\xi$ one obtains

$$\|v\mathfrak{K}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(L^{2},H^{s})}^{2} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| \widehat{v}(\xi-\eta)\widehat{\mathfrak{t}}(\eta) \right|^{2} \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} d\xi d\eta.$$

Applying the inequality

$$\langle \xi \rangle^s \le C_s \langle \xi - \eta \rangle^s \langle \eta \rangle^{|s|} \quad \text{for all } \xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^d, \, s \in \mathbb{R},$$

$$(4.2)$$

the claimed bound follows immediately. \Box

With this corollary in hand, we can now prove Lemma 6.

Proof of Lemma 6. The bound on $M_1(f) = f \mathfrak{K}_1$ is immediate from Corollary 1. For $M_2(g) = \langle D_x \rangle^{-1} g \mathfrak{K}_2$ we write

$$||M_2(g)||_{\mathcal{L}_2(L^2, H^r)} = ||g\mathfrak{K}_2||_{\mathcal{L}_2(L^2, H^{r-1})}$$

and use again the corollary; if $0 \le r \le 1$, we bound by

$$\|g\mathfrak{K}_2\|_{\mathcal{L}_2(L^2,L^2)} \le C \|\mathfrak{k}\|_{L^2} \|g\|_{L^2},$$

while if $r \ge 1$ we bound by

$$C \|\mathfrak{t}\|_{H^{r-1}} \|g\|_{H^{r-1}}.$$

This concludes the proof of the lemma. $\hfill\square$

26

5. Bilinear bounds

In this section we prove Lemma 7, and we prove some additional null form bound, stated in two lemmas at the end of the section, that will be needed in the proof of global existence. Throughout this section the space dimension is d = 1.

We first note the following basic product law for Bourgain norms.

Lemma 11. Let $s_1, s_2, s_3 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $b_1, b_2, b_3 \ge 0$, and assume that

- $s_1 + s_2 + s_3 \ge 1/2$, and
- $\min_{i\neq j}(s_i+s_j) \ge 0$, and
- the two preceding inequalities are not both equalities, and
- $b_1 + b_2 + b_3 > 1/2$.

Then there is a constant C such that the bound

$$\|uv\|_{X_{h_1(\xi)}^{-s_1,-b_1}} \le C \|u\|_{X_{h_2(\xi)}^{s_2,b_2}} \|v\|_{X_{h_3(\xi)}^{s_3,b_3}}$$
(5.1)

holds for all Schwartz functions u and v on $\mathbb{R}_t \times \mathbb{R}_x$ and any choice of $h_1, h_2, h_3 \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$.

Proof. By Plancherel's theorem and L^2 duality, (5.1) can be reformulated as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \frac{f_1(\tau,\xi) f_2(\tau-\lambda,\xi-\eta) f_3(\lambda,\eta) \, d\lambda \, d\eta \, d\tau \, d\xi}{\langle \xi \rangle^{s_1} \, \langle \xi-\eta \rangle^{s_2} \, \langle \eta \rangle^{s_3} \, \langle \tau+h_1(\xi) \rangle^{b_1} \, \langle \tau-\lambda+h_2(\xi-\eta) \rangle^{b_2} \, \langle \lambda+h_3(\eta) \rangle^{b_3}} \\
\leq C \prod_{i=1}^3 \|f_i\|_{L^2} ,$$

where the f_i are non-negative. By symmetry, it suffices to consider the region where $\langle \lambda + h_3(\eta) \rangle$ is the minimum among $\langle \tau + h_1(\xi) \rangle$, $\langle \tau - \lambda + h_2(\xi - \eta) \rangle$ and $\langle \lambda + h_3(\eta) \rangle$, and then the left side is bounded by

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \frac{f_1(\tau,\xi) f_2(\tau-\lambda,\xi-\eta) f_3(\lambda,\eta) \, d\lambda \, d\eta \, d\tau \, d\xi}{\langle \xi \rangle^{s_1} \, \langle \xi-\eta \rangle^{s_2} \, \langle \eta \rangle^{s_3} \, \langle \lambda+h_3(\eta) \rangle^{b_1+b_2+b_3}},$$

where we used the assumption $b_1, b_2, b_3 \ge 0$. This shows that it is enough to prove

$$\|uv\|_{X_{h_1(\xi)}^{-s_1,0}} \le C \|u\|_{X_{h_2(\xi)}^{s_2,0}} \|v\|_{X_{h_3(\xi)}^{s_3,b_1+b_2+b_3}}.$$
(5.2)

But by the assumptions on s_1, s_2, s_3 we can apply the product law (2.13) to get

$$\|u(t)v(t)\|_{H^{-s_1}} \le C_{s_1,s_2,s_3} \|u(t)\|_{H^{s_2}} \|v(t)\|_{H^{s_3}}$$

for all t. Taking now the L^2 norm with respect to t of both sides, and using (2.29) to bound

$$\sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \|v(t)\|_{H^{s_3}} \le C_{b_1, b_2, b_3} \|v\|_{X^{s_3, b_1+b_2+b_3}_{h_3(\xi)}},$$

we then obtain (5.2), and this concludes the proof. \Box

Now we apply the above lemma to obtain estimates of the form

$$\|uv\|_{X^{-s_1,-b_1}_{\pm\langle\xi\rangle}} \le C \|u\|_{X^{s_2,b_2}_{+\xi}} \|v\|_{X^{s_3,b_3}_{-\xi}}.$$
(5.3)

But here we can gain some regularity compared to the generic case, due to the opposite signs in the dispersion relations on the right hand side; the symbols $\tau + \xi$ and $\tau - \xi$ correspond to transport equations with propagation in transverse directions. Thus, (5.3) is a *null form* estimate.

Let us denote by $b_{\min}, b_{med}, b_{max}$ the minimum, median and maximum, respectively, of the three numbers b_1, b_2, b_3 . We then have the following result.

Lemma 12. Suppose $s_1, s_2, s_3 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $b_1, b_2, b_3 \geq 0$. Then the following conditions are sufficient for the null form estimate (5.3) to hold for all Schwartz functions u and v on $\mathbb{R}_t \times \mathbb{R}_x$:

- $s_1 + s_2 + s_3 + b_{\min} \ge 1/2$, and
- $\min(s_2 + s_3 + b_{\min}, s_1 + s_2, s_1 + s_3) \ge 0$, and
- the two preceding inequalities are not both equalities, and
- $b_{\text{med}} + b_{\text{max}} > 1/2.$

Proof. We reformulate (5.3) as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \frac{f_1(\tau,\xi) f_2(\tau-\lambda,\xi-\eta) f_3(\lambda,\eta) \, d\lambda \, d\eta \, d\tau d\xi}{\langle \xi \rangle^{s_1} \, \langle \xi-\eta \rangle^{s_2} \, \langle \eta \rangle^{s_3} \, \langle \tau \pm \langle \xi \rangle \rangle^{b_1} \, \langle \tau-\lambda+(\xi-\eta) \, \rangle^{b_2} \, \langle \lambda-\eta \rangle^{b_3}} \leq C \prod_{i=1}^3 \|f_i\|_{L^2} \,,$$

where the f_i are non-negative. By the triangle inequality,

$$2 |\eta| \le |\tau + \xi| + |\tau - \lambda + (\xi - \eta)| + |\lambda - \eta|,$$

$$2 |\xi - \eta| \le |\tau - \xi| + |\tau - \lambda + (\xi - \eta)| + |\lambda - \eta|,$$

implying

$$\min\left(\langle \eta \rangle, \langle \xi - \eta \rangle\right) \le C \max\left(\langle \tau \pm \langle \xi \rangle \rangle, \langle \tau - \lambda + (\xi - \eta) \rangle, \langle \lambda - \eta \rangle\right),$$

since $\langle \tau \pm |\xi| \rangle$ is comparable to $\langle \tau \pm \langle \xi \rangle \rangle$. Thus, we can reduce (5.3) to estimates

$$\begin{split} \|uv\|_{X^{-s_1,-B_1}_{\pm\langle\xi\rangle}} &\leq C \,\|u\|_{X^{s_2+b_{\min},B_2}_{+\xi}} \,\|v\|_{X^{s_3,B_3}_{-\xi}} \,, \\ \|uv\|_{X^{-s_1,-B_1}_{\pm\langle\xi\rangle}} &\leq C \,\|u\|_{X^{s_2,B_2}_{+\xi}} \,\|v\|_{X^{s_3+b_{\min},B_3}_{-\xi}} \,, \end{split}$$

where $B_1, B_2, B_3 \ge 0$ and $B_1 + B_2 + B_3 = b_{\text{med}} + b_{\text{max}}$. Applying Lemma 11 we therefore obtain the claimed result. \Box

We are now ready to prove Lemma 7.

Proof of Lemma 7. We start with (3.11), which reads

$$\left\|\overline{\psi}\psi'\right\|_{X^{r-1,-b}_{\pm\langle\xi\rangle}} \le C \left\|\psi\right\|_{X^{s,b}_{+\xi}} \left\|\psi'\right\|_{X^{s,b}_{-\xi}}.$$

By (2.20), $\|\psi\|_{X^{s,b}_{+\xi}} = \|\overline{\psi}\|_{X^{s,b}_{+\xi}}$, so we can remove the conjugation on ψ . Now we apply Lemma 12 with $s_1 = 1 - r$, $s_2 = s_3 = s$ and $b_1 = b_2 = b_3 = b$, and conclude that (3.11) holds if

$$b > \frac{1}{4}, \quad 2s + b \ge 0, \quad 1 - r + s \ge 0, \quad 1 - r + 2s + b > \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (5.4)

It remains to consider (3.9) (the proof of (3.10) is similar). We have to show

$$\|\phi\psi\|_{X^{s,-b}_{+\xi}} \le C \|\phi\|_{X^{r,b}_{\pm\langle\xi\rangle}} \|\psi\|_{X^{s,b}_{-\xi}}.$$

By (2.21),

$$\left\|\phi\psi\right\|_{X^{s,-b}_{+\xi}} = (2\pi)^2 \sup_{\left\|\psi'\right\|_{X^{-s,b}_{+\xi}} = 1} \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \phi\psi\overline{\psi'}\,dt\,dx\right|,$$

where by (2.22),

$$(2\pi)^2 \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \phi \psi \overline{\psi'} \, dt \, dx \right| \le \|\phi\|_{X^{r,b}_{\pm \langle \xi \rangle}} \left\| \psi \overline{\psi'} \right\|_{X^{-r,-b}_{\pm \langle \xi \rangle}}.$$

Thus we have reduced to obtaining a bound

$$\left\|\overline{\psi'}\psi\right\|_{X^{-r,-b}_{\pm\langle\xi\rangle}} \le C \left\|\psi'\right\|_{X^{-s,b}_{+\xi}} \left\|\psi\right\|_{X^{s,b}_{-\xi}}.$$

Applying Lemma 12 with $s_1 = r$, $s_2 = -s$, $s_3 = s$ and $b_1 = b_2 = b_3 = b$, we conclude that (3.9) holds if

$$b > \frac{1}{4}, \quad r+b > \frac{1}{2}, \quad r-s \ge 0, \quad r+s \ge 0.$$
 (5.5)

If we take $b = 1/2 - \delta$ with $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small, then both (5.4) and (5.5) are satisfied if

$$s > -\frac{1}{4}, \qquad |s| \le r \le s+1, \qquad 0 < r < 1+2s,$$

proving the main part of Lemma 7. In the special case $s = 0, r \in (1/4, 1/2)$, mentioned at the end of Lemma 7, it is clear that (5.4) and (5.5) hold for any b > 1/4. \Box

We conclude this section with some additional null form estimates, given in the next two lemmas.

Lemma 13. Let $1 \leq p \leq 2$. Then for all Schwartz functions u and v on $\mathbb{R}_t \times \mathbb{R}_x$ the following bound holds true

$$\|uv\|_{L^{p}_{t,x}} \leq C \|u\|_{X^{0,b}_{+\xi}} \|v\|_{X^{0,b}_{-\xi}} \quad where \quad b = \begin{cases} 1 - 1/p & \text{if } 1 \leq p < 2, \\ 1/2 + \varepsilon & \text{if } p = 2. \end{cases}$$
(5.6)

Here $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrarily small; C depends on p, and on ε if p = 2.

Proof. In null coordinates (s, y) = (t + x, t - x) on \mathbb{R}^2 , the desired inequality reads

$$\left\|uv\right\|_{L^{p}_{s,y}} \leq C \left\|\left\langle D_{s}\right\rangle^{b} u\right\|_{L^{2}_{s,y}} \left\|\left\langle D_{y}\right\rangle^{b} v\right\|_{L^{2}_{s,y}}\right\|$$

But by Hölder's inequality, letting $q \in [2, \infty]$ be defined by 1/p = 1/2 + 1/q,

$$\|uv\|_{L^{p}_{s,y}} \leq \|u\|_{L^{q}_{s}(L^{2}_{y})} \|v\|_{L^{2}_{s}(L^{q}_{y})} \leq \|u\|_{L^{2}_{y}(L^{q}_{s})} \|v\|_{L^{2}_{s}(L^{q}_{y})},$$

where we used Minkowski's integral inequality in the last step. The desired inequality now follows by applying the Sobolev embedding $H^b(\mathbb{R}) \hookrightarrow L^q(\mathbb{R})$, which holds for $b = 1/2 + \varepsilon$ if $q = \infty$, and for b = 1/2 - 1/q if $2 \le q < \infty$. \Box

Lemma 14. Let r > 0 and $h \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$. Then for all Schwartz functions u and v on $\mathbb{R}_t \times \mathbb{R}_x$, we have the estimate

$$\|uv\|_{X_{h(\xi)}^{-r,-r}} \le C \|u\|_{X_{+\xi}^{0,b}} \|v\|_{X_{-\xi}^{0,b}}, \quad where \quad b = \begin{cases} 1/2 - r & \text{if } 0 < r < 1/2, \\ \varepsilon & \text{if } r = 1/2, \\ 0 & \text{if } r > 1/2. \end{cases}$$
(5.7)

Here $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrarily small; C depends on r, and on ε if r = 1/2, but not on h.

Proof. Define $p = p(r) \in [1, 2)$ by (i) 1/p = r + 1/2 if 0 < r < 1/2, (ii) $1/p = 1 - \varepsilon$ if r = 1/2, and (iii) p = 1 if r > 1/2. Here we can take any $0 < \varepsilon < 1/2$. Then the Sobolev embedding

$$L^p(\mathbb{R}) \hookrightarrow H^{-r}(\mathbb{R})$$
 (5.8)

holds. Setting $F(t,\xi) = \langle \xi \rangle^{-r} e^{ith(\xi)} \widehat{uv}(t,\xi)$, we then have

$$\begin{split} \|uv\|_{X_{h(\xi)}^{-r,-r}} &= \left\| \|F(t,\xi)\|_{H_{t}^{-r}} \right\|_{L_{\xi}^{2}} \leq C \left\| \|F(t,\xi)\|_{L_{t}^{p}} \right\|_{L_{\xi}^{2}} \leq C \left\| \|F(t,\xi)\|_{L_{\xi}^{2}} \right\|_{L_{t}^{p}} \\ &= C \left\| \|uv\|_{H_{x}^{-r}} \right\|_{L_{t}^{p}} \leq C \left\|uv\|_{L_{t,x}^{p}} \right\|, \end{split}$$

where we applied (5.8) twice, to get the first and third inequalities, and we used Minkowski's integral inequality to get the second inequality. The proof can now be concluded by appealing to Lemma 13; we are in the case $1 \le p < 2$, so (5.6) holds with b = 1 - 1/p. \Box

As a consequence we get the following result used later in Section 8.

Corollary 2. Let

$$0 < r < b < \frac{1}{2}, \quad 0 < \mu < 1, \quad \frac{1}{2} - r = \mu b.$$

Then for any $h \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ and T > 0 we have the estimates

$$\|\phi\psi\|_{X^{0,-b}_{\pm\xi}(0,T)} \leqslant C \, \|\phi\|_{X^{r,b}_{h(\xi)}(0,T)} \, \|\psi\|^{\mu}_{X^{0,b}_{\pm\xi}(0,T)} \, \|\psi\|^{1-\mu}_{L^{2}((0,T)\times\mathbb{R})} \, ,$$

where C depends on r, b but neither on h nor on T.

Proof. Firstly, by (2.32) we can substitute the restriction norm with the norm of trivial extension

$$\|\phi\psi\|_{X^{0,-b}_{\pm\xi}(0,T)} \leqslant \left\|\mathbbm{1}_{(0,T)}\phi\mathbbm{1}_{(0,T)}\psi\right\|_{X^{0,-b}_{\pm\xi}}$$

and without loss of generality we will write simply ϕ, ψ while meaning in fact the trivial extensions $\mathbb{1}_{(0,T)}\phi, \mathbb{1}_{(0,T)}\psi$. Secondly, we apply Lemma 14 via duality (2.21), (2.22) as follows. Given an arbitrary test function with $\|u\|_{X^{0,b}_{+\varepsilon}} = 1$ consider the integral

$$(2\pi)^2 \left| \int \phi \psi \overline{u} \, dt dx \right| \leq \|\phi\|_{X^{r,r}_{h(\xi)}} \|\overline{\psi}u\|_{X^{-r,-r}_{h(\xi)}} \leq C_r \|\phi\|_{X^{r,b}_{h(\xi)}} \|\overline{\psi}\|_{X^{0,1/2-r}_{\pm\xi}} \|u\|_{X^{0,1/2-r}_{\pm\xi}} \leq C_r \|\phi\|_{X^{r,b}_{h(\xi)}} \|\psi\|_{X^{0,\mu b}_{\pm\xi}},$$

where C_r comes exactly from the previous lemma. Here we have used the conjugation property (2.20) and obvious embeddings of Bourgain spaces. Appealing to the interpolation argument one obtains

$$\|\psi\|_{X^{0,\mu b}_{\mp\xi}} \leqslant \|\psi\|_{X^{0,b}_{\mp\xi}}^{\mu} \|\psi\|_{X^{0,0}_{\mp\xi}}^{1-\mu} = (2\pi)^{1-\mu} \|\psi\|_{X^{0,b}_{\mp\xi}}^{\mu} \|\psi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})}^{1-\mu}$$

Now taking the supremum of the above integral over test functions and recalling that ϕ, ψ stand for the trivial extensions $\mathbb{1}_{(0,T)}\phi, \mathbb{1}_{(0,T)}\psi$ one obtains the needed statement

$$\|\phi\psi\|_{X^{0,-b}_{\pm\xi}(0,T)} \leqslant (2\pi)^{1-\mu} C_r C_b^{1+\mu} \|\phi\|_{X^{r,b}_{h(\xi)}(0,T)} \|\psi\|^{\mu}_{X^{0,b}_{\mp\xi}(0,T)} \|\psi\|^{1-\mu}_{L^2((0,T)\times\mathbb{R})}$$

by (2.21) and (2.32). Finally, the interpolation used above is justified as

$$\left\| f(\tau,\xi) \left\langle \tau \right\rangle^{\mu b} \right\|_{L^{2}_{\tau,\xi}} \leqslant \left\| f^{\mu}(\tau,\xi) \left\langle \tau \right\rangle^{\mu b} \right\|_{L^{2/\mu}_{\tau,\xi}} \left\| f^{1-\mu}(\tau,\xi) \right\|_{L^{2/(1-\mu)}_{\tau,\xi}}$$

by Hölder's inequality with $f(\tau,\xi) = \left| \widehat{\psi}(\tau \pm \xi,\xi) \right|$ and the Bourgain norm definition (2.17). \Box

6. Abstract well-posedness for dispersive PDE systems with noise

Let W(t) be a cylindrical Wiener process, as in Section 2.

6.1. Notation and definitions

Let $d, n \in \mathbb{N}$. Given $\mathbf{s} = (s_1, \ldots, s_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, define

$$\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right) = H^{s_{1}}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right) \times \cdots \times H^{s_{n}}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right)$$

with the product norm

$$\|\mathbf{f}\|_{\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} = \left(\|f_{1}\|_{H^{s_{1}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2} + \dots + \|f_{n}\|_{H^{s_{n}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2}\right)^{1/2} \quad \text{for} \quad \mathbf{f} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{1} \\ \vdots \\ f_{n} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Given $h_1, \ldots, h_n \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$, define the Fourier multiplier $\mathbf{h}(D_x)$ and the group $\mathbf{S}(t)$ by

$$\mathbf{h}(D_x)\mathbf{f} = \begin{pmatrix} h_1(D_x)f_1\\ \vdots\\ h_n(D_x)f_n \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{S}(t)\mathbf{f} = \begin{pmatrix} S_{h_1(\xi)}(t)f_1\\ \vdots\\ S_{h_n(\xi)}(t)f_n \end{pmatrix},$$

where the latter is then an isometry of $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$. Further, given $b \in \mathbb{R}$, we define

$$\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}\left(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^{d}\right)=X_{h_{1}(\xi)}^{s_{1},b}\left(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^{d}\right)\times\cdots\times X_{h_{n}(\xi)}^{s_{n},b}\left(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^{d}\right)$$

with the product norm. The restriction to $(S,T) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ is denoted $\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T)$.

The following space will play a key role.

32

Definition 1. For $0 \le S < T$ let, with notation as in (2.1),

$$Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T) = \mathbb{L}^2\left(\Omega, \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T) \cap C\left([S,T], \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}\right)\right)$$

with norm

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T)} = \|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^2(\Omega,\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T))} + \|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^2(\Omega,C([S,T],\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}))}$$

Note that this space is complete.

Remark 3. From the embedding

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{2}([S,T],\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})} \le \|\mathbf{u}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T)} \quad \text{if } b \ge 0,$$
(6.1)

we infer that $Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T) \hookrightarrow L^2([S,T] \times \Omega, \mathbf{H^s})$ for $b \ge 0$.

By Lemma 5, we see immediately that the Z-space has the following gluing property.

Lemma 15. Let 0 < S < S' and -1/2 < b < 1/2. Given $\mathbf{u} \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,S)$ and $\mathbf{v} \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')$, define $[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}]$ by

$$[\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}](t) = \begin{cases} \mathbf{u}(t) & \text{for } 0 \le t \le S \\ \mathbf{v}(t) & \text{for } S < t \le S'. \end{cases}$$

Then

$$\left\| \left[\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v} \right] \right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s}, b}(0, S')} \le C_b \left(\left\| \mathbf{u} \right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s}, b}(0, S)} + \left\| \mathbf{v} \right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s}, b}(S, S')} \right),$$

where C_b depends only on b. Moreover, if $\mathbf{u}(S) = \mathbf{v}(S)$, then $[\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}] \in Z^{\mathbf{s}, b}(0, S')$.

6.2. Initial value problem

Now consider the Cauchy problem for a system of dispersive nonlinear stochastic PDE,

$$-id\mathbf{u}(t) + \mathbf{h}(D)\mathbf{u}(t) dt = [\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}(t)) + \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{u}(t))] dt + \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(t)) dW(t), \qquad \mathbf{u}(0) = \mathbf{u}_0, \quad (6.2)$$

where the unknown is a random variable $\mathbf{u}(t)$ taking values in $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$ for a given $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$,

$$\mathbf{u}_0 \colon \Omega \to \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$$
 is \mathcal{F}_0 -measurable, (6.3)

and the operators

$$\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{f}) = \begin{pmatrix} M_1(\mathbf{f}) \\ \vdots \\ M_n(\mathbf{f}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{f}) = \begin{pmatrix} L_1(\mathbf{f}) \\ \vdots \\ L_n(\mathbf{f}) \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{f}) = \begin{pmatrix} N_1(\mathbf{f}) \\ \vdots \\ N_n(\mathbf{f}) \end{pmatrix},$$

acting only in the space variable x, are assumed to have the following properties:

 $\mathbf{M} \colon \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}} \to \mathcal{L}_{2}(K, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}) \quad \text{is linear, with a bound} \quad \|\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{f})\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})} \leq C \, \|\mathbf{f}\|_{\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}} \,. \tag{6.4}$ Further,

$$\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{0}) = \mathbf{0} \tag{6.5}$$

and

$$\mathbf{N} \colon \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b} \to \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b'} \quad \text{is locally Lipschitz, for some } -\frac{1}{2} < b' < 0 < b < \frac{1}{2}, \tag{6.6}$$

with the bound, for some constants $p \in \mathbb{N}$ and C > 0,

$$\|\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}) - \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{v})\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b'}} \le C \left(1 + \|\mathbf{u}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}} + \|\mathbf{v}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}}\right)^{p-1} \|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{v}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}}.$$
 (6.7)

These estimates of course imply the corresponding ones with time restriction to any slab $(S,T) \times \mathbb{R}^d$. Finally, we assume that with the same b, b' as above,

$$\mathbf{L} \colon \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b} \to \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b'} \quad \text{is linear, with a bound} \quad \|\mathbf{L}(\mathbf{u})\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b'}} \le C \|\mathbf{u}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}} \,. \tag{6.8}$$

We emphasise that for the examples we have in mind, N may fail to map $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$ into itself, hence the deterministic integral in (6.12) below may not make sense as a Bochner integral in $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$. However, one expects that this obstruction disappears at sufficiently high regularity. We therefore add the assumption

there exists
$$\mathbf{s}' \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
, with $s'_i \ge s_i$, such that **N** and **L** map $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}'}$ continuously into $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}'}$.
(6.9)

This will be used to establish measurability properties, and to regularise (6.2).

Remark 4. The reason for separating the linear part **L** from the nonlinear part **N** is that this allows us to avoid truncating the linear terms; see (6.16). This is not essential for the arguments used to prove existence and uniqueness in this section, but is used in the proof of conservation of charge in Section 7.

Remark 5. It is easy to construct operators satisfying (6.4). Taking $K = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$, we consider

$$M_i(\mathbf{f}) = \sum_{j=1}^n \left\langle D \right\rangle^{-\sigma_{i,j}} f_j \mathfrak{K}_{i,j},$$

where $\sigma_{i,j}$ are real numbers and $\mathfrak{K}_{i,j}$ are of the form (4.1) with kernels $\mathfrak{k}_{i,j}$. Then by Corollary 1,

E. Dinvay, S. Selberg / Journal of Functional Analysis 287 (2024) 110565

$$\|M_{i}(\mathbf{f})\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(L^{2},H^{s_{i}})} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|f_{j}\mathfrak{K}_{i,j}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(L^{2},H^{s_{i}-\sigma_{i,j}})} \leq C \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|f_{j}\|_{H^{s_{j}}} \|\mathfrak{t}_{i,j}\|_{H^{|s_{j}|}}$$

provided that $s_i - \sigma_{i,j} \leq s_j$ and $\mathfrak{k}_{i,j} \in H^{|s_j|}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ for all $1 \leq i, j \leq n$.

Let us now define precisely what we mean by a solution of (6.2).

Definition 2. Let $\tau: \Omega \to (0, \infty]$ be a stopping time. By a solution of (6.2), (6.3) up to time τ , we mean a random variable

$$\mathbf{u}(t,\omega) \in \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}} \quad \text{for } 0 \le t < \tau(\omega)$$

such that

$$\mathbf{u}(t): \{t < \tau\} \to \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}} \text{ is } \mathcal{F}_t\text{-measurable},$$
 (6.10)

and such that, almost surely,

$$\mathbf{u} \in C\left([0, t], \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}\right) \cap \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s}, b}(0, t) \quad \text{for } 0 < t < \tau \tag{6.11}$$

and

$$\mathbf{u}(t) = \mathbf{S}(t)\mathbf{u}_0 + i \int_0^t \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}(s)) + \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{u}(s))\right] \, ds + i \int_0^t \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, dW(s) \quad (6.12)$$

for $0 \le t < \tau$. So in particular, $\mathbf{u}(0) = \mathbf{u}_0$ almost surely.

Some remarks are in order. First, by the assumptions on **N**, the first integral in (6.12) is well defined pointwise in ω , and belongs to $C([0,T], \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})$ and $\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)$ for any $0 < T < \tau(\omega)$, as we show in Section 6.5. We emphasise, however, that it may not make sense as an $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$ -valued Bochner integral, but only when interpreted in the Bourgain space, where dispersive effects are taken into account.

Second, to see that the stochastic integral exists, define

$$f(t) = \|\mathbf{u}\|_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,t)}^2 \quad \text{for } 0 < t < \tau, \qquad f(0) = 0.$$
(6.13)

By Lemmas 23 and 24, proved in Section 10, f satisfies the hypotheses of Lemma 3, hence

$$\tau_R(\omega) = \sup \left\{ t \in [0, \tau(\omega)) \colon f(s, \omega) < R \text{ for } 0 \le s \le t \right\}$$
(6.14)

is a stopping time for each R > 0, and $\lim_{R\to\infty} \tau_R(\omega) = \tau(\omega)$. Now consider the process

$$\mathbb{1}_{t \le \tau_R(\omega)} \mathbf{u}(t, \omega),$$

that is, the trivial extension beyond the time τ_R . It is progressively measurable by Lemma 2, so by (6.1) it belongs to $L^2([0,T] \times \Omega, \mathbf{H}^s)$ for all T > 0, and is \mathbf{H}^s -adapted, hence

$$\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{1}_{s \le \tau_{R}}(s) \mathbf{S}(t-s) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \ dW(s)$$

exists in $L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})$ for all $t \ge 0$, by the assumption (6.4). Thus the Itô integral appearing in (6.12) is well defined by the localisation procedure.

6.3. Existence and uniqueness

We now formulate the main existence and uniqueness results that will be proved.

Theorem 3 (Maximal local existence). Let $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and -1/2 < b' < 0 < b < 1/2. Assume that (6.4)-(6.9) hold and that $\mathbf{u}_0 \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})$ is \mathcal{F}_0 -measurable. Then the problem (6.2), (6.3) has a solution $\mathbf{u}(t)$ in the sense of Definition 2, with a stopping time $\tau \colon \Omega \to (0, \infty]$. The solution is maximal in the sense that, almost surely,

$$\tau < \infty \implies \limsup_{t \nearrow \tau} \|\mathbf{u}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,t)} = \infty.$$
(6.15)

The proof is given at the end of this subsection.

Theorem 4 (Uniqueness). Let $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and -1/2 < b' < 0 < b < 1/2. Assume that (6.4)-(6.9) hold and that $\mathbf{u}_0 \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})$ is \mathcal{F}_0 -measurable. Suppose \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{v} are solutions of (6.2), (6.3), as in Definition 2, up to stopping times τ and τ' , respectively, and with the same initial datum \mathbf{u}_0 . Then almost surely

$$\mathbf{u}(t) = \mathbf{v}(t) \quad for \ 0 \le t < \min(\tau, \tau').$$

This is proved in Section 6.8. For the proof, we must be able to compare the two solutions on slabs $[0, T] \times \Omega$. For this reason, we require also the following extension theorem.

Theorem 5 (Extension). Let $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and -1/2 < b' < 0 < b < 1/2. Assume that (6.4)-(6.9) hold and that $\mathbf{u}_0 \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^s)$ is \mathcal{F}_0 -measurable. Suppose \mathbf{u} is a solution of (6.2), (6.3), as in Definition 2, with stopping time τ . Define the conditional stopping times τ_R as in (6.13), (6.14). Then for any R > 0 and T > 0 the equation

$$\mathbf{U}(t) = \mathbf{S}(t)\mathbf{u}_0 + i \int_0^{t\wedge\tau_R} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}(s)) + \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{u}(s))\right] \, ds + i \int_0^t \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{U}(s)) \, dW(s)$$
has a unique solution $\mathbf{U} \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)$ such that, almost surely, $\mathbf{U}(t) = \mathbf{u}(t)$ for $0 \le t \le \min(T, \tau_R)$.

This is proved in Section 6.7.

Now let us return to the existence result, Theorem 3. To prove it, we consider a truncated version of (6.12), depending on a parameter R > 0,

$$\mathbf{u}(t) = \mathbf{S}(t)\mathbf{u}_0 + i \int_0^t \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{N}\left(\Theta_R^{\mathbf{u}}(s)\mathbf{u}(s)\right) \, ds + i \int_0^t \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{L}\left(\mathbf{u}(s)\right) \, ds + i \int_0^t \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}\left(\mathbf{u}(s)\right) \, dW(s), \quad (6.16)$$

where we use the notation

$$\Theta_R^{\mathbf{u}}(t) = \theta_R \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \|u_i\|_{\widetilde{X}_{h_i(\xi)}^{s_i,b}(0,t)}^2 \right).$$
(6.17)

Here $\theta \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a smooth and compactly supported function with $\theta(x) = 1$ for $|x| \le 1$, and we write $\theta_R(x) = \theta(x/R)$. Inside the cutoffs we use the norm (2.35).

We shall prove the following global result for the truncated problem.

Theorem 6 (Global existence with truncation). Let R > 0, $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and -1/2 < b' < 0 < b < 1/2. Assume that (6.4)–(6.9) are satisfied. Assume that $\mathbf{u}_0 \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})$ is \mathcal{F}_0 -measurable. Then the truncated problem (6.16) has a unique global solution \mathbf{u}^R such that $\mathbf{u}^R \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)$ for each T > 0. Moreover, for each T > 0 we have

$$\left\|\mathbf{u}^{R}\right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)} \le C_{T,R,b} \left\|\mathbf{u}_{0}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbf{H}^{s})},$$
(6.18)

and if $\mathbf{U}^R \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)$ is the solution with \mathcal{F}_0 -measurable data $\mathbf{U}_0 \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})$, then

$$\|\mathbf{u}^{R} - \mathbf{U}^{R}\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)} \le C_{T,R,b} \|\mathbf{u}_{0} - \mathbf{U}_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbf{H}^{s})}.$$
 (6.19)

Granting this last result for the moment, we can prove the local result, Theorem 3. Define

$$f_R(t) = \left\| \mathbf{u}^R \right\|_{\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,t)}^2 \quad \text{for } t > 0, \qquad f_R(0) = 0.$$

By Lemmas 23 and 24, proved in Section 10, this function satisfies the hypotheses of Lemma 3, hence

$$\tau_R(\omega) = \sup \left\{ t \in [0, \infty) \colon f_R(s, \omega) < R \text{ for } 0 \le s \le t \right\},\$$

is a stopping time. Up to this time, \mathbf{u}^R is a solution of the non-truncated problem (6.12), and we let $R \to \infty$ to get a maximal solution. To this end, we use the following.

Lemma 16. Let \mathbf{u}^R be as in Theorem 6, and define the stopping time τ_R as above. Then

$$\mathbf{u}^{R}(t) = \mathbf{u}^{R'}(t) \quad for \ 0 \le t \le \min(\tau_{R}, \tau_{R'})$$
(6.20)

and

$$R \le R' \implies \tau_R \le \tau_{R'}. \tag{6.21}$$

Moreover,

$$R < R' \text{ and } \tau_{R'} < \infty \implies \tau_R < \tau_{R'}. \tag{6.22}$$

Proof. First, (6.20) follows from Theorem 4 (proved in Section 6.8, and independently of Theorem 6 and the present lemma).

Now let us prove (6.22) (which of course implies (6.21)). Suppose that R < R' and $\tau_{R'} < \infty$. To get a contradiction, assume that $\tau_{R'} \leq \tau_R$. Then by (6.20), $f_R(t) = f_{R'}(t)$ for $0 < t \leq \tau_{R'}$. But by (2.8), $f_{R'}(\tau_{R'}) = R'$. Thus $f_R(\tau_{R'}) = R' > R$, contradicting (2.7). Hence we must have $\tau_R < \tau_{R'}$. \Box

In view of the last lemma, setting

$$\tau = \sup_R \tau_R,$$

which is a stopping time, we can consistently define $\mathbf{u}(t)$ for $t \in [0, \tau)$ by setting $\mathbf{u}(t) = \mathbf{u}^{R}(t)$ for $t \in [0, \tau_{R}]$. By (2.8) we have

$$\tau_R < \infty \implies \left\| \mathbf{u}^R \right\|_{\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,\tau_R)}^2 = R,$$

and by the estimate (10.4) in Lemma 21, this implies

$$\tau_R < \infty \implies \left\| \mathbf{u}^R \right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,\tau_R)}^2 \ge CR, \tag{6.23}$$

where C > 0 depends only on b. Then (6.15) follows. Thus we have shown that Theorem 3 is a consequence of Theorem 6 (and of Theorem 4, which is used to prove the above lemma).

The remainder of this section is devoted to the proof of Theorems 6, 5 and 4, in that order. We also prove a regularisation result for the truncated system, in Section 6.9. Finally, in Section 6.10 we show how the existence and uniqueness parts of Theorem 1 follow from the abstract results.

In preparation for the proofs, we discuss in the next two subsections some key consequences of the assumptions made on the operators \mathbf{M} and \mathbf{N} .

6.4. Properties of M

Assume that $\mathbf{u} \in L^2([0,T] \times \Omega, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})$ is $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$ -adapted. Then by (6.4),

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{t} \|\mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s))\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})}^{2} ds\right) = \mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{t} \|\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s))\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})}^{2} ds\right) \\
\leq C\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{t} \|\mathbf{u}(s)\|_{\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}}^{2} ds\right),$$
(6.24)

so for $0 \leq t \leq T$ the Itô integral

$$\int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, dW(s)$$

is well defined in $L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H^s})$, is $\mathbf{H^s}$ -adapted and pathwise continuous, and by the Itô isometry,

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, dW(s)\right\|_{\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}}^{2}\right) = \mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{t} \|\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s))\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})}^{2} \, ds\right).$$
(6.25)

By the maximal inequality (2.11),

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\sup_{0\leq t\leq T}\left\|\int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s))\,dW(s)\right\|_{\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}}^{2}\right) \leq 4\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{T}\left\|\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s))\right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})}^{2}\,ds\right).$$
(6.26)

Moreover, the stochastic integral belongs to $L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{X}^{s,b}(0,T))$, as we now show.

Lemma 17. Let T > 0. Assume that **M** satisfies (6.4), and that $0 \le b < 1/2$. Then

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, dW(s)\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{s,b}(0,T)}^{2}\right) \le C\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{T} \|\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s))\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,\mathbf{H}^{s})}^{2} \, ds\right) \quad (6.27)$$

for all $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$ -adapted $\mathbf{u} \in L^2([0,T] \times \Omega, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})$. Here the constant C depends on b, but not on T.

Proof. Set

$$\mathbf{I}(t) = \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathbf{s}} \int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{S}(-s) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, dW(s) = \int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathbf{s}} \mathbf{S}(-s) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, dW(s),$$

where the operator

$$\mathbf{f} \mapsto \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathbf{s}} \mathbf{f} = \begin{pmatrix} \langle D \rangle^{s_1} f_1 \\ \vdots \\ \langle D \rangle^{s_n} f_n \end{pmatrix}$$

is an isometry of $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$ onto $L_x^2 = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^n)$. Thus $\mathbf{I}(t) \in L^2(\Omega, L_x^2)$ and the left side of (6.27) equals

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left\|\widehat{\mathbf{I}}(t,\xi)\right\|_{\mathbf{H}^b(0,T)}^2 d\xi\right),\tag{6.28}$$

where

$$\widehat{\mathbf{I}}(t) = \mathcal{F}\mathbf{I}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{F}\mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathbf{s}}\mathbf{S}(-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, dW(s) \in L^{2}\left(\Omega, L_{\xi}^{2}\right)$$

and $\mathcal{F}: L^2_x \to L^2_{\xi}$ is the Fourier transform in x. Using repeatedly (2.9), we see that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathcal{F} \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathbf{s}} \mathbf{S}(-s) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}\left(K, L_{\xi}^{2}\right)} &\leq \left(2\pi\right)^{d/2} \left\| \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathbf{s}} \mathbf{S}(-s) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}\left(K, L_{x}^{2}\right)} \\ &\leq \left\| \mathbf{S}(-s) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}\left(K, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}\right)} = \left\| \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}\left(K, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}\right)}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.29)

Thus the Itô isometry gives, for $0 \leq t \leq T,$

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\widehat{\mathbf{I}}(t,\xi)\right\|_{L^{2}_{\xi}}^{2}\right) \leq C\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{t} \|\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s))\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,\mathbf{H}^{s})}^{2} ds\right).$$

Integrating this over $0 \leq t \leq T$ and using Tonelli's theorem gives

$$\int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{0}^{T} \left| \widehat{\mathbf{I}}(t,\xi,\omega) \right|^2 \, dt \, d\xi \, d\mathbb{P}(\omega) \le CT\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{T} \left\| \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_2(K,\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})}^2 \, ds \right),$$

implying that

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left| \widehat{\mathbf{I}}(t,\xi,\omega) \right|^{2} \, dt < \infty$$

for a.e. (ξ, ω) . So extending $\widehat{\mathbf{I}}(t)$ by zero outside the interval (0, T), its Fourier transform with respect to t is well defined:

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{I}}(\tau,\xi,\omega) = \int_{0}^{T} e^{-it\tau} \,\widehat{\mathbf{I}}(t,\xi,\omega) \, dt,$$

and

$$\left\|\widehat{\mathbf{I}}(t,\xi)\right\|_{H^{b}(0,T)}^{2} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left\langle \tau \right\rangle^{2b} \left|\widetilde{I}_{j}(\tau,\xi)\right|^{2} d\tau.$$
(6.30)

Now we calculate

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathbf{I}}(\tau,\xi) &= \int_{0}^{T} e^{-it\tau} \, \widehat{\mathbf{I}}(t,\xi) \, dt = \int_{0}^{T} e^{-it\tau} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{F} \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathbf{s}} \mathbf{S}(-s) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, dW(s) \right) \, dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{s}^{T} e^{-it\tau} \, dt \right) \mathcal{F} \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathbf{s}} \mathbf{S}(-s) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, dW(s), \end{split}$$

where we used the stochastic Fubini's theorem (see [17]). This is justified on account of the bound (6.29). Combining that bound with

$$\left| \int\limits_{s}^{T} e^{-it\tau} \, dt \right| \leq C \left\langle \tau \right\rangle^{-1},$$

where C is independent of s and T, we obtain

$$\left\| \left(\int_{s}^{T} e^{-it\tau} dt \right) \mathcal{F} \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathbf{s}} \mathbf{S}(-s) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K, L^{2}_{\xi})} \leq C \left\langle \tau \right\rangle^{-1} \left\| \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})},$$

hence by Itô's isometry

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\widetilde{I}_{j}(\tau,\xi)\right\|_{L_{\xi}^{2}}^{2}\right) \leq C \left\langle \tau \right\rangle^{-2} \mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{T} \left\|\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s))\right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,\mathbf{H}^{s})}^{2} ds\right)$$

for $1 \leq j \leq n$. Multiplying both sides by $\langle \tau \rangle^{2b}$, integrating in τ , and using Tonelli's theorem and (6.28) and (6.30), we conclude that the left side of (6.27) equals

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left\|\widehat{\mathbf{I}}(t,\xi)\right\|_{\mathbf{H}^b(0,T)}^2 d\xi\right) \le C \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle \tau \rangle^{2b} \mathbb{E}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left|\widetilde{I}_j(\tau,\xi)\right|^2 d\xi\right) d\tau$$
$$\le C \left(\sum_{j=1}^n \int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle \tau \rangle^{2b-2} d\tau\right) \mathbb{E}\left(\int_0^T \left\|\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s))\right\|_{\mathcal{L}_2(K,\mathbf{H}^s)}^2 ds\right),$$

completing the proof of the lemma. \Box

Combining (6.26), the last lemma and the embedding (2.28), we obtain the following key fact.

Corollary 3. Let $0 \le S < T \le S+1$. Assume that **M** satisfies (6.4), and that $0 \le b < 1/2$. Then we have the bound

$$\left\| \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, dW(s) \right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T)} \le C(T-S)^{b} \, \|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T))} \tag{6.31}$$

for all $\mathbf{u} \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T)$, where the constant C depends on b, but not on T or S.

Proof. Extend **u** by zero outside S < t < T. Then **u** belongs to $L^2([0,T] \times \Omega, \mathbf{H}^s)$ (see Remark 3), and applying (6.26), (6.24) and Lemma 17 we get

$$\left\|\int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, dW(s)\right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T)} \leq C \, \|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{2}([S,T]\times\Omega,\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})} \, .$$

Applying now (2.28), we obtain (6.31). \Box

6.5. Properties of N and L

Recalling that -1/2 < b' < 0, choose $0 < \varepsilon < b' + 1/2$ and set

$$B := b' + 1 - \varepsilon > \frac{1}{2}.$$

Let $0 \leq S < T \leq S + 1$ and assume that $\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s}, b}(S, T)$. Applying (2.29), (2.27), (2.28) and the assumption (6.7) we get

$$\sup_{S \leq t \leq T} \left\| \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}(s)) - \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{v}(s)) \right] ds \right\|_{\mathbf{H}^{s}} \leq C \left\| \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}(s)) - \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{v}(s)) \right] ds \right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{s,B}(S,T)} \\
\leq C \left\| \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}) - \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{v}) \right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{s,B-1}(S,T)} \leq C(T-S)^{\varepsilon} \left\| \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}) - \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{v}) \right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{s,b'}(S,T)} \\
\leq C(T-S)^{\varepsilon} \left(1 + \|\mathbf{u}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{s,b}(S,T)} + \|\mathbf{v}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{s,b}(S,T)} \right)^{p-1} \|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{v}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{s,b}(S,T)} \tag{6.32}$$

and (taking $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{0}$ and using the assumption (6.5))

$$t \mapsto \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, ds \quad \text{belongs to } C([S,T],\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}).$$
(6.33)

Note that in (6.32) the constants C depend only on b, b' and B. Moreover, we claim that

$$\mathbf{u} \in \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s}, b}(S, T) \cap C([S, T], \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}) \text{ is } \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}\text{-adapted}$$

$$\implies t \mapsto \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \, ds \text{ is } \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}\text{-adapted}.$$
(6.34)

To see this, let \mathbf{s}' be as in (6.9) and use mollification in the *x*-variable to obtain a sequence \mathbf{u}_m such that

- $\mathbf{u}_m \in \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s}',b}(S,T) \cap C([S,T],\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}'}),$
- \mathbf{u}_m is $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}'}$ -adapted,
- $\mathbf{u}_m \to \mathbf{u}$ in $\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,T) \cap C([S,T],\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})$ as $m \to \infty$.

Then by the assumption (6.9), $\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}_m) \in C([S,T], \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}'})$ is adapted, and therefore progressively measurable, hence the $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}'}$ -valued integral

$$I_m(t) = \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}_m(s)) \, ds$$

exists and is adapted. Moreover, by (6.32), I_m converges, as $m \to \infty$, in $C([S, T], \mathbf{H}^s)$ to the integral appearing in (6.34), thereby proving that the latter is adapted. Finally, we note that (6.32)–(6.34) of course also hold for **L**, but then with p = 1 in (6.32).

6.6. Existence for the truncated problem

We now prove Theorem 6. To simplify the notation, instead of \mathbf{u}^R we simply write \mathbf{u} . Note that (6.16), with the cutoff given by (6.17), is equivalent to

$$\mathbf{u}(t) = \mathbf{S}(t-S)\mathbf{u}(S) + i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{N}\left(\Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}}(s)\mathbf{u}(s)\right) \, ds + i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{L}\left(\mathbf{u}(s)\right) \, ds + i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}\left(\mathbf{u}(s)\right) \, dW(s) \quad (6.35)$$

for $0 \leq S \leq t \leq T$. By Proposition 1, for $\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v} \in Z^{\mathbf{s}, b}(0, T)$ we have, for $S \in [0, T]$,

$$\|\Theta_R^{\mathbf{u}}(t)\mathbf{u}(t)\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,S)} \le C\sqrt{R},\tag{6.36}$$

$$\|\Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}}(t)\mathbf{u}(t) - \Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{v}}(t)\mathbf{v}(t)\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,S)} \le C \|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{v}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,S)}$$
(6.37)

where the constant depends on b and T. By Lemma 24, the cutoffs $\Theta_R^{\mathbf{u}}(t)$ and $\Theta_R^{\mathbf{v}}(t)$ are adapted.

Now fix a target time T > 0, and divide [0, T] into N subintervals of length $\delta = T/N$, where N will be chosen large enough depending on R and T. On each subinterval $[0, \delta], [\delta, 2\delta], \ldots$ we prove existence by a contraction argument in the Z-space.

Proceeding inductively, let us assume that for some $0 \leq j < N$ we have proved existence up to time $S = j\delta$, so $\mathbf{u} \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,S)$ (for S = 0 this just means that $\mathbf{u}_0 \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})$). Set $S' = S + \delta$. Then for $t \in [S, S']$ we must solve

$$\mathbf{v}(t) = \mathbf{S}(t-S)\mathbf{u}(S) + i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-\sigma) \mathbf{N} \left(\Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}]}(\sigma)\mathbf{v}(\sigma)\right) d\sigma + i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-\sigma) \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{v}(\sigma)) d\sigma + i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-\sigma) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{v}(\sigma)) dW(\sigma), \quad (6.38)$$

where $[\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}]$ is defined as in Lemma 15. If we can show that (6.38) has a unique solution $\mathbf{v} \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S, S')$, then by Lemma 15 we have $[\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}] \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0, S')$. Renaming the latter function \mathbf{u} , we have then extended the solution to [0, S'], and by induction this proves Theorem 6.

To solve (6.38) on $[S, S'] = [S, S + \delta]$, we set up a contraction argument in $Z^{s,b}(S, S')$ for the operator

$$\mathfrak{T}(\mathbf{v})(t) = \text{r.h.s.}(6.38) =: \mathfrak{T}_0(t) + \mathfrak{T}_1(\mathbf{v})(t) + \mathfrak{T}_2(\mathbf{v})(t) + \mathfrak{T}_3(\mathbf{v})(t), \quad \text{for } S \le t \le S'.$$

So now let $\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w} \in Z^{\mathbf{s}, b}(S, S')$. We will prove that

$$\mathfrak{T}(\mathbf{v}) \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S') \tag{6.39}$$

and

E. Dinvay, S. Selberg / Journal of Functional Analysis 287 (2024) 110565

$$\left\|\mathfrak{T}(\mathbf{v}) - \mathfrak{T}(\mathbf{w})\right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} \le \frac{1}{2} \left\|\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}\right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}$$
(6.40)

provided that $S' - S = \delta > 0$ is taken sufficiently small, depending on R and T. Thus \mathfrak{T} is a contraction on $Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')$, so it has a unique fixed point \mathbf{v} in that space.

We now prove (6.39) and (6.40) for each of the terms constituting \mathfrak{T} .

6.6.1. The term \mathfrak{T}_0

By the induction hypothesis, $\mathbf{u}(S)$ belongs to $L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^s)$ and is \mathcal{F}_S -measurable, hence the same is true of $\mathfrak{T}_0(t) = \mathbf{S}(t-S)\mathbf{u}(S)$ for $t \geq S$. By (2.26) and (2.29),

$$\sup_{t \in [S,S']} \|\mathbf{S}(t-S)\mathbf{u}(S)\|_{\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}} \le C \|\mathbf{S}(t-S)\mathbf{u}(S)\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},1}(S,S')} \le C \|\mathbf{u}(S)\|_{\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}}$$

implying $\mathfrak{T}_0 \in Z^{\mathbf{s},1}(S,S')$. This verifies (6.39) for the term \mathfrak{T}_0 .

6.6.2. The term \mathfrak{T}_1

Applying (6.32) on [S, S'] to the difference

$$\mathfrak{T}_{1}(\mathbf{v}) - \mathfrak{T}_{1}(\mathbf{w}) = i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-\sigma) \left[\mathbf{N} \left(\Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}]}(\sigma) \mathbf{v}(\sigma) \right) - \mathbf{N} \left(\Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{w}]}(\sigma) \mathbf{w}(\sigma) \right) \right] \, d\sigma$$

yields

$$\begin{split} \sup_{t\in[S,S']} & \left\|\mathfrak{T}_{1}(\mathbf{v})(t) - \mathfrak{T}_{1}(\mathbf{w})(t)\right\|_{\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}} \leq C \left\|\mathfrak{T}_{1}(\mathbf{v}) - \mathfrak{T}_{1}(\mathbf{w})\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},B}(S,S')} \\ \leq C(S'-S)^{\varepsilon} \left(1 + \left\|\Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}]}\mathbf{v}\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} + \left\|\Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{w}]}\mathbf{w}\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}\right)^{p-1} \\ & \left\|\Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}]}\mathbf{v} - \Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{w}]}\mathbf{w}\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}. \end{split}$$

But by (6.36),

$$\left\|\Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}]}\mathbf{v}\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} \leq \left\|\Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}]}[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}]\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,S')} \leq C\sqrt{R},$$

where C depends on T and b. The same holds with w instead of v. Similarly, (6.37) gives

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}]}\mathbf{v} - \Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{w}]}\mathbf{w} \right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} &\leq \left\| \Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}]}[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}] - \Theta_{R}^{[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{w}]}[\mathbf{u},\mathbf{w}] \right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,S')} \\ &\leq C \left\| [\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v}] - [\mathbf{u},\mathbf{w}] \right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,S')} \leq C \left\| \mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w} \right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}, \quad (6.41) \end{aligned}$$

where we used Lemma 15 in the last step. Taking the $L^2(\Omega)$ -norm we therefore obtain

$$\left\|\mathfrak{T}_{1}(\mathbf{v})-\mathfrak{T}_{1}(\mathbf{w})\right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}\leq C(S'-S)^{\varepsilon}\left(1+\sqrt{R}\right)^{p-1}\left\|\mathbf{v}-\mathbf{w}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S'))},$$

where C depends on T and b. Taking $\mathbf{w} = \mathbf{0}$, the bounds above also imply that $\mathfrak{T}_1(\mathbf{v})$ belongs to $Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')$, by (6.33) and (6.34).

6.6.3. The term \mathfrak{T}_2

The arguments used for \mathfrak{T}_1 apply also here, but simplify since we take p = 1 and there is no cutoff.

6.6.4. The term \mathfrak{T}_3

By Remark 3, $\mathbf{v} \in L^2([S, S'] \times \Omega, \mathbf{H}^s)$. Extending \mathbf{v} by zero outside [S, S'], the considerations in Section 6.4, and in particular (6.26), (6.24) and Lemma 17, show that $\mathfrak{T}_3(\mathbf{v})$ belongs to $Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S, S')$. Moreover, by Corollary 3 and the linearity of \mathbf{M} we have

$$\left\|\mathfrak{T}_{3}(\mathbf{v})-\mathfrak{T}_{2}(\mathbf{w})\right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}\leq C(S'-S)^{b}\left\|\mathbf{v}-\mathbf{w}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S'))},$$

which proves (6.40) for the term \mathfrak{T}_3 , if $\delta = S' - S$ is small enough. This concludes the proof of (6.39) and (6.40).

6.6.5. The bounds (6.18) and (6.19)

Taking $\mathbf{w} = \mathbf{0}$, the above bounds show that the fixed point \mathbf{v} satisfies

$$\left\|\mathbf{v}\right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} \le C \left\|\mathbf{u}(S)\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})},$$

where C is an absolute constant. By induction it follows that the solution $\mathbf{u} \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)$ satisfies

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)} \le C^N \|\mathbf{u}_0\|_{L^2(\Omega,\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})},$$

where $N = T/\delta$ depends on T and R. This proves (6.18), and the same argument gives (6.19) (let the **w** above be the fixed point corresponding to the solution **U** with data \mathbf{U}_0).

This concludes the proof of Theorem 6.

6.7. Extension

Here we prove Theorem 5.

Assume that $0 \leq S < T$ and that we have found **U**, with the desired properties, on [0, S] (for S = 0 this just means that $\mathbf{u}_0 \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^s)$). Set $S' = S + \delta$, where $\delta > 0$ will be chosen sufficiently small, depending on T and R. For $t \in [S, S']$ we must then solve

46

$$\mathbf{V}(t) = \mathbf{S}(t-S)\mathbf{U}(S) + i \int_{S \wedge \tau_R}^{t \wedge \tau_R} \mathbf{S}(t-\sigma) \left[\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}(s)) + \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{u}(s)) \right] \, ds + i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{V}(s)) \, dW(s).$$
(6.42)

The solution **V** should be in $Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')$, it should satisfy, almost surely,

$$\mathbf{V}(t) = \mathbf{u}(t) \quad \text{for } S \le t \le S' \land \tau_R, \tag{6.43}$$

and it should be the only solution with these properties.

For $\mathbf{V} \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')$ define

$$\begin{split} \Phi(\mathbf{V})(t) &= \mathbf{S}(t-S)\mathbf{U}(S) + i \int_{S\wedge\tau_R}^{t\wedge\tau_R} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}(s)) + \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{u}(s))\right] \, ds \\ &+ i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}([\mathbf{u},\mathbf{V}](s)) \, dW(s), \end{split}$$

where

$$[\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{V}](t) = \begin{cases} \mathbf{u}(t) & \text{for } 0 \le t \le S' \land \tau_R \\ \mathbf{V}(t) & \text{for } S' \land \tau_R < t \le S'. \end{cases}$$

Now observe that, almost surely,

$$S \le t \le S' \land \tau_R \implies \mathbf{\Phi}(\mathbf{V})(t) = \mathbf{u}(t),$$
 (6.44)

since for such t we have $[\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{V}](s) = \mathbf{u}(s)$ for $S \leq s \leq t$, and by (6.12),

$$\mathbf{u}(t) = \mathbf{S}(t-S)\mathbf{u}(S) + i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}(s)) + \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{u}(s))\right] ds + i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s)) dW(s),$$

which equals $\mathbf{\Phi}(\mathbf{V})(t)$ since $S \leq t \leq \tau_R$ and $\mathbf{u}(S) = \mathbf{U}(S)$.

So if **V** is a fixed point of $\mathbf{\Phi}$, then by (6.44) we have, almost surely, $[\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{V}] = \mathbf{V}$ on [S, S'], hence **V** satisfies (6.42) and (6.43). Conversely, if **V** satisfies (6.42) and (6.43), it is clearly a fixed point. Thus it only remains to prove that $\mathbf{\Phi}$ has a unique fixed point in $Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S, S')$. But this follows as in the proof of Theorem 6, if $\delta = S' - S > 0$ is small enough. This concludes the proof of Theorem 5.

6.8. Uniqueness

Here we prove Theorem 4.

Fix R > 0 and T > 0 and define the conditional stopping time τ_R as in (6.13), (6.14). Similarly define τ'_R for **v**. It is enough to prove that, almost surely, $\mathbf{u}(t) = \mathbf{v}(t)$ for $0 \le t \le \min(T, \mu)$, where $\mu = \min(\tau_R, \tau'_R)$.

Note that if $\mu_R^{\mathbf{u}}$ is the conditional stopping time defined by the pair (μ, \mathbf{u}) , then $\mu_R^{\mathbf{u}} = \mu$. Similarly, $\mu_R^{\mathbf{v}} = \mu$. Therefore, by Theorem 5 there exist $\mathbf{U}, \mathbf{V} \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)$ such that, almost surely, $\mathbf{U}(t) = \mathbf{u}(t)$ and $\mathbf{V}(t) = \mathbf{v}(t)$ for $0 \le t \le \min(T, \mu)$, and

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{U}(t) &= \mathbf{S}(t)\mathbf{u}_0 + i \int_0^{t\wedge\mu} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{U}(s)) + \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{U}(s)) \right] \, ds + i \int_0^t \mathbf{S}(t-s) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{U}(s)) \, dW(s), \\ \mathbf{V}(t) &= \mathbf{S}(t)\mathbf{u}_0 + i \int_0^{t\wedge\mu} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{V}(s)) + \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{V}(s)) \right] \, ds + i \int_0^t \mathbf{S}(t-s) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{V}(s)) \, dW(s), \end{aligned}$$

for $0 \le t \le T$.

Then it is enough to prove that, almost surely, $\mathbf{U}(t) = \mathbf{V}(t)$ for $0 \le t \le T$. We know this holds for t = 0. As in the proof of Theorem 6 we now cut [0, T] into short intervals of length δ and proceed inductively. Assume that $0 \le S < T$ and that we have proved that, almost surely, $\mathbf{U}(t) = \mathbf{V}(t)$ for $t \in [0, S]$. Then we prove that this is true also on [S, S'], where $S' = S + \delta$.

To this end, write

$$\mathbf{U}(t) - \mathbf{V}(t) = \Delta_1(t) + \Delta_2(t) + \Delta_3(t) \quad \text{for } S \le t \le T,$$

where

$$\Delta_{1}(t) = i \int_{S \wedge \mu}^{t \wedge \mu} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{U}(s)) - \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{V}(s)) \right] ds,$$

$$\Delta_{2}(t) = i \int_{S \wedge \mu}^{t \wedge \mu} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{L}(\mathbf{U}(s)) - \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{V}(s)) \right] ds,$$

$$\Delta_{3}(t) = i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{U}(s)) - \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{V}(s)) \right] dW(s)$$

We are going to first estimate $\Delta_1(t)$ pointwise in ω , and then take the L^2 norm with respect to ω . So for the pointwise estimate we may restrict to ω at which $\mathbf{U}(t) = \mathbf{u}(t)$ and $\mathbf{V}(t) = \mathbf{v}(t)$ for $0 \le t \le \min(T, \mu)$. We may also assume $S \le \mu$, as otherwise the integral $\Delta_1(t)$ vanishes. Write

$$\Delta_1(t) = i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{N}(\mathbb{1}_{s \le \mu} \mathbf{U}(s)) - \mathbf{N}(\mathbb{1}_{s \le \mu} \mathbf{V}(s)) \right] \, ds.$$

Let $0 < \delta \leq 1$. Observe that

$$\|\mathbb{1}_{t\leq\mu}\mathbf{U}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}\leq C\,\|\mathbf{u}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,\mu)}\leq C\,\|\mathbf{u}\|_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,\mu)}\leq C\sqrt{R},$$

since $\mu \leq \tau_R$. Here *C* depends on *T* and *b*. The same holds for **V**, since $\mu \leq \tau'_R$. Thus by (6.32) we get the bound, pointwise a.e. in ω ,

$$\|\Delta_1\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} \le C \left(1 + \sqrt{R}\right)^{p-1} \delta^{\varepsilon} \|\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V}\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')},$$

which we then square and integrate with respect to ω . The same estimate holds for Δ_2 , but with p = 1. Finally, we bound Δ_3 . By Corollary 3,

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\Delta_{3}\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}^{2}\right) \leq C\delta^{2b}\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\mathbf{U}-\mathbf{V}\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}^{2}\right).$$

Combining the above bounds, we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\mathbf{U}-\mathbf{V}\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}^{2}\right) \leq C(1+R)^{p-1}\delta^{2\min(\varepsilon,b)}\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\mathbf{U}-\mathbf{V}\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}^{2}\right),$$

where C depends on T and b. So for $\delta > 0$ small enough,

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\mathbf{U}-\mathbf{V}\right\|_{\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')}^{2}\right)=0,$$

hence, almost surely, $\mathbf{U}(t) = \mathbf{V}(t)$ for $S \leq t \leq S'$. This concludes the proof of Theorem 4.

6.9. Regularisation and Itô's formula

For $\mu \geq 1$ let P_{μ} be the Fourier multiplier with symbol $\theta_{\mu}(\xi)$, that is, for $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$,

$$\widehat{P_{\mu}f}(\xi) = \theta\left(\frac{\xi}{\mu}\right)\widehat{f}(\xi).$$

We assume that $\operatorname{supp} \theta \subset [-2, 2]$, hence $\widehat{P_{\mu}f}$ is supported in $[-2\mu, 2\mu]$, so $P_{\mu}f(x)$ is smooth. We also assume that $|\theta| \leq 1$. Then P_{μ} is bounded, with operator norm ≤ 1 , on H^s and $X^{s,b}$ for any s, b. Moreover, P_{μ} maps H^s into H^N for arbitrarily large N. Finally, we assume that $\theta = 1$ on [-1, 1], so that P_{μ} converges strongly to the identity operator in H^s and $X^{s,b}$ as $\mu \to \infty$.

Now consider the following frequency-truncated version of (6.16):

$$\mathbf{u}(t) = P_{\mu} \left(\mathbf{S}(t)\mathbf{u}_{0} + i \int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{N} \left(\Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}}(s)P_{\mu}\mathbf{u}(s)\right) ds + i \int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{L} \left(P_{\mu}\mathbf{u}(s)\right) ds + i \int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s)\mathbf{M} \left(P_{\mu}\mathbf{u}(s)\right) dW(s) \right), \quad (6.45)$$

and let us write $\mathbf{u}_0^{\mu} = P_{\mu} \mathbf{u}_0$. By the dominated convergence theorem,

$$\|\mathbf{u}_0^{\mu} - \mathbf{u}_0\|_{L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^s)} \to 0 \quad \text{as } \mu \to \infty.$$
(6.46)

To prove that the solutions of the regularised problem converge, we need the fact that

$$\lim_{\mu \to \infty} \left\| (1 - P_{\mu}) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{f}) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K, \mathbf{H}^{s})} = 0$$
(6.47)

for all $\mathbf{f} \in \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$. For any orthonormal basis $\{e_i\}$ of K we have, for each component $M_i(\mathbf{f})$,

$$\|(1 - P_{\mu})M_{i}(\mathbf{f})\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K, H^{s_{i}})}^{2} = \sum_{j} \|(1 - P_{\mu})M_{i}(\mathbf{f})e_{j}\|_{H^{s_{i}}}^{2}$$
$$= \sum_{j} \int (1 - \theta_{\mu}(\xi))^{2} |\widehat{m}_{i,j}(\xi)|^{2} \langle \xi \rangle^{2s_{i}} d\xi,$$

where $m_{i,j} = M_i(\mathbf{f})e_j \in H^{s_i}$ and

$$\sum_{j} \int |\widehat{m}_{i,j}(\xi)|^2 \langle \xi \rangle^{2s_i} d\xi = \|M_i(\mathbf{f})\|_{\mathcal{L}_2(K,H^{s_i})}^2 < \infty.$$

The dominated convergence theorem therefore implies (6.47).

We shall prove the following.

Theorem 7 (Regularised global existence). Let R > 0, $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and -1/2 < b' < 0 < b < 1/2. Assume that (6.4)–(6.9) are satisfied. Assume that $\mathbf{u}_0 \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})$ is \mathcal{F}_0 -measurable. Then for all $\mu \geq 1$ and T > 0 the regularised problem (6.45) has a unique solution $\mathbf{u}^{\mu} \in Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)$, with initial value \mathbf{u}_0^{μ} , and $\mathcal{F}_x \mathbf{u}^{\mu}$ is supported in $[-2\mu, 2\mu]$. Moreover,

$$\|\mathbf{u}^{\mu}\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)} \le C_{T,R,b} \|\mathbf{u}_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbf{H}^{s})}, \qquad (6.48)$$

where the constant is independent of μ . Finally, letting **u** be as in Theorem 6 (where it is denoted \mathbf{u}^{R}), we have

$$\lim_{\mu \to \infty} \| \mathbf{u}^{\mu} - \mathbf{u} \|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T)} = 0.$$
(6.49)

Before proving the above theorem, let us remark that the main reason for regularising is that we can then apply Itô's formula, as formulated in Theorem 2.10 in [17]; it does not apply directly to the problem (6.16), since the deterministic integral may not make sense as a Bochner integral in $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$. But in the frequency-truncated problem (6.45), the corresponding integral makes sense even in the more regular space $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}'}$, by the assumption (6.9) and the fact that P_{μ} maps $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}}$ into $\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}'}$. Then [17, Theorem 2.10] can be applied (after applying $\mathbf{S}(-t)$ on both sides of (6.45), and passing P_{μ} inside the integrals). Passing to the limit $\mu \to \infty$, one can then hope to get Itô's formula also for (6.16). Indeed, this works out in a case of particular interest to us here, namely the conservation of charge for the stochastic Dirac-Klein-Gordon system. The details of this are shown in Section 7.

We now prove Theorem 7. The existence and uniqueness works by a fixed point argument as in the proof of Theorem 6, up to some obvious modifications, since P_{μ} is bounded on all the spaces involved. From (6.45) it is obvious that $\mathcal{F}_x \mathbf{u}^{\mu}$ is supported in $[-2\mu, 2\mu]$. So it remains to prove (6.49). As in the proof of Theorem 6 we cut [0, T]into short intervals of length δ , where $\delta > 0$ is chosen sufficiently small depending on Rand T (but not on μ). Suppose that we have proved (6.49) on [0, S] for some $0 \leq S < T$; if S = 0, we appeal to (6.46). Now we must prove (6.49) on [S, S'] with $S' = S + \delta$. To this end, write

$$\mathbf{u}^{\mu}(t) - \mathbf{u}(t) = \Delta_{1}^{\mu}(t) + \Delta_{2}^{\mu}(t) + \Delta_{3}^{\mu}(t) + \Delta_{4}^{\mu}(t) \text{ for } t \ge S$$

where

$$\begin{split} &\Delta_{1}^{\mu}(t) = \mathbf{S}(t-S) \left(\mathbf{u}^{\mu}(S) - \mathbf{u}(S) \right), \\ &\Delta_{2}^{\mu}(t) = i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[P_{\mu} \mathbf{N} \left(\Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}^{\mu}}(s) P_{\mu} \mathbf{u}^{\mu}(s) \right) - \mathbf{N} \left(\Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}}(s) \mathbf{u}(s) \right) \right] ds, \\ &\Delta_{3}^{\mu}(t) = i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[P_{\mu} \mathbf{L} \left(P_{\mu} \mathbf{u}^{\mu}(s) \right) - \mathbf{L} \left(\mathbf{u}(s) \right) \right] ds, \\ &\Delta_{4}^{\mu}(t) = i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[P_{\mu} \mathbf{M} \left(P_{\mu} \mathbf{u}^{\mu}(s) \right) - \mathbf{M} \left(\mathbf{u}(s) \right) \right] dW(s). \end{split}$$

First, by (2.26) and the induction hypothesis,

$$\|\Delta_{1}^{\mu}\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} \le C \,\|\mathbf{u}^{\mu}(S) - \mathbf{u}(S)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})} \to 0 \quad \text{as } \mu \to \infty.$$
(6.50)

Second, write

$$\Delta_2^{\mu}(t) = \Delta_{2,1}^{\mu}(t) + \Delta_{2,2}^{\mu}(t),$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_{2,1}^{\mu}(t) &= iP_{\mu} \int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left[\mathbf{N} \left(\Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}^{\mu}}(s) P_{\mu} \mathbf{u}^{\mu}(s) \right) - \mathbf{N} \left(\Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}}(s) \mathbf{u}(s) \right) \right] \, ds, \\ \Delta_{2,2}^{\mu}(t) &= i(P_{\mu}-1) \int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \mathbf{N} \left(\Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}}(s) \mathbf{u}(s) \right) \, ds. \end{aligned}$$

Estimating as in the proof of Theorem 6, we get

$$\begin{split} \left\| \Delta_{2,1}^{\mu} \right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} &\leq C(1+R)^{\frac{p-1}{2}} \delta^{\varepsilon} \left\| P_{\mu} \Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}^{\mu}} \mathbf{u}^{\mu} - \Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}} \mathbf{u} \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S'))} \\ &\leq C(1+R)^{\frac{p-1}{2}} \delta^{\varepsilon} \left(\left\| P_{\mu} \left[\Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}^{\mu}} \mathbf{u}^{\mu} - \Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}} \mathbf{u} \right] \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S'))} \\ &+ \left\| (1-P_{\mu}) \Theta_{R}^{\mathbf{u}} \mathbf{u} \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S'))} \right) \\ &\leq C(1+R)^{\frac{p-1}{2}} \left(\delta^{\varepsilon} \left\| \mathbf{u}^{\mu} - \mathbf{u} \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S'))} + \rho(\mu, S) \right), \end{split}$$
(6.51)

where

$$\rho(\mu, S) = \|\mathbf{u}^{\mu} - \mathbf{u}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s}, b}(0, S))} + \|(1 - P_{\mu})\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega, \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s}, b}(0, T))} \to 0 \quad \text{as } \mu \to \infty, \quad (6.52)$$

by the induction hypothesis and the dominated convergence theorem. Write $\Delta_{2,2}^{\mu} = (1 - P_{\mu})\mathbf{v}$, where $\mathbf{v} \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},B}(0,T))$, by the proof of Theorem 6. Then by (2.29) and dominated convergence,

$$\left\|\Delta_{2,2}^{\mu}\right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} \le C \left\|(1-P_{\mu})\mathbf{v}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},B}(0,T))} \to 0 \quad \text{as } \mu \to \infty.$$
(6.53)

The estimates for Δ_2 apply also to Δ_3 (with p = 1). Finally, we split

$$\Delta_4^{\mu}(t) = \Delta_{4,1}^{\mu}(t) + \Delta_{4,2}^{\mu}(t) + \Delta_{4,3}^{\mu}(t),$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Delta^{\mu}_{4,1}(t) &= i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) P_{\mu} \mathbf{M} \left(P_{\mu} \left[\mathbf{u}^{\mu} - \mathbf{u} \right](s) \right) \, dW(s), \\ \Delta^{\mu}_{4,2}(t) &= i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) P_{\mu} \mathbf{M} \left(\left[P_{\mu} - 1 \right] \mathbf{u}(s) \right) \, dW(s), \\ \Delta^{\mu}_{4,3}(t) &= i \int_{S}^{t} \mathbf{S}(t-s) \left(P_{\mu} - 1 \right) \mathbf{M} \left(\mathbf{u}(s) \right) \, dW(s). \end{split}$$

Then as the proof of Theorem 6, and using the boundedness of P_{μ} ,

$$\left\|\Delta_{4,1}^{\mu}\right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} \le C\delta^{b} \left\|\mathbf{u}^{\mu} - \mathbf{u}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S'))}.$$
(6.54)

By the dominated convergence theorem,

E. Dinvay, S. Selberg / Journal of Functional Analysis 287 (2024) 110565

$$\left\|\Delta_{4,2}^{\mu}\right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} \le C \left\|(1-P_{\mu})\mathbf{u}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{s},b}(0,T))} \to 0 \quad \text{as } \mu \to \infty.$$
(6.55)

By (6.26) and Lemma 17,

$$\left\|\Delta_{4,3}^{\mu}\right\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} \le C\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{T} \left\|(1-P_{\mu})\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}(s))\right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}(K,\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{s}})}^{2} ds\right) \to 0 \quad \text{as } \mu \to \infty, \quad (6.56)$$

using (6.47) and the dominated convergence theorem.

Combining (6.50)–(6.56), we conclude that

$$\|\mathbf{u}^{\mu} - \mathbf{u}\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} \le \frac{1}{2} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mu} - \mathbf{u}\|_{Z^{\mathbf{s},b}(S,S')} + o(1) \text{ as } \mu \to \infty,$$

for $\delta = S' - S$ small enough. Together with the induction hypothesis this implies (6.49) on the interval [0, S'], and by induction we then obtain the convergence on the whole interval [0, T]. This completes the proof of Theorem 7.

6.10. Proof of Theorem 1

For the convenience of the reader, we now show exactly how the abstract framework applies to prove our first main result, Theorem 1, except for the charge conservation, which is proved in the next section.

Taking d = 1 and n = 3, we can cast the stochastic DKG system (3.1), (3.2) in the form (6.12), with

$$\mathbf{u} = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_+\\ \psi_-\\ \phi_+ \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{u}_0 = \begin{pmatrix} f_+\\ f_-\\ g_+ \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{h}(\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} +\xi\\ -\xi\\ +\langle\xi\rangle \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{S}(t)\mathbf{u}_0 = \begin{pmatrix} S_{+\xi}(t)f_+\\ S_{-\xi}(t)f_-\\ S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t)g_+ \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{u}) = \begin{pmatrix} i\phi\psi_-\\ i\phi\psi_+\\ i\phi\psi_+\\ i\langle D_x\rangle^{-1}\operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{\psi_+}\psi_-\right) \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} -iM\psi_- - M_{\mathfrak{K}_1}\psi_+\\ -iM\psi_+ - M_{\mathfrak{K}_1}\psi_-\\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{u}) = \begin{pmatrix} i\psi_-\mathfrak{K}_1\\ i\psi_+\mathfrak{K}_1\\ (i/2)\langle D_x\rangle^{-1}\phi\mathfrak{K}_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

where ϕ stands for $\phi_+ + \overline{\phi_+}$. Let $s, r \in \mathbb{R}$ and 0 < b < 1/2 be as in Lemma 7, and set b' = -b. Corresponding to $\mathbf{s} = (s, s, r)$ we then define the spaces $\mathbf{H}^{(s,s,r)}$ and $\mathbf{X}^{(s,s,r),b}$ as in (3.5) and (3.6). Define the Wiener process W(t) using $K = L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ with an orthonormal basis $\{e_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$. Assume that the convolution kernels satisfy $\mathfrak{k}_1 \in H^{|s|}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ and $\mathfrak{k}_2 \in H^{\max(0,r-1)}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$.

The boundedness (6.4) of **M** is now a consequence of Lemma 6. Concerning **N**, the property (6.5) is obvious, (6.6), (6.7) follow from Lemma 7, and (6.9) holds by Lemma 9,

if we take $\mathbf{s}' = (s', s', r')$ with $s' = r' > \max(r, s, 1/2)$. For **L**, the bound in (6.8) holds by Lemma 8, and the bound in (6.9) is trivial.

So with the above set-up, Theorem 1, with the exception of the charge conservation (considered below), follows from Theorems 3 and 4.

7. Charge conservation

Let s = 0 and 0 < r < 1/2. We now prove the statement in Theorem 1 about charge conservation of the local solution (ψ_+, ψ_-, ϕ) , almost surely for $0 \le t < \tau$. Let R > 0. As explained in Section 6, the solution equals, up to the conditional stopping time τ_R , the solution $(\psi_+^R, \psi_-^R, \phi^R)$ of the *R*-truncated problem, obtained in Theorem 6 via the set-up in Section 6.10. Since $\tau_R \to \tau$ as $R \to \infty$, it clearly suffices to prove the charge conservation for $(\psi_+^R, \psi_-^R, \phi^R)$.

In the remainder of this section we fix R > 0, and to simplify the notation we drop the superscript R on the solution. Thus, (ψ_+, ψ_-, ϕ) denotes the global solution of the truncated versions of (3.1), (3.2):

$$\psi_{\pm}(t) = S_{\pm\xi}(t)f_{\pm} - iM\int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s)\psi_{\mp}(s)\,ds + i\int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s)(\Theta\phi\Theta\psi_{\mp})(s)\,ds$$
$$+ i\int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s)\psi_{\mp}(s)\mathfrak{K}_{1}\,dW(s) - M_{\mathfrak{K}_{1}}\int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s)\psi_{\pm}(s)\,ds, \quad (7.1)$$

and

$$\phi_{+}(t) = S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t)g_{+} + i\int_{0}^{t} S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t-s) \langle D_{x} \rangle^{-1} \operatorname{Re}\left(\Theta\overline{\psi_{+}}\Theta\psi_{-}\right)(s) ds + \frac{i}{2} \int_{0}^{t} S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t-s) \langle D_{x} \rangle^{-1} \phi(s)\mathfrak{K}_{2} dW(s).$$
(7.2)

Here $\phi = 2 \operatorname{Re} \phi_+$ and $\Theta(t)$ is defined as in (3.12), with s = 0. We assume that θ is even, so that $P_{\mu}f$ is real-valued if f is.

Set $\psi = (\psi_+, \psi_-)$ and $\psi_0 = (f_+, f_-)$. We will prove that the charge is almost surely conserved:

$$\|\psi(t)\|_{L^2}^2 = \|\psi_0\|_{L^2}^2 \quad \text{for } t \ge 0.$$

To this end, we want to apply Itô's formula with the functional $\mathcal{H}: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}$ given by

E. Dinvay, S. Selberg / Journal of Functional Analysis 287 (2024) 110565

$$\mathcal{H}(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} |u(x)|^2 \, dx.$$

However, as discussed in Section 6.9, it is necessary to first regularise the problem. So for $\mu \geq 1$ we consider the solution $(\psi^{\mu}_{+}, \psi^{\mu}_{-}, \phi^{\mu})$, obtained in Theorem 7, of the frequency-truncated equations

$$\psi_{\pm}^{\mu}(t) = S_{\pm\xi}(t)P_{\mu}f_{\pm} - iM\int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s)P_{\mu}^{2}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu}(s)\,ds + i\int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s)P_{\mu}\left(\Theta P_{\mu}\phi^{\mu}\cdot\Theta P_{\mu}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu}\right)(s)\,ds + i\int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s)P_{\mu}\left(P_{\mu}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu}(s)\right)\mathfrak{K}_{1}\,dW(s) - M_{\mathfrak{K}_{1}}\int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s)P_{\mu}^{2}\psi_{\pm}^{\mu}(s)\,ds,$$
(7.3)

and

$$\phi^{\mu}_{+}(t) = S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t)P_{\mu}g_{+} + i\int_{0}^{t} S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t-s) \langle D_{x} \rangle^{-1} P_{\mu} \operatorname{Re}\left(\Theta P_{\mu}\overline{\psi^{\mu}_{+}} \cdot \Theta P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}_{-}\right)(s) ds$$
$$+ \frac{i}{2} \int_{0}^{t} S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t-s) \langle D_{x} \rangle^{-1} P_{\mu}(P_{\mu}\phi^{\mu})(s)\mathfrak{K}_{2} dW(s), \quad (7.4)$$

where $\phi^{\mu} = 2 \operatorname{Re} \phi^{\mu}_{+}$. Set $\psi^{\mu} = (\psi^{\mu}_{+}, \psi^{\mu}_{-})$. Then by Theorem 7 we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\left(\|\psi^{\mu}(t)-\psi(t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}+\|\phi^{\mu}(t)-\phi(t)\|_{H^{r}}^{2}\right)\right)\to 0 \quad \text{as } \mu\to\infty$$
(7.5)

for any T > 0. Moreover, the spatial Fourier transform of $(\psi^{\mu}_{+}, \psi^{\mu}_{-}, \phi^{\mu})$ is supported in $[-2\mu, 2\mu]$.

Notice that $\mathcal{H}(\psi^{\mu}) = \mathcal{H}(\psi^{\mu}_{+}) + \mathcal{H}(\psi^{\mu}_{-})$ and that the first and second derivatives of the functional \mathcal{H} are given by the linear form $\mathcal{H}'(u) = 2 \operatorname{Re}\langle \cdot, u \rangle_{L^2}$ and the bilinear form $\mathcal{H}''(u) = 2 \operatorname{Re}\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{L^2}$.

In terms of $X_{\pm}(t) = S_{\pm\xi}(-t)\psi_{\pm}^{\mu}(t)$ we can rewrite (7.3) as

$$X_{\pm}(t) = X_{\pm}(0) + \int_{0}^{t} \Psi(s) \, ds + \int_{0}^{t} \Phi(s) \, dW(s),$$

where

$$\Psi(t) = -iMS_{\pm\xi}(-t)P_{\mu}^{2}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu}(t) + iS_{\pm\xi}(-t)P_{\mu}(\Theta P_{\mu}\phi^{\mu}\cdot\Theta P_{\mu}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu})(t) - M_{\mathfrak{K}_{1}}S_{\pm\xi}(-t)P_{\mu}^{2}\psi_{\pm}^{\mu}(t)$$

and

$$\Phi(t) = iS_{\pm\xi}(-t)P_{\mu}\left(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}_{\mp}(t)\right)\mathfrak{K}_{1}.$$

Applying now Itô's formula, as stated in [17, Theorem 2.10], we get

$$\mathcal{H}(X_{\pm}(t)) - \mathcal{H}(X_{\pm}(0)) = \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{H}'(X_{\pm}(s))\Psi(s) \, ds + \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{H}'(X_{\pm}(s))\Phi(s) \, dW(s) + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \mathcal{H}''(X_{\pm}(s)) \left(\Phi(s), \Phi(s)\right) \, ds.$$

Using the fact that the group $S_{\pm\xi}(t)$ is unitary on $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, the above works out to be

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{H}(\psi_{\pm}^{\mu}(t)) &- \mathcal{H}(\psi_{\pm}^{\mu}(0)) \\ &= \int_{0}^{t} 2\operatorname{Re}\left\langle -iMP_{\mu}^{2}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu}(s) + iP_{\mu}(\Theta P_{\mu}\phi^{\mu} \cdot \Theta P_{\mu}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu})(s) - M_{\mathfrak{K}_{1}}P_{\mu}^{2}\psi_{\pm}^{\mu}(s), \psi_{\pm}^{\mu}(s)\right\rangle_{L^{2}} ds \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} 2\operatorname{Re}\left\langle iP_{\mu}\left(P_{\mu}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu}(s)\right)\mathfrak{K}_{1}\cdot, \psi_{\pm}^{\mu}(s)\right\rangle_{L^{2}} dW(s) \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty}\operatorname{Re}\left\langle iP_{\mu}(P_{\mu}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}e_{j}, iP_{\mu}(P_{\mu}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}e_{j}\right\rangle_{L^{2}} ds \\ &= I_{\pm} + II_{\pm} + III_{\pm} \end{split}$$

Since $M, M_{\Re_1} \in \mathbb{R}, P_{\mu}\phi^{\mu}$ and Θ are real-valued, and P_{μ} is hermitian, it is clear that

$$I_{+} + I_{-} = -M_{\mathfrak{K}_{1}} 2 \operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{t} \left(\left\langle P_{\mu} \psi^{\mu}_{+}(s), P_{\mu} \psi^{\mu}_{+}(s) \right\rangle_{L^{2}} + \left\langle P_{\mu} \psi^{\mu}_{-}(s), P_{\mu} \psi^{\mu}_{-}(s) \right\rangle_{L^{2}} \right) \, ds.$$

Thus

$$I_{+} + I_{-} = -2M_{\mathfrak{K}_{1}} \int_{0}^{t} \|P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} ds = -\int_{0}^{t} \|(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}}^{2} ds$$

where $\mathcal{L}_2 = \mathcal{L}_2(L^2, L^2)$ and the last equality holds by Remark 2, since $2M_{\mathfrak{K}_1} = \|\mathfrak{k}_1\|_{L^2}^2$. Next we notice that

$$II_{\pm} = -2\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} \operatorname{Im} \left\langle (P_{\mu}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}e_{j}, P_{\mu}\psi_{\pm}^{\mu}(s) \right\rangle_{L^{2}} dB_{j}(s).$$

56

Thus $II_+ + II_- = 0$, since $\Re_1 e_i$ is a real-valued function. Finally we notice that

$$III_{\pm} = \int_{0}^{t} \left\| P_{\mu}(P_{\mu}\psi_{\mp}^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}}^{2} ds,$$

hence

$$III_{+} + III_{-} = \int_{0}^{t} \left\| P_{\mu}(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}}^{2} ds,$$

where the operator inside the norm is regarded as a composition of three operators (first apply \mathfrak{K}_1 , then multiplication by $P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}$ and finally P_{μ}).

Summing the contributions, we arrive at

$$\mathcal{H}(\psi^{\mu}(t)) - \mathcal{H}(\psi^{\mu}(0)) = \int_{0}^{t} \left(\left\| P_{\mu}(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}}^{2} - \left\| (P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}}^{2} \right) \, ds, \qquad (7.6)$$

and letting $\mu \to \infty$ we get the charge conservation for ψ ,

$$\mathcal{H}(\psi(t)) - \mathcal{H}(\psi(0)) = 0 \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0.$$

Indeed, let T > 0. By (7.5) we know that for some sequence $\mu_k \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$, we have, almost surely,

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\psi^{\mu_k}(t) - \psi(t)\|_{L^2} \to 0 \quad \text{as } k \to \infty.$$

Thus, along $\mu = \mu_k$, the left hand side of (7.6) converges to $\mathcal{H}(\psi(t)) - \mathcal{H}(\psi(0))$ for $0 \leq t \leq T$. Moreover, the right hand side converges to zero by the dominated convergence theorem. Indeed, for μ large enough we have the bounds, uniformly in $s \in [0, T]$,

$$\|P_{\mu}(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}} \leq \|(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}} \leq \|\psi^{\mu}(s)\|_{L^{2}} \,\|\mathfrak{k}_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \leq (\|\psi(s)\|_{L^{2}} + 1)\,\|\mathfrak{k}_{1}\|_{L^{2}}\,,$$

and

$$0 \le \|(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}} - \|P_{\mu}(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}} \le C\left(\|\psi(s)\|_{L^{2}} + 1\right)\|(1 - P_{\mu})(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}},$$

so it only remains to check that $\|(1-P_{\mu})(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}}$ tends to zero along $\mu = \mu_{k}$ as $k \to \infty$. But

$$\begin{aligned} \|(1-P_{\mu})(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}} &\leq \|(1-P_{\mu})\psi(s)\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}} + \|(1-P_{\mu})(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s)-\psi(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}} \\ &\leq \|(1-P_{\mu})\psi(s)\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}} + \|(P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s)-\psi(s))\mathfrak{K}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{2}} \,, \end{aligned}$$

since $||1 - P_{\mu}|| \leq 1$. Now the first term $||(1 - P_{\mu})\psi(s)\mathfrak{K}_1||_{\mathcal{L}_2} \to 0$ by (6.47), and the last term equals

$$\|P_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}(s) - \psi(s)\|_{L^{2}} \|\mathfrak{k}_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \le \|\psi^{\mu}(s) - \psi(s)\|_{L^{2}} \|\mathfrak{k}_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|(P_{\mu} - 1)\psi(s)\|_{L^{2}} \|\mathfrak{k}_{1}\|_{L^{2}}$$

that tends to zero along $\mu = \mu_k$ as $k \to \infty$. This concludes the proof of charge conservation.

8. Global existence

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 2. So we suppose now

$$s = 0, \qquad \frac{1}{4} < r < \frac{1}{2}, \qquad \max(r, 1 - 2r) < b < 1/2.$$
 (8.1)

Fix some Lebesgue exponent

$$p \ge \max\left(4, \frac{2b+2r-1}{b+2r-1}\right)$$

and assume $f_{\pm} \in L^p(\Omega, L^2)$, as well as $g_+ \in L^2(\Omega, H^r)$.

Consider the local solution (ψ_+, ψ_-, ϕ_+) from Theorem 1, existing up to the stopping time τ . For $R \geq 1$ let $(\psi_+^R, \psi_-^R, \phi_+^R)$ be the solution of the truncated problem (7.1), (7.2), obtained in Theorem 6; it equals (ψ_+, ψ_-, ϕ_+) up to the stopping time τ_R , which increases to τ as $R \to \infty$. As proved in the last section, we have almost surely the conservation of charge,

$$\left\|\psi_{+}^{R}(t)\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \left\|\psi_{-}^{R}(t)\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \left\|\psi_{0}\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0.$$
(8.2)

And by (6.23) we have

$$\tau < \infty \implies \left\| \psi_{+}^{R} \right\|_{X^{0,b}_{+\xi}(0,\tau_{R})} + \left\| \psi_{-}^{R} \right\|_{X^{0,b}_{-\xi}(0,\tau_{R})} + \left\| \phi_{+}^{R} \right\|_{X^{r,b}_{+(\xi)}(0,\tau_{R})} \ge C\sqrt{R} \quad \text{for all } R,$$
(8.3)

where C depends only on b.

We now claim that for all $R, T \ge 1$ we have bounds

$$\|\phi_{+}^{R}\|_{L^{2}\left(\Omega, X^{r, b}_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(0, T)\right)} \leq C(T) \left(\|g_{+}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega, H^{r})} + \|\psi_{0}\|_{L^{4}(\Omega, L^{2})}^{2}\right)$$
(8.4)

and

$$\left\|\psi_{\pm}^{R}\right\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega, X_{\pm\xi}^{0,b}(0,T)\right)} \leq C\left(T, \left\|g_{+}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega, H^{r})}, \left\|\psi_{0}\right\|_{L^{p}(\Omega, L^{2})}\right),$$
(8.5)

which are uniform in R. That is, the right hand sides do not depend on R. Note that by Hölder's inequality, (8.4) implies the $L^1(\Omega)$ -bound

E. Dinvay, S. Selberg / Journal of Functional Analysis 287 (2024) 110565

$$\left\|\phi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega, X_{+\langle\xi\rangle}^{r, b}(0, T)\right)} \leq C(T) \left(\left\|g_{+}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega, H^{r})} + \left\|\psi_{0}\right\|_{L^{4}(\Omega, L^{2})}^{2}\right).$$
(8.6)

Granting the above claim for the moment, then we can almost surely exclude the scenario $\tau < \infty$, as follows. Since $\{\tau < \infty\} = \bigcup_{T=1}^{\infty} \{\tau < T\}$, it suffices to check that $\mathbb{P}(\{\tau < T\}) = 0$ for all $T \ge 0$. But (8.3) implies that

$$\left\|\psi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega, X_{+\xi}^{0,b}(0,T)\right)} + \left\|\psi_{-}^{R}\right\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega, X_{-\xi}^{0,b}(0,T)\right)} + \left\|\phi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega, X_{+\langle\xi\rangle}^{r,b}(0,T)\right)} \ge C\sqrt{R}\mathbb{P}\left(\{\tau < T\}\right)$$

for all $R \ge 1$. So if $\mathbb{P}(\{\tau < T\}) > 0$, then letting $R \to \infty$ we get a contradiction to (8.6) and (8.5).

It remains to prove the claim. Fix $R, T \ge 1$. We first prove (8.4). Here we follow the proof of the bound (6.18) in Theorem 6, but with one crucial difference: to ensure that the bounds are uniform in R, we have to avoid using the cutoff bound (6.36) at any point.

We cut [0, T] into small subintervals $[0, \delta]$, $[\delta, 2\delta]$ etc. Fix now a subinterval [S, S'], $S' = S + \delta$. Recall that ϕ_+^R satisfies (7.2), which we rewrite as

$$\phi^{R}_{+}(t) = S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t-S)\phi^{R}_{+}(S) + \Phi_{S}(t) + \Psi_{S}(t)$$

where

$$\Phi_{S}(t) = i \int_{S}^{t} S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t-s) \langle D_{x} \rangle^{-1} \operatorname{Re}\left(\Theta \overline{\psi_{+}^{R}} \Theta \psi_{-}^{R}\right)(s) ds,$$

$$\Theta(t) = \theta_{R}\left(\left\|\psi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{\widetilde{X}_{+\xi}^{0,b}(0,t)}^{2} + \left\|\psi_{-}^{R}\right\|_{\widetilde{X}_{-\xi}^{0,b}(0,t)}^{2} + \left\|\phi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{\widetilde{X}_{+\langle\xi\rangle}^{r,b}(0,t)}^{2}\right)$$

and

$$\Psi_S(t) = \frac{i}{2} \int_S^t S_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(t-s) \langle D_x \rangle^{-1} \phi^R(s) \mathfrak{K}_2 \, dW(s)$$

Write

$$\left\|\phi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{Z(S,S')} = \left\|\phi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{L^{2}\left(\Omega, X_{+\langle\xi\rangle}^{r,b}(S,S')\right)} + \left\|\phi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{L^{2}\left(\Omega, C([S,S'], H^{r})\right)}$$

As in the proof of Theorem 6 we obtain (using Corollary 3)

$$\|\Psi_{S}\|_{Z(S,S')} \le C\delta^{b} \|\phi_{+}^{R}\|_{Z(S,S')}.$$

So taking δ small enough, depending on b, we get, using also (2.26) and (2.29),

$$\left\|\phi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{Z(S,S')} \leq C\left(\left\|\phi_{+}^{R}(S)\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,H^{r})} + \left\|\Phi_{S}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,X^{r,1}_{+(\xi)}(S,S'))}\right).$$

By (2.27), and using $|\Theta| \leq 1$, we get, almost surely,

$$\|\Phi_S\|_{X^{r,1}_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(S,S')} \le C \left\|\overline{\psi^R_+}\psi^R_-\right\|_{L^2_t((S,S'),H^{r-1})} \le C\sqrt{\delta} \|\psi_0\|^2_{L^2},$$

where we used the Sobolev product law (2.13), (2.14), and the conservation of charge (8.2). So we conclude that on each subinterval $[S, S'] = [n\delta, (n+1)\delta]$ we have

$$\|\phi_{+}^{R}\|_{Z(n\delta,(n+1)\delta)} \leq C\left(\|\phi_{+}^{R}(n\delta)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,H^{r})} + \sqrt{\delta} \|\psi_{0}\|_{L^{4}(\Omega,L^{2})}^{2}\right).$$

For n = 0, $\phi_+^R(n\delta) = g_+$, while for $n \ge 1$,

$$\|\phi_{+}^{R}(n\delta)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,H^{r})} \leq \|\phi_{+}^{R}\|_{Z((n-1)\delta,n\delta)}$$

It follows that

 $\left\|\phi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{Z(n\delta,(n+1)\delta)} \leq C^{n+1} \left\|g_{+}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,H^{r})} + \left(C + C^{2} + \dots + C^{n+1}\right)\sqrt{\delta} \left\|\psi_{0}\right\|_{L^{4}(\Omega,L^{2})}^{2} \quad \text{for } n = 0,\dots,T/\delta.$

Summing over the subintervals now yields (8.4).

With (8.4) in hand, we now prove (8.5). The field ψ^R_{\pm} satisfies (7.1), which we write here as

$$\psi_{\pm}^{R}(t) = S_{\pm\xi}(t)f_{\pm} + \sum_{j=1}^{4} \Psi_{j,\pm}(t)$$

with

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{1,\pm}(t) &= -iM \int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s)\psi_{\mp}^{R}(s) \, ds, \\ \Psi_{2,\pm}(t) &= -M_{\Re_{1}} \int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s)\psi_{\pm}^{R}(s) \, ds, \\ \Psi_{3,\pm}(t) &= i \int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s)\psi_{\mp}^{R}(s)\Re_{1} \, dW(s), \\ \Psi_{4,\pm}(t) &= i \int_{0}^{t} S_{\pm\xi}(t-s) \left(\Theta\phi^{R}\Theta\psi_{\mp}^{R}\right)(s) \, ds. \end{split}$$

In the estimates for these terms, we use the bounds (2.26) and (2.27) on a time interval [0, T] with $T \ge 1$, hence the factors \sqrt{T} and $T^{3/2}$ come up. By (2.26),

$$\|S_{\pm\xi}(t)f_{\pm}\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega, X_{\pm\xi}^{0,b}(0,T)\right)} \leq C\sqrt{T} \,\|\psi_{0}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega, L^{2})} \leq C\sqrt{T} \,\|\psi_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega, L^{2})} \,.$$
(8.7)

By (2.27) and the charge conservation (8.2),

$$\begin{split} \|\Psi_{1,\pm}\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega,X_{\pm\xi}^{0,b}(0,T)\right)} &\leq CMT^{3/2} \left\|\psi_{\mp}^{R}\right\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega,X_{\pm\xi}^{0,0}(0,T)\right)} = CMT^{3/2} \left\|\psi_{\mp}^{R}\right\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega,L^{2}((0,T)\times\mathbb{R})\right)} \\ &\leq CMT^{2} \left\|\psi_{0}\right\|_{L^{2}\left(\Omega,L^{2}\right)}, \end{split}$$

$$\tag{8.8}$$

and similarly for $\Psi_{2,\pm}$. Applying Lemma 17 with the operator $M_1(f) = f\mathfrak{K}_1$, which by Remark 2 satisfies $\|M_1(f)\|_{\mathcal{L}_2(L^2,L^2)} = \|f\|_{L^2} \|\mathfrak{k}_1\|_{L^2}$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Psi_{3,\pm}\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega,X_{\pm\xi}^{0,b}(0,T)\right)} &\leq \|\Psi_{3,\pm}\|_{L^{2}\left(\Omega,X_{\pm\xi}^{0,b}(0,T)\right)} \leq C \left\|\psi_{\mp}^{R}\right\|_{L^{2}\left(\Omega,L^{2}((0,T)\times\mathbb{R})\right)} \\ &\leq C\sqrt{T} \left\|\psi_{0}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,L^{2})}. \end{aligned}$$
(8.9)

By (2.27) with the time regularity 1 - b > 1/2 on the left hand side,

$$\|\Psi_{4,\pm}\|_{X^{0,b}_{\pm\xi}(0,T)} \le CT^{3/2} \|\Theta\phi^R\Theta\psi^R_{\mp}\|_{X^{0,-b}_{\pm\xi}(0,T)}.$$

Note that (8.1) implies 1/2 - r < b/2 < b. So if one defines μ by

$$\frac{1}{2} - r = \mu b,$$

then $0 < \mu < 1/2$, and we find ourselves in the assumption of Corollary 2. Therefore, one can bound the norm on the right hand side as

$$\left\| \Theta \phi^R \Theta \psi^R_{\mp} \right\|_{X^{0,-b}_{\pm\xi}(0,T)} \le C \left\| \Theta \phi^R_{\pm} \right\|_{X^{r,b}_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(0,T)} \left\| \Theta \psi^R_{\mp} \right\|_{X^{0,b}_{\pm\xi}(0,T)}^{\mu} \left\| \Theta \psi^R_{\mp} \right\|_{L^2((0,T)\times\mathbb{R})}^{1-\mu},$$

where the last norm

$$\left\|\Theta\psi_{\mp}^{R}\right\|_{L^{2}((0,T)\times\mathbb{R})} \leq \sqrt{T} \left\|\psi_{0}\right\|_{L^{2}}$$

by charge conservation and the bound $|\Theta| \leq 1$. The first two norms are estimated as

$$\left\|\Theta\phi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{X^{r,b}_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(0,T)} \le C(T) \left\|\phi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{X^{r,b}_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(0,T)}, \quad \left\|\Theta\psi_{\mp}^{R}\right\|_{X^{0,b}_{\mp\xi}(0,T)} \le C(T) \left\|\psi_{\mp}^{R}\right\|_{X^{0,b}_{\mp\xi}(0,T)},$$

where we used (6.37) (with $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{0}$) to dispose of the cutoff in front of ϕ_+^R and ψ_+^R (this is why there appears a constant C(T) depending on T). Combining the above estimates, we have

$$\|\Psi_{4,\pm}\|_{X^{0,b}_{\pm\xi}(0,T)} \le C(T) \|\phi^R_+\|_{X^{r,b}_{+\langle\xi\rangle}(0,T)} \left(\sqrt{T} \|\psi_0\|_{L^2}\right)^{1-\mu} \|\psi^R_{\mp}\|^{\mu}_{X^{0,b}_{\mp\xi}(0,T)}$$

Now write

$$1 = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1-\mu}{q} + \mu$$
, where $q = \frac{1-\mu}{1/2-\mu} = \frac{2b+2r-1}{b+2r-1}$.

Then by Hölder's inequality,

$$\|\Psi_{4,\pm}\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega,X_{\pm\xi}^{0,b}(0,T)\right)} \leq C(T)T^{(1-\mu)/2} \left\|\phi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{L^{2}\left(\Omega,X_{+\langle\xi\rangle}^{r,b}(0,T)\right)} \|\psi_{0}\|_{L^{q}(\Omega,L^{2})}^{1-\mu} \left\|\psi_{\mp}^{R}\right\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega,X_{\mp\xi}^{0,b}(0,T)\right)}^{\mu},$$

$$(8.10)$$

Note that $q \leq p$, so that we can replace L^q by L^p in the last estimate.

So finally, combining (8.7)–(8.10), making use of (8.4), and setting

$$f(T) = \left\|\psi_{+}^{R}\right\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega, X_{+\xi}^{0,b}(0,T)\right)} + \left\|\psi_{-}^{R}\right\|_{L^{1}\left(\Omega, X_{-\xi}^{0,b}(0,T)\right)},$$

we deduce that for all $T \ge 1$ holds

$$f(T) \le CT \|\psi_0\|_{L^2(\Omega, L^2)} + C(T)A(T)T^{(1-\mu)/2} \|\psi_0\|_{L^p(\Omega, L^2)}^{1-\mu} [f(T)]^{\mu},$$

where A(T) stands for the expression on the right hand side of (8.4). Recalling that $0 < \mu < 1/2$, we conclude that

$$f(T) \le CT \left(1 + C(T)A(T)\right) \left(1 + \|\psi_0\|_{L^p(\Omega, L^2)}\right) \left(1 + \sqrt{f(T)}\right)$$

for all $T \ge 1$. By the next lemma, we then get (8.5), and this concludes the proof of global existence.

Lemma 18. If $a, b \in [0, \infty)$ satisfy

$$b \le a \left(1 + \sqrt{b} \right), \tag{8.11}$$

then

 $b < 1 + 4a^2.$

Proof. To get a contradiction, assume that $b \ge 1 + 4a^2$. Then $b \ge 1$, so (8.11) implies $b \le a2\sqrt{b}$, hence $b \le 4a^2$, contradicting our assumption. \Box

9. Bourgain isometry

This section is devoted to the proof of Lemma 4. We start with a very general result related to Bochner spaces. It may be difficult to find it in the existing literature, so we provide here a complete proof.

Lemma 19. Let μ be a σ -finite complete measure on Y and G be a separable Banach space. Consider a closed subspace G_0 in G with the quotient projection $\pi_0 : G \to G/G_0$. The trivial case $G_0 = G$ is excluded, of course. Then there exists a unique linear operator Φ making the following diagram commutative:

where P is the quotient projection and $p \in [1, \infty)$. Moreover, Φ is invertible and $\|\Phi\| = \|\Phi^{-1}\| = 1$.

Proof. We split the proof in several steps starting with the implied correctness of the diagram (9.1).

- (1) Clearly, $L^p(Y,\mu;G_0)$ is a closed subspace in $L^p(Y,\mu;G)$. Hence P is well defined as the corresponding quotient projection, in particular, ||P|| = 1.
- (2) For any $f \in L^p(Y,\mu;G)$ the value $\pi(f)$ is the composition $Y \xrightarrow{f} G \xrightarrow{\pi_0} G/G_0$. Here G and G/G_0 are endowed with the Borel σ -algebras, whereas f is measurable and π_0 is continuous. Therefore $\pi(f)$ is measurable. Moreover, π is linear with $\|\pi\| \leq 1$. Indeed,

$$\|\pi f\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)}^p = \int\limits_Y \|\pi_0 f(y)\|_{G/G_0}^p \, d\mu(y) \leqslant \int\limits_Y \|f(y)\|_G^p \, d\mu(y) = \|f\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G)}^p \, .$$

(3) An important claim implied in the statement is surjectivity of π . Let $h \in L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)$. We need to find an $f \in L^p(Y,\mu;G)$ such that $\pi f = h$. A direct pointwise construction may not necessarily lead even to a measurable function f on Y. So we approximate h by a sequence $h_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$, of simple functions in $L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)$. Then for any $y \in Y$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there is $f_n(y) \in G$ such that $\pi_0(f_n(y)) = h_n(y)$ and f_n is simple. Note that f_n may not converge anywhere. Let us choose a subsequence in $\{h_n\}$, while keeping the same notation, such that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|h_{n+1} - h_n\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)} < \infty.$$

Making use of the fact that μ is σ -finite, that is $Y = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} Y_k$ with disjoint Y_k having $\mu(Y_k) < \infty$, we can introduce a measurable function $\chi : Y \to (0, \infty)$ taking at most countably many values (in fact we need below that it is constant on each Y_k) and normalized by $\int \chi d\mu = 1$. Pointwisely, we have

$$\|h_{n+1}(y) - h_n(y)\|_{G/G_0} = \inf \{\|F\|_G : F - (f_{n+1}(y) - f_n(y)) \in G_0\}.$$

Now let $\{Y_{l_n}^n\}$ be the partition associated with h_n . Then for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we can approximate the infimum on the finest partition $\{Y_{l_{n+1}}^{n+1} \cap Y_{l_n}^n \cap Y_k\}$ of Y as follows

$$\|h_{n+1}(y) - h_n(y)\|_{G/G_0}^p + \frac{\chi(y)}{2^{pn}} > \|F_n(y)\|_G^p,$$

where $F_n(y) - (f_{n+1}(y) - f_n(y)) \in G_0$ and F_n is constant on each $Y_{l_{n+1}}^{n+1} \cap Y_{l_n}^n \cap Y_k$. One sets $F_0 = f_1$ and so $\pi F_0 = h_1$, in particular. Integrating the above inequality one obtains the estimate

$$||h_{n+1} - h_n||_{L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)} + \frac{1}{2^n} \ge ||F_n||_{L^p(Y,\mu;G)},$$

implying

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|F_n\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G)} \leqslant \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|h_{n+1} - h_n\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)} + 1 < \infty.$$

Thus $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} F_n$ converges in $L^p(Y,\mu;G)$ to an F satisfying $\pi F = h$. Indeed,

$$\pi\left(\sum_{n=0}^{N} F_{n}\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} (h_{n+1} - h_{n}) + h_{1} = h_{N+1} \to h \text{ as } N \to \infty.$$

Therefore π is surjective.

(4) Finally, we can define the linear mappings Φ and Ψ in the diagram (9.1). Indeed, by the previous step for any $h \in L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)$ there is an $f_h \in L^p(Y,\mu;G)$ such that $\pi f_h = h$. We set $\Phi(h) = Pf_h$. If we have two elements such that $\pi f_h^1 = \pi f_h^2 = h$ then

$$\int_{Y} \left\| \pi_0 f_h^1(y) - \pi_0 f_h^2(y) \right\|_{G/G_0}^p d\mu(y) = \left\| \pi f_h^1 - \pi f_h^2 \right\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)}^p = 0$$

Hence for a.e. y the difference $f_h^1(y) - f_h^2(y) \in G_0$ and so $f_h^1 - f_h^2 \in L^p(Y, \mu; G_0)$ implying the equality $Pf_h^1 = Pf_h^2$ in $L^p(Y, \mu; G)/L^p(Y, \mu; G_0)$. Thus Φ is a well defined linear operator.

Similarly, for any $h \in L^p(Y,\mu;G)/L^p(Y,\mu;G_0)$ there is obviously an $f_h \in L^p(Y,\mu;G)$ such that $Pf_h = h$. We can set $\Psi(h) = \pi f_h$. If we have two elements satisfying $Pf_h^1 = Pf_h^2 = h$ then their difference $f_h^1 - f_h^2 \in L^p(Y,\mu;G_0)$. Hence for a.e. y the difference $f_h^1(y) - f_h^2(y) \in G_0$ and so

$$\left(\pi f_h^1 - \pi f_h^2\right)(y) = \pi_0 \left(f_h^1(y) - f_h^2(y)\right) = 0$$
 in G/G_0

implying the equality $\pi f_h^1 = \pi f_h^2$ in $L^p(Y, \mu; G/G_0)$. Thus Ψ is well defined as well.

(5) Clearly, so defined Φ and Ψ are the only linear operators making the diagram (9.1) commutative. Moreover, it is straightforward to check that the compositions $\Psi\Phi$ and $\Phi\Psi$ are identities in the spaces $L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)$ and $L^p(Y,\mu;G)/L^p(Y,\mu;G_0)$, respectively. Therefore $\Psi = \Phi^{-1}$.

(6) In this step we prove the bound $\|\Psi\| \leq 1$ which in turn will automatically imply that Φ is bounded as well and $\|\Phi\| \ge 1$. Let $h \in L^p(Y,\mu;G)/L^p(Y,\mu;G_0)$ then by steps 2, 4 we have

$$\|\Psi h\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)} = \|\pi f_h\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)} \le \|f_h\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G)}$$

In other words, $\|\Psi h\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)} \leq \|f\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G)}$ for every f belonging to the preimage $P^{-1}\{h\}$. Therefore passing to infimum over this preimage one recovers the quotient norm of h, so that $\|\Psi h\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)} \leq \|h\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G)/L^p(Y,\mu;G_0)}$, which proves the claim $\|\Psi\| \leq 1$ due to the arbitrary choice of h.

(7) In order to complete the proof of the lemma it is only left to get the bound $\|\Phi\| \leq 1$. Here we need to be careful again about measurability of pointwise quotient norm approximations. So we will check that the bound $\|\Phi h\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G)/L^p(Y,\mu;G_0)} \leq \|h\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)}$ holds for every simple h. It is enough since Φ is already known to be bounded, by the previous step.

Similarly to the previous step, from the identity ||P|| = 1 one deduces

$$\|\Phi h\|_{L^{p}(Y,\mu;G)/L^{p}(Y,\mu;G_{0})} \leq \|f\|_{L^{p}(Y,\mu;G)}, \quad f \in \pi^{-1}\{h\}.$$
(9.2)

Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and function χ be as in step 3. Then

$$\|h\|_{L^{p}(Y,\mu;G/G_{0})}^{p} + \varepsilon = \int_{Y} \left(\inf_{g \in \pi_{0}^{-1}\{h(y)\}} \|g\|_{G}^{p} + \varepsilon \chi(y)\right) d\mu(y),$$

and so there exists $g_{\varepsilon}: Y \to G$ such that

$$\inf_{g\in\pi_0^{-1}\{h(y)\}} \|g\|_G^p + \varepsilon\chi(y) \ge \|g_\varepsilon(y)\|_G^p, \quad \pi_0(g_\varepsilon(y)) = h(y)$$

and it takes at most countably many values, its partition being the finest one for hand χ . In particular, $g_{\varepsilon} \in L^p(Y, \mu; G)$ and $\pi(g_{\varepsilon}) = h$, which because of (9.2) implies

$$\|\Phi h\|_{L^{p}(Y,\mu;G)/L^{p}(Y,\mu;G_{0})}^{p} \leq \|g_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{p}(Y,\mu;G)}^{p} \leq \|h\|_{L^{p}(Y,\mu;G/G_{0})}^{p} + \varepsilon.$$

Passing to the limit one obtains $\|\Phi h\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G)/L^p(Y,\mu;G_0)} \leq \|h\|_{L^p(Y,\mu;G/G_0)}$, completing the proof. \Box

We formulate the following simple lemma, that can be either found in [22] or easily proved with the help of an argument similar to one used in step 6 of the previous proof.

Lemma 20. Consider nontrivial closed subspaces E_0, F_0 in normed spaces E, F, respectively. Let $\mathcal{T} : E \to F$ be a linear bounded operator satisfying $\mathcal{T}(E_0) \subset F_0$. Then there exists a unique linear $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$ making the following diagram commutative:

$$E \xrightarrow{\mathcal{T}} F$$

$$P_1 \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow P_2$$

$$E/E_0 \xrightarrow{\tilde{\mathcal{T}}} F/F_0$$

$$(9.3)$$

Moreover, $\left\|\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}\right\| \leq \|\mathcal{T}\|.$

We take $E = X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}, Y = \mathbb{R}^d, d\mu(\xi) = \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} d\xi, G = H^b(\mathbb{R})$ and $F = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} d\xi; H^b(\mathbb{R}))$. We introduce \mathcal{T} as the isometric extension of $e^{ith(\xi)} \mathcal{F}_x$ defined on the Schwartz space $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{d+1})$ with the property (2.19), so that

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}}^{2} = \int \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} \|\mathcal{T}u(\xi)\|_{H^{b}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} d\xi.$$
(9.4)

Now let us consider an interval I = (S,T) and the closed subspaces $G_0 = \{u \in H^b(\mathbb{R}) : u = 0 \text{ on } I\}, E_0 = \{u \in X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)} : u = 0 \text{ on } I \times \mathbb{R}^d\}$. It is known that $H^b(I) = H^b(\mathbb{R})/G_0$ and $X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(I) = X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}/E_0$ endowed with the quotient norms, of course. We claim that there exists a unique invertible isometry $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$ making the following diagram commutative

$$X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{T}=e^{ith(\xi)}\mathcal{F}_{x}} L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \langle\xi\rangle^{2s}d\xi; H^{b}(\mathbb{R})\right) \xrightarrow{\pi} L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \langle\xi\rangle^{2s}d\xi; H^{b}(I)\right)$$

$$\stackrel{P_{1}}{\longrightarrow} P_{2} \downarrow \xrightarrow{\Phi^{-1}} L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \langle\xi\rangle^{2s}d\xi; H^{b}(\mathbb{R})\right) / L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \langle\xi\rangle^{2s}d\xi; G_{0}\right) \xrightarrow{\xi^{-1}} \Phi$$

$$(9.5)$$

This commutative diagram makes a complete sense of and proves the identity (2.34). In other words, the term $e^{ith(\xi)}\mathcal{F}_x$ staying in (2.34) should be understood as the composition $\Phi^{-1}\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$ having operator norm equal to unity, namely,

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)} = \left(\int \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} \left\| \Phi^{-1} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}} u(\xi) \right\|_{H^b(S,T)}^2 d\xi \right)^{1/2}.$$
(9.6)

In order to appeal to the previous two lemmas, and to prove the claim, one needs only to show the inclusions

$$\mathcal{T}(E_0) \subset L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d, \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} d\xi; G_0\right), \quad \mathcal{T}^{-1}\left(L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d, \langle \xi \rangle^{2s} d\xi; G_0\right)\right) \subset E_0.$$

Moreover, it is enough to check these on the smooth functions, namely, that the following hold

$$\mathcal{T}\left(E_{0}\bigcap\left\{\phi\psi\colon\phi\in\mathcal{S}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right),\psi\in\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})\right\}\right)\subset L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d},\langle\xi\rangle^{2s}d\xi;G_{0}\right),$$
$$\mathcal{T}^{-1}\left(\left\{\phi\psi\colon\phi\in\mathcal{S}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right),\psi\in\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})\bigcap G_{0}\right\}\right)\subset E_{0}.$$

This is obvious and so (9.5) is commutative. Therefore (9.4), (9.6) and (2.19), (2.34) are fully justified.

10. A modified Bourgain norm

In preparation for the proof of the cutoff estimates, we now investigate more closely the modified Bourgain norm defined in (2.35), and derive some of its key properties.

Fix $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $b \in (0, 1/2)$ and $h \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$. Write the norm (2.17) as

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \|U(t,\xi)\|_{H^b_t(\mathbb{R})}^2 \ d\xi \right)^{1/2},$$

where the transform $u(t, x) \mapsto U(t, \xi)$ is defined by

$$U(t,\xi) = \langle \xi \rangle^s e^{ith(\xi)} \widehat{u}(t,\xi).$$

By (2.15), the above norm is equivalent to, with constants depending only on b, the norm

$$\|u\|_{\widehat{X}^{s,b}} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\|U(t,\xi)\|_{L^2_t(\mathbb{R})}^2 + \|U(t,\xi)\|_{S^b_t(\mathbb{R})}^2 \right) d\xi \right)^{1/2}.$$

Inserting here the characteristic function $\mathbb{1}_{(S,T)}(t)$ of a time interval (S,T), we compute

$$\left\|\mathbb{1}_{(S,T)}u\right\|_{\widehat{X}^{s,b}} = \left(\int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\int\limits_{S}^{T} |U(t,\xi)|^2 \left(1 + \frac{1}{b(t-S)^{2b}} + \frac{1}{b(T-t)^{2b}}\right) dt + \|U(t,\xi)\|_{S^b_t(S,T)}^2\right) d\xi\right)^{1/2}.$$
(10.1)

By (2.32), (2.34) the latter is equivalent to, with constants depending only on b, the restriction norm

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}(S,T)} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \|U(t,\xi)\|_{H^b_t(S,T)}^2 d\xi\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (10.2)

The advantage of the norm (10.1) is that it has an explicit expression; there are no restriction norms involved. It is still a bit tricky to work with, however. We will use instead the simpler, modified norm

$$\|u\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}(S,T)} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\frac{1}{(T-S)^{2b}} \int_S^T |U(t,\xi)|^2 dt + \int_S^T \int_S^T \frac{|U(t,\xi) - U(r,\xi)|^2}{|t-r|^{1+2b}} dr dt \right) d\xi \right)^{1/2},$$
(10.3)

which is the same as (2.35), and turns out to be equivalent to the two previous norms. In fact, we have the following.

Lemma 21. Let $T_0 > 0$ and 0 < b < 1/2. Consider an interval (S,T) with length at most T_0 . Then the norms defined on $X^{s,b}(S,T)$ by (10.1), (10.2) and (10.3) are pairwise equivalent, with constants depending only on b and T_0 .

Moreover, for all T > 0 we have the estimate

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}(0,T)} \ge C \,\|u\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}(0,T)}\,,\tag{10.4}$$

where C > 0 depends only on b.

Proof. By translation invariance we may consider the interval (0, T), where $0 < T \le T_0$. By (2.32) we already know that (10.1) and (10.2) are equivalent, uniformly in T (of any size). The equivalence of (10.1) and (10.3) reduces to proving the equivalence of the following norms on $H^b(0, T)$:

$$M_T(\phi) = \left(\int_0^T |\phi(t)|^2 \left(1 + \frac{1}{bt^{2b}} + \frac{1}{b(T-t)^{2b}}\right) dt + \int_0^T \int_0^T \frac{|\phi(t) - \phi(r)|^2}{|t-r|^{1+2b}} dr dt\right)^{1/2}$$

and

$$N_T(\phi) = \left(T^{-2b} \int_0^T |\phi(t)|^2 dt + \int_0^T \int_0^T \frac{|\phi(t) - \phi(r)|^2}{|t - r|^{1+2b}} dr dt\right)^{1/2}$$

First, since 0 < t < T implies $T^{-2b} < t^{-2b}$, it is clear that

$$N_T(\phi) \le b^{1/2} M_T(\phi)$$
 for all $T > 0.$ (10.5)

It remains to show

$$M_T(\phi) \le CN_T(\phi).$$

We claim that this holds for $T = T_0$. Granting this for the moment, it follows that the inequality holds also for $0 < T \le T_0$, since setting $g(s) = \phi(sT/T_0)$ and rescaling yields

$$M_T(\phi)^2 \le \left(\frac{T}{T_0}\right)^{1-2b} M_{T_0}(g)^2 \le C^2 \left(\frac{T}{T_0}\right)^{1-2b} N_{T_0}(g)^2 = C^2 N_T(\phi)^2.$$

It remains to prove the claim, namely $M_{T_0}(g) \leq CN_{T_0}(g)$ for $g \in H^b(0, T_0)$, with C depending on T_0 and b. But on the one hand, (2.15) implies $M_{T_0}(g) = \|\mathbb{1}_{(0,T_0)}g\|_{H^b(\mathbb{R})}$.

On the other hand, $N_{T_0}(g) \sim_{b,T_0} ||g||_{H^b(0,T_0)}$ by (2.16). By (2.31) it now follows that $M_{T_0}(g) \sim_{b,T_0} N_{T_0}(g)$.

Finally, (10.4) is immediate from (10.5). This completes the proof of the lemma.

Before proceeding with the proof of the cutoff estimates, we mention some properties of the modified Bourgain norm (10.3).

Lemma 22. Let $T_0 > 0$ and 0 < b < 1/2. Then for all $0 < T \le T_0$ and all $u \in X^{s,b}(0,T)$ we have the bounds

$$\|u\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}(r,t)} \le C \,\|u\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}(0,T)} \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \le r < t \le T$$
(10.6)

and

$$\|u\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}(0,t)} \le C\left(\|u\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}(0,r)} + \|u\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}(r,t)}\right) \quad for \quad 0 \le r < t \le T,$$
(10.7)

where the constants only depend on b and T_0 .

Proof. We apply Lemma 21. First, (10.6) follows via the equivalence of (10.3) with the restriction norm (10.2), and the fact that the latter is increasing with respect to the interval to which we restrict. Second, (10.7) follows via the equivalence of (10.3) with the sharp cutoff norm (10.1), writing $\mathbb{1}_{(0,t)} = \mathbb{1}_{(0,r)} + \mathbb{1}_{(r,t)}$ (a.e.) and applying the triangle inequality. \Box

Lemma 23. Let 0 < b < 1/2. Assume that $u \in X^{s,b}(0,T)$ and set

$$f(t) = ||u||^2_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}(0,t)}$$
 for $0 < t \le T$.

Then f is continuous on (0,T]. Moreover, if we additionally assume that $u \in C([0,T], H^s)$, then

$$\lim_{t \searrow 0} f(t) = 0,$$

so f extends to a continuous function on [0, T].

Proof. For $0 < t \leq T$,

$$f(t) = t^{-2b} \int_{0}^{t} \|u(r)\|_{H^{s}}^{2} dr + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\|U(r,\xi) - U(\sigma,\xi)\|_{L^{2}_{\xi}}^{2}}{|r-\sigma|^{1+2b}} dr d\sigma.$$
(10.8)

Continuity follows from the dominated convergence theorem. It remains to prove $\lim_{t \searrow 0} f(t) = 0$. For the second term in (10.8), this is clear by dominated convergence, and the first term we bound by

$$t^{-2b} \int_{0}^{t} \|u(r)\|_{H^{s}}^{2} dr \leq t^{1-2b} \sup_{0 \leq r \leq t} \|u(r)\|_{H^{s}}^{2},$$

which tends to zero as $t \searrow 0$ if $u \in C([0,T], H^s)$. \Box

Lemma 24. Assume that $u \in X^{s,b}(0,T) \cap C([0,T], H^s)$ is an H^s -adapted random variable. Then the continuous function $f: [0,T] \to [0,\infty)$ from Lemma 23 is adapted.

Proof. For both terms in (10.8), \mathcal{F}_t -measurability follows by Tonelli's theorem, since u(t) is progressively measurable. \Box

11. Cutoff estimates in H^b and $X^{s,b}$

Here we prove Proposition 1, which we restate below for convenience. Let 0 < b < 1/2. Fix a smooth, compactly supported function $\theta \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, and write $\theta_R(x) = \theta(x/R)$.

Via the transform $u(t, x) \mapsto U(t, \xi) = \langle \xi \rangle^s e^{ith(\xi)} \hat{u}(t, \xi)$, and recalling Lemma 21, we can identify $X_{h(\xi)}^{s,b}(S,T)$ with the space $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, H^b(S,T))$ with norm (this corresponds to (10.3))

$$\|U\|_{(S,T)} = \left\| \left(\frac{1}{(T-S)^{2b}} \int_{S}^{T} |U(t,\xi)|^2 dt + \int_{S}^{T} \int_{S}^{T} \frac{|U(t,\xi) - U(r,\xi)|^2}{|t-r|^{1+2b}} dr dt \right)^{1/2} \right\|_{L^2_{\xi}}$$

If S = 0, we simply write $||U||_T$. This norm is associated to the inner product

$$\langle U, V \rangle_T = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\frac{1}{T^{2b}} \int_0^T U(t,\xi) \overline{V(t,\xi)} \, dt + \int_0^T \int_0^T \frac{[U(t,\xi) - U(r,\xi)] \overline{[V(t,\xi) - V(r,\xi)]}}{|t-r|^{1+2b}} \, dr \, dt \right) \, d\xi.$$

For a vector $\mathbf{U} = (U_1, \ldots, U_n)$ we write

$$\|\mathbf{U}\|_{T} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|U_{i}\|_{T}^{2}\right)^{1/2}$$

With this notation, and taking into account Lemma 21, we can now restate Proposition 1 as follows.

Proposition 2. Let $T_0 > 0$. Then for all $T \in (0, T_0]$ and R > 0 we have the estimates

$$\left\| \theta_R \left(\| \mathbf{U} \|_t^2 \right) \mathbf{U} \right\|_T \leqslant C \sqrt{R}, \tag{11.1}$$

$$\left\|\theta_{R}\left(\left\|\mathbf{U}\right\|_{t}^{2}\right)\mathbf{U}-\theta_{R}\left(\left\|\mathbf{V}\right\|_{t}^{2}\right)\mathbf{V}\right\|_{T} \leqslant C\left\|\mathbf{U}-\mathbf{V}\right\|_{T},$$
(11.2)

where the constant C depends only on b, T_0 and θ .

70

The remainder of this section is devoted to the proof of this result. For convenience, and without loss of generality, we assume that $|\theta| \leq 1$ and θ is supported in [-2, 2]. Throughout we assume that $T_0 > 0$, $b \in (0, 1/2)$ and that functions U, V etc. are in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, H^b(S, T))$, and similarly for vectors \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{V} etc.

We note the bound, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\left|\theta_R(x) - \theta_R(y)\right| \le \frac{C}{R} \left|x - y\right|.$$
(11.3)

This holds with $C = \|\theta'\|_{L^{\infty}}$.

We first prove some preliminary lemmas.

11.1. Preliminary estimates

Lemma 25. For all $T \in (0, T_0]$ and R > 0 we have the estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_0^T |U(t,\xi)|^2 \int_0^t \frac{|\langle V,W\rangle_t - \langle V,W\rangle_r|^2}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} \, dr \, dt \, d\xi \le C \, \|U\|_T^2 \, \|V\|_T^2 \, \|W\|_T^2 \,, \qquad (11.4)$$

where C depends only on b and T_0 .

Proof. We write

$$\langle V, W \rangle_t = \mu(t) + \nu(t),$$

where

$$\begin{split} \mu(t) &= t^{-2b} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int\limits_0^t V(s,\zeta) \overline{W(s,\zeta)} \, ds \, d\zeta, \\ \nu(t) &= 2 \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int\limits_0^t \int\limits_0^s \frac{[V(s,\zeta) - V(\sigma,\zeta)] \overline{[W(s,\zeta) - W(\sigma,\zeta)]}}{(s-\sigma)^{1+2b}} \, d\sigma \, ds \, d\zeta. \end{split}$$

The left side of (11.4) is therefore bounded by 2(I + J), where

$$I = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_0^T |U(t,\xi)|^2 \int_0^t \frac{|\mu(t) - \mu(r)|^2}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} dr \, dt \, d\xi,$$
$$J = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_0^T |U(t,\xi)|^2 \int_0^t \frac{|\nu(t) - \nu(r)|^2}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} \, dr \, dt \, d\xi.$$

To estimate J we note that

$$\nu(t) - \nu(r) = 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_r^t \int_0^s \frac{[V(s,\zeta) - V(\sigma,\zeta)] \overline{[W(s,\zeta) - W(\sigma,\zeta)]}}{(s-\sigma)^{1+2b}} \, d\sigma \, ds \, d\zeta,$$

so by Cauchy-Schwarz,

$$\begin{aligned} |\nu(t) - \nu(r)|^2 &\leq 2 \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int\limits_r^t \int\limits_0^s \frac{|V(s,\zeta) - V(\sigma,\zeta)|^2}{(s-\sigma)^{1+2b}} \, d\sigma \, ds \, d\zeta \\ &\times 2 \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int\limits_r^t \int\limits_0^s \frac{|W(s,\zeta) - W(\sigma,\zeta)|^2}{(s-\sigma)^{1+2b}} \, d\sigma \, ds \, d\zeta, \end{aligned}$$

where the last line is bounded by $||W||_T^2$. Thus

$$J \leq \|W\|_{T}^{2} 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{0}^{T} |U(t,\xi)|^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} \\ \times \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{r}^{t} \int_{0}^{s} \frac{|V(s,\zeta) - V(\sigma,\zeta)|^{2}}{(s-\sigma)^{1+2b}} \, d\sigma \, ds \, d\zeta \right) \, dr \, dt \, d\xi, \quad (11.5)$$

and Lemma 26 below yields the desired estimate $J \leq C \|U\|_T^2 \|V\|_T^2 \|W\|_T^2$. In I we split the innermost integral as $\int_0^{t/2} + \int_{t/2}^t$ and write $I = I_1 + I_2$ accordingly. The term I_1 is easy to handle since $t - r \sim t$. Applying Cauchy-Schwarz and (10.6) to bound $|\mu(t)| \leq \|V\|_t \|W\|_t \leq C \|V\|_T \|W\|_T$, we then simply estimate

$$I_1 \le C \|V\|_T^2 \|W\|_T^2 \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}^d} \iint_0^T |U(t,\xi)|^2 t^{-2b} dt d\xi \right) \le C' \|V\|_T^2 \|W\|_T^2 \|U\|_T^2,$$

where we used Lemma 21 in the last step.

It remains to consider I_2 . Writing

$$\mu(t) = t^{1-2b} f(t), \quad \text{where} \quad f(t) = \frac{1}{t} \int_{0}^{t} g(s) \, ds, \quad g(s) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} V(s,\zeta) \overline{W(s,\zeta)} \, d\zeta,$$

we expand
$$\mu(t) - \mu(r) = (t^{1-2b} - r^{1-2b})f(t) + r^{1-2b}[f(t) - f(r)]$$

$$= (t^{1-2b} - r^{1-2b})f(t) + r^{1-2b} \left[\left(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{1}{r}\right) \int_{0}^{r} g(s) \, ds + \frac{1}{t} \int_{r}^{t} g(s) \, ds \right]$$

$$= \frac{t^{1-2b} - r^{1-2b}}{t^{1-2b}} \mu(t) + \frac{r-t}{t} \mu(r) + \frac{r^{1-2b}}{t} \int_{r}^{t} g(s) \, ds$$

$$=: \Delta_{1} + \Delta_{2} + \Delta_{3}.$$

Thus $I_2 \leq 3(K_1 + K_2 + K_3)$, where

$$K_j = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_0^T |U(t,\xi)|^2 \int_{t/2}^t \frac{\Delta_j^2}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} \, dr \, dt \, d\xi \qquad (j=1,2,3).$$

For K_2 we use once more the bound $|\mu(r)| \leq C \|V\|_T \|W\|_T$ and get

$$K_{2} \leq C \|V\|_{T}^{2} \|W\|_{T}^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{0}^{T} |U(t,\xi)|^{2} t^{-2} \left(\int_{t/2}^{t} (t-r)^{1-2b} dr \right) dt d\xi$$
$$\leq C' \|V\|_{T}^{2} \|W\|_{T}^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{0}^{T} |U(t,\xi)|^{2} t^{-2b} dt d\xi \leq C'' \|V\|_{T}^{2} \|W\|_{T}^{2} \|U\|_{T}^{2}.$$

The same bound is obtained for K_1 , since there $t^{1-2b} - r^{1-2b} \sim t^{-2b}(t-r)$.

For K_3 we bound, by Cauchy-Schwarz,

$$(t-r)^{-2b} \int_{r}^{t} |g(s)| \, ds \le \|V\|_{(r,t)} \, \|W\|_{(r,t)} \le C \, \|V\|_{T} \, \|W\|_{T} \,,$$

where the last inequality follows from (10.6). Thus

$$K_{3} \leq C \|V\|_{T}^{2} \|W\|_{T}^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{0}^{T} |U(t,\xi)|^{2} t^{-4b} \left(\int_{t/2}^{t} (t-r)^{2b-1} dr \right) dt d\xi$$
$$\leq C' \|V\|_{T}^{2} \|W\|_{T}^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{0}^{T} |U(t,\xi)|^{2} t^{-2b} dt d\xi \leq C'' \|V\|_{T}^{2} \|W\|_{T}^{2} \|U\|_{T}^{2}.$$

This completes the proof of the lemma. $\hfill\square$

The following lemma was used in the above proof.

Lemma 26. For all $T \in (0, T_0]$ and R > 0 we have the estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{0}^{T} |U(t,\xi)|^2 \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{r}^{t} \int_{0}^{s} \frac{|V(s,\zeta) - V(\sigma,\zeta)|^2}{(s-\sigma)^{1+2b}} \, d\sigma \, ds \, d\zeta \right) \, dr \, dt \, d\xi \\ \leq C \, \|U\|_T^2 \, \|V\|_T^2 \,,$$

with a constant C depending only on b and T_0 .

Proof. Here 0 < r < s < t < T and $0 < \sigma < s$. Rearranging the order of the integrations, we rewrite the integral as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_0^T \int_0^s \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_s^T |U(t,\xi)|^2 \left(\int_0^s \frac{dr}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} \right) dt d\xi \right) \frac{|V(s,\zeta) - V(\sigma,\zeta)|^2}{(s-\sigma)^{1+2b}} d\sigma ds d\zeta$$
$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_0^T \int_0^s \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_s^T |U(t,\xi)|^2 \frac{1}{2b(t-s)^{2b}} dt d\xi \right) \frac{|V(s,\zeta) - V(\sigma,\zeta)|^2}{(s-\sigma)^{1+2b}} d\sigma ds d\zeta.$$

But by Lemma 21 and (10.6),

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{s}^{T} |U(t,\xi)|^2 \frac{1}{2b(t-s)^{2b}} dt d\xi \le C \|U\|_{(s,T)}^2 \le C \|U\|_T^2,$$

and the claimed inequality then follows. $\hfill\square$

We will also need the following double mean value theorem.

Lemma 27. For all $x, y, X, Y \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\begin{aligned} &|\theta(x) - \theta(y) - \theta(X) + \theta(Y)| \\ &\leq \|\theta''\|_{L^{\infty}} \min\left(|x - y|, |X - Y|\right) \max\left(|x - X|, |y - Y|\right) + \|\theta'\|_{L^{\infty}} |x - y - X + Y|. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. Fix x, y, X, Y. By symmetry we may assume $|x - y| \le |X - Y|$. Defining $\kappa(t) = y + t(x - y)$ and $\rho(t) = Y + t(X - Y)$, we write

$$\theta(x) - \theta(y) = \left(\int_{0}^{1} \theta'(\kappa(t)) dt\right)(x - y) =: I_1(x - y)$$

and

$$\theta(X) - \theta(Y) = \left(\int_{0}^{1} \theta'(\rho(t)) dt\right) (X - Y) =: I_2(X - Y)$$

Then

$$\theta(x) - \theta(y) - \theta(X) + \theta(Y) = (I_1 - I_2)(x - y) + I_2(x - y - X + Y).$$

Clearly, $|I_2| \leq \|\theta'\|_{L^{\infty}}$, so it only remains to check that

$$|I_1 - I_2| \le \|\theta''\|_{L^{\infty}} \frac{1}{2} (|x - X| + |y - Y|).$$

But this is clear since

$$I_1 - I_2 = \int_0^1 \left(\int_0^1 \theta'' \left(\rho(t) + s \left[\kappa(t) - \rho(t) \right] \right) \, ds \right) \left[\kappa(t) - \rho(t) \right] \, dt$$

and

$$|\kappa(t) - \rho(t)| = |y - Y + t(x - y - X + Y)| \le (1 - t)|y - Y| + t|x - X|. \quad \Box$$

With these preliminary results in hand, we are now ready to start the proof of Proposition 2. We split the argument into several steps.

11.2. Cutoff estimate, version I

Lemma 28. For all $T \in (0, T_0]$ and R > 0 we have the estimate

$$\left\| \theta_R \left(\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 \right) V \right\|_T \le C \left(1 + R^{-1} \|\mathbf{U}\|_T^2 \right) \|V\|_T, \qquad (11.6)$$

with a constant C depending only on b and T_0 .

Proof. Setting $\psi(t) = \theta_R(||\mathbf{U}||_t^2)$, the square of the left side of (11.6) equals A + 2B, where

$$\begin{split} A &= \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^d} T^{-2b} \int\limits_0^T |\psi(t)V(t,\xi)|^2 \, dt \, d\xi, \\ B &= \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int\limits_0^T \int\limits_0^t \frac{|\psi(t)V(t,\xi) - \psi(r)V(r,\xi)|^2}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} \, dr \, dt \, d\xi, \end{split}$$

and $|\psi(t)| \leq 1$ implies $A \leq ||V||_T^2$. Clearly, $B \leq 2(B_1 + B_2)$, where

$$B_{1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} |\psi(r)|^{2} \frac{|V(t,\xi) - V(r,\xi)|^{2}}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} dr dt d\xi,$$
$$B_{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{0}^{T} |V(t,\xi)|^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{|\psi(t) - \psi(r)|^{2}}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} dr dt d\xi,$$

where $|\psi(r)| \leq 1$ implies $B_1 \leq ||v_j||_T^2$. In B_2 we estimate, using (11.3),

$$|\psi(t) - \psi(r)| \le \frac{C}{R} \left| \|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 - \|\mathbf{U}\|_r^2 \right|,$$
 (11.7)

and obtain $B_2 \leq R^{-2} \|\mathbf{U}\|_T^4 \|V\|_T^2$ as a consequence of Lemma 25. \Box

Remark 6. The estimate (11.6), using the equivalent norm (10.1) instead of (10.3), is claimed in [15], but there is a gap in the proof. To explain the problem, let us denote by $\||\mathbf{U}||_T$ the norm used in [15], that is, the norm given by (10.1):

$$\|\mathbf{U}\|_{T} = \|\mathbb{1}_{(0,T)}\mathbf{u}\|_{\widehat{X}^{s,b}}, \quad \text{where } \mathbf{U}(t,\xi) = \langle \xi \rangle^{s} e^{ith(\xi)} \widehat{\mathbf{u}}(t,\xi).$$

Then by the triangle inequality we have, for 0 < r < t,

$$\|\|\mathbf{U}\|_{t} - \|\|\mathbf{U}\|_{r} \le \|\mathbb{1}_{(r,t)}\mathbf{u}\|_{\widehat{X}^{s,b}} = \|\|\mathbf{U}\|_{(r,t)}.$$
(11.8)

Combining (11.8) with the analogue of (11.7) for the norm $\|\cdot\|_t$ yields

$$|\psi(t) - \psi(r)| \le \frac{C}{R} |||\mathbf{U}||_{(r,t)} |||\mathbf{U}||_{t},$$
(11.9)

which is essentially what was used in [15], instead of (11.7). But it is easy to see that (11.9) is not enough to prove the estimate for B_2 . Indeed, take **U** and V both to be the function $\mathbb{1}_{(0,T)}(t)f(\xi)$, where 0 < T < 1 and $||f||_{L^2} = 1$. Then by (2.37) we have $||\mathbf{U}||_{(r,t)} \sim (t-r)^{1/2-b}$ and $||\mathbf{U}||_t \sim t^{1/2-b}$, so if we estimate B_2 by using (11.9), then we get

$$B_2 \le \frac{C}{R^2} \int_0^T t^{1-2b} \int_0^t (t-r)^{-4b} \, dr \, dt.$$

But the right hand side equals $+\infty$ unless b < 1/4.

11.3. Cutoff estimate, version II

As a corollary to Lemma 28, we obtain the following variation on that result, proving the bound (11.1) in Proposition 2, as well as (11.2) in the case $\mathbf{V} = 0$.

Lemma 29. For all $T \in (0, T_0]$ and R > 0 we have the estimates

$$\left\|\theta_R\left(\left\|\mathbf{U}\right\|_t^2\right)V\right\|_T \le C \left\|V\right\|_T,\tag{11.10}$$

$$\left\|\theta_R\left(\left\|\mathbf{U}\right\|_t^2\right)\mathbf{U}\right\|_T \le C\sqrt{R},\tag{11.11}$$

with a constant C depending only on b and T_0 .

Proof. We first prove (11.10). Recall the assumption $\operatorname{supp} \theta \subset [-2, 2]$. So if $\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 \geq 2R$ for all $t \in (0, T)$, then the left side of the inequality equals zero. It remains to consider the case where $\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 < 2R$ for some $t \in (0, T)$. Define

$$T_{\mathbf{U}} = \sup \left\{ t \in (0, T) : \|\mathbf{U}\|_{t}^{2} < 2R \right\}.$$

Then

$$\|\mathbf{U}\|_{T_{\mathbf{U}}}^2 \le 2R,\tag{11.12}$$

by the continuity of $\|\mathbf{U}\|_t$ with respect to t > 0 (see Lemma 23). And if $T_{\mathbf{U}} < T$, then $\theta_R(\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2) = 0$ for $t \in [T_{\mathbf{U}}, T]$. So (10.7) yields (if $T_{\mathbf{U}} = T$, this holds trivially)

$$\left\|\theta_{R}\left(\left\|\mathbf{U}\right\|_{t}^{2}\right)V\right\|_{T} \leq C\left\|\theta_{R}\left(\left\|\mathbf{U}\right\|_{t}^{2}\right)V\right\|_{T_{\mathbf{U}}},$$

and by Lemma 28 the right hand side is dominated by

$$C\left(1+R^{-1} \|\mathbf{U}\|_{T_{\mathbf{U}}}^{2}\right) \|V\|_{T_{\mathbf{U}}} \le 3C \|V\|_{T_{\mathbf{U}}},$$

where we used (11.12). By (10.6), $\|V\|_{T_U} \leq C \|V\|_T$, which proves (11.10). Taking now $V = U_j$ and using the bound (11.12), we get (11.11). \Box

11.4. Difference estimate, version I

Lemma 30. For all $T \in (0, T_0]$ and R > 0 we have the estimates

$$\left\|\theta_{R}\left(\left\|\mathbf{U}\right\|_{t}^{2}\right)\mathbf{U}-\theta_{R}\left(\left\|\mathbf{V}\right\|_{t}^{2}\right)\mathbf{V}\right\|_{T}\leq C\left(1+\frac{M^{2}}{R}+\frac{M^{4}}{R^{2}}\right)\left\|\mathbf{U}-\mathbf{V}\right\|_{T},\qquad(11.13)$$

where

$$M = \|\mathbf{U}\|_T + \|\mathbf{V}\|_T$$

and the constant C depends only on b and T_0

Proof. Setting $\psi(t) = \theta_R(\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2)$ and $\chi(t) = \theta_R(\|\mathbf{V}\|_t^2)$, we reduce to proving, for $1 \le j \le n$,

$$\|[\psi(t) - \chi(t)]U_j\|_T \le \text{r.h.s.}(11.13)$$

and

$$\|\chi(t)(U_j - V_j)\|_T \le C \|U_j - V_j\|_T.$$

The latter holds by (11.10), so we concentrate on the former, whose left hand side squared equals A + 2B, where

$$A = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} T^{-2b} \int_0^T |\psi(t) - \chi(t)|^2 |U_j(t,\xi)|^2 dt d\xi,$$

$$B = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_0^T \int_0^t \frac{|[\psi(t) - \chi(t)]U_j(t,\xi) - [\psi(r) - \chi(r)]U_j(r,\xi)|^2}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} dr dt d\xi.$$

Using (11.3) we estimate

$$|\psi(t) - \chi(t)| \le \frac{C}{R} \left| \|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 - \|\mathbf{V}\|_t^2 \right|.$$
 (11.14)

Writing

$$\|\mathbf{U}\|_{t}^{2} - \|\mathbf{V}\|_{t}^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\langle U_{i} - V_{i}, U_{i} \rangle_{t} + \langle V_{i}, U_{i} - V_{i} \rangle_{t} \right)$$
(11.15)

and applying Cauchy-Schwarz yields

$$\left(\|\mathbf{U}\|_{t}^{2} - \|\mathbf{V}\|_{t}^{2} \right)^{2} \le CM^{2} \|\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V}\|_{T}^{2} \quad \text{for } 0 \le t \le T,$$
(11.16)

implying $A \leq CR^{-2}M^4 \|\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V}\|_T^2$, as desired.

It remains to bound the term B. Defining

$$\kappa = \psi - \chi$$

we write $B \leq 2(B_1 + B_2)$, where

78

$$B_{1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} |\kappa(r)|^{2} \frac{|U_{j}(t,\xi) - U_{j}(r,\xi)|^{2}}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} dr dt d\xi,$$
$$B_{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{0}^{T} |U_{j}(t,\xi)|^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{|\kappa(t) - \kappa(r)|^{2}}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} dr dt d\xi.$$

By (11.14) and (11.16), $|\kappa(r)|^2 \le CR^{-2}M^2 \|\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V}\|_T^2$, so

$$B_1 \le CR^{-2}M^4 \|\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V}\|_T^2$$
.

In B_2 we write out

$$\kappa(t) - \kappa(r) = \theta_R(\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2) - \theta_R(\|\mathbf{V}\|_t^2) - \left[\theta_R(\|\mathbf{U}\|_r^2) - \theta_R(\|\mathbf{V}\|_r^2)\right]$$

and apply Lemma 27 to get

$$B_2 \le C\left(\frac{I}{R^4} + \frac{J}{R^2}\right),\,$$

where

$$I = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{0}^{T} |U_j(t,\xi)|^2 \left(\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 - \|\mathbf{V}\|_t^2 \right)^2 \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\left(\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 - \|\mathbf{U}\|_r^2 \right)^2 + \left(\|\mathbf{V}\|_t^2 - \|\mathbf{V}\|_r^2 \right)^2}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} \, dr \, dt \, d\xi$$

and

$$J = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_0^T |U_j(t,\xi)|^2 \int_0^t \frac{\left(\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 - \|\mathbf{V}\|_t^2 - \|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 + \|\mathbf{V}\|_r^2 \right)^2}{(t-r)^{1+2b}} \, dr \, dt \, d\xi.$$

By (11.16) and Lemma 25,

$$I \le C_b M^8 \left\| \mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V} \right\|_T^2,$$

which is acceptable. Finally, using (11.15) and Lemma 25,

$$J \le C_b M^4 \left\| \mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V} \right\|_T^2,$$

and this concludes the proof of the lemma. $\hfill\square$

11.5. Difference estimate, version II

We are now in a position to finish the proof of Proposition 2, by proving the bound (11.2).

Lemma 31. For all $T \in (0, T_0]$ and R > 0 we have the estimate

$$\left\|\theta_{R}\left(\left\|\mathbf{U}\right\|_{t}^{2}\right)\mathbf{U}-\theta_{R}\left(\left\|\mathbf{V}\right\|_{t}^{2}\right)\mathbf{V}\right\|_{T}\leq C\left\|\mathbf{U}-\mathbf{V}\right\|_{T},$$
(11.17)

where the constant C depends only on b and T_0 .

Proof. First, if $\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 \ge 2R$ and $\|\mathbf{V}\|_t^2 \ge 2R$ for all $t \in [0, T]$, then the left side equals zero.

Second, consider the hybrid case where $\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 \ge 2R$ for all $t \in [0, T]$, whereas $\|\mathbf{V}\|_t^2 < 2R$ for some $t \in [0, T]$. Then $\theta_R(\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2) = 0$ for $t \in [0, T]$. Defining $T_{\mathbf{V}}$ as in the proof of Lemma 29, we find

l.h.s.(11.17) =
$$\left\| \theta_R \left(\left\| \mathbf{V} \right\|_t^2 \right) \mathbf{V} \right\|_T \le C \left\| \theta_R \left(\left\| \mathbf{V} \right\|_t^2 \right) \mathbf{V} \right\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}} \le C\sqrt{2R},$$

by Lemma 29. So if $\|\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}} \ge \sqrt{R}$, we are done. If, on the other hand, $\|\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V}\|_{T_{\mathbf{v}}} \le \sqrt{R}$, then by the triangle inequality, $\|\mathbf{U}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}} \le (1 + \sqrt{2})\sqrt{R}$, since $\|\mathbf{V}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}}^2 \le 2R$. Then (11.17) follows by applying Lemma 30 to

$$\left\|\theta_{R}(\|\mathbf{V}\|_{t}^{2})\mathbf{V}\right\|_{T_{\mathbf{v}}} = \left\|\theta_{R}(\|\mathbf{U}\|_{t}^{2})\mathbf{U} - \theta_{R}(\|\mathbf{V}\|_{t}^{2})\mathbf{V}\right\|_{T_{\mathbf{v}}}$$

The other hybrid case is symmetric, so we are only left with the case where $\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2 < 2R$ for some $t \in [0, T]$ and $\|\mathbf{V}\|_s^2 < 2R$ for some $s \in [0, T]$. Define $T_{\mathbf{U}}$ and $T_{\mathbf{V}}$ as in the proof of Lemma 29, so $\|\mathbf{U}\|_{T_{\mathbf{U}}}^2 \leq 2R$ and $\|\mathbf{V}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}}^2 \leq 2R$. By symmetry we may assume $T_{\mathbf{U}} \leq T_{\mathbf{V}}$, and then (10.7) yields

l.h.s.(11.17)
$$\leq C \left\| \theta_R(\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2)\mathbf{U} - \theta_R(\|\mathbf{V}\|_t^2)\mathbf{V} \right\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}}$$

If $\|\mathbf{U}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}}^2 \leq 8R$, we now obtain (11.17) by Lemma 30. If, on the other hand, $\|\mathbf{U}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}}^2 > 8R$, then $\|\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}} \geq \sqrt{2R}$, and using (10.7) we obtain

l.h.s.(11.17)
$$\leq C\left(\left\|\theta_R(\|\mathbf{U}\|_t^2)\mathbf{U} - \theta_R(\|\mathbf{V}\|_t^2)\mathbf{V}\right\|_{T_{\mathbf{U}}} + \left\|\theta_R(\|\mathbf{V}\|_t^2)\mathbf{V}\right\|_{(T_{\mathbf{U}},T_{\mathbf{V}})}\right)$$

The first term on the right can be handled by Lemma 30, since $\|\mathbf{U}\|_{T_{\mathbf{U}}}^2 \leq 2R$ and $\|\mathbf{V}\|_{T_{\mathbf{U}}}^2 \leq C \|\mathbf{V}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}}^2 \leq C2R$. For the second term, we get by (10.6) and Lemma 29,

$$\left\|\theta_{R}(\|\mathbf{V}\|_{t}^{2})\mathbf{V}\right\|_{(T_{\mathbf{U}},T_{\mathbf{V}})} \leq C \left\|\theta_{R}(\|\mathbf{V}\|_{t}^{2})\mathbf{V}\right\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}} \leq C' \|\mathbf{V}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}} \leq C' \|\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}},$$

where we used $\|\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{V}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}} \ge \sqrt{2R} \ge \|\mathbf{V}\|_{T_{\mathbf{V}}}$. This concludes the proof of the lemma. \Box

11.6. Sobolev–Slobodeckij norm on $H^b(0,T)$

All the properties discussed above in this section are valid for usual Sobolev norms, for functions depending only on the time variable t. The proofs can be repeated directly without much of a difference. However, we can get also those properties easily by considering

$$u(t) = \phi(t)S_{h(\xi)}(t)f$$

with $\phi \in H^b(S,T)$ and $f \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Indeed, from (2.34) and (2.35) it is clear that

$$\|u\|_{X^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)} = \|\phi\|_{H^b(S,T)} \, \|f\|_{H^s} \quad \text{and} \quad \|u\|_{\widetilde{X}^{s,b}_{h(\xi)}(S,T)} = \|\phi\|_{\widetilde{H}^b(S,T)} \, \|f\|_{H^s} \,,$$

where

$$\|\phi\|_{\widetilde{H}^{b}(S,T)} = \frac{1}{(T-S)^{2b}} \int_{S}^{T} |\phi(t)|^{2} dt + \int_{S}^{T} \int_{S}^{T} \frac{|\phi(t) - \phi(r)|^{2}}{|t-r|^{1+2b}} dr dt.$$

Normalising by taking $||f||_{H^s} = 1$, we then get from Lemma 21, for $b \in (0, 1/2)$,

$$C_{T_0,b}^{-1} \|\phi\|_{H^b(S,T)} \le \|\phi\|_{\widetilde{H}^b(S,T)} \le C_{T_0,b} \|\phi\|_{H^b(S,T)} \qquad (0 \le S < T \le T_0),$$
(11.18)

and Proposition 1 has the following analogue.

Proposition 3. Let $T_0 > 0$ and $b \in (0, 1/2)$. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and suppose that $\phi_i, \Phi_i \in H^b(0, T_0)$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$. Then for $T \in (0, T_0]$, R > 0 and $1 \leq j \leq n$ we have the estimates

$$\left\| \theta_R \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \|\phi_i\|_{\widetilde{H}^b(0,t)}^2 \right) \phi_j(t) \right\|_{H^b(0,T)} \leqslant C\sqrt{R},$$
$$\left\| \theta_R \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \|\phi_i\|_{\widetilde{H}^b(0,t)}^2 \right) \phi_j(t) - \theta_R \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \|\Phi_i\|_{\widetilde{H}^b(0,t)}^2 \right) \Phi_j(t) \right\|_{H^b(0,T)} \leqslant C \sum_{i=1}^n \|\phi_i - \Phi_i\|_{H^b(0,T)} ,$$

where C depends only on b, T_0 and θ .

Data availability

No data was used for the research described in the article.

Acknowledgments

ED was partially supported by the ERC EU project 856408-STUOD and the Research Council of Norway through its Centres of Excellence scheme, Hylleraas-senteret, project number 262695. SS was partially supported by the Meltzer Research Fund. The authors would like to thank the anonymous referees, whose valuable comments helped us to improve the paper during the revision.

References

- V. Barbu, M. Röckner, D. Zhang, Stochastic nonlinear Schrödinger equations with linear multiplicative noise: rescaling approach, J. Nonlinear Sci. 24 (3) (2014) 383–409.
- [2] V. Barbu, M. Röckner, D. Zhang, Stochastic nonlinear Schrödinger equations, Nonlinear Anal. 136 (2016) 168–194.
- [3] I. Bejenaru, S. Herr, On global well-posedness and scattering for the massive Dirac-Klein-Gordon system, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 19 (8) (2017) 2445–2467.
- [4] A. Bényi, T. Oh, Modulation spaces, Wiener amalgam spaces, and Brownian motions, Adv. Math. 228 (5) (2011) 2943–2981.
- [5] J.D. Bjorken, S.D. Drell, Relativistic Quantum Mechanics, McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York-Toronto-London, 1964.
- [6] N. Bournaveas, A new proof of global existence for the Dirac Klein-Gordon equations in one space dimension, J. Funct. Anal. 173 (1) (2000) 203–213.
- [7] T. Candy, Bilinear estimates and applications to global well-posedness for the Dirac-Klein-Gordon equation on R¹⁺¹, J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ. 10 (1) (2013) 1–35.
- [8] T. Candy, S. Herr, Transference of bilinear restriction estimates to quadratic variation norms and the Dirac-Klein-Gordon system, Anal. PDE 11 (5) (2018) 1171–1240.
- [9] J.M. Chadam, Global solutions of the Cauchy problem for the (classical) coupled Maxwell-Dirac equations in one space dimension, J. Funct. Anal. 13 (1973) 173–184.
- [10] J. Colliander, M. Keel, G. Staffilani, H. Takaoka, T. Tao, Multilinear estimates for periodic KdV equations, and applications, J. Funct. Anal. 211 (1) (2004) 173–218.
- [11] P. D'Ancona, D. Foschi, S. Selberg, Null structure and almost optimal local regularity for the Dirac-Klein-Gordon system, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 009 (4) (2007) 877–899.
- [12] P. D'Ancona, D. Foschi, S. Selberg, Product estimates for wave-Sobolev spaces in 2 + 1 and 1 + 1 dimensions, in: Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations and Hyperbolic Wave Phenomena, in: Contemp. Math., vol. 526, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2010, pp. 125–150.
- [13] P. D'Ancona, D. Foschi, S. Selberg, Atlas of products for wave-Sobolev spaces on ℝ¹⁺³, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 364 (1) (2012) 31–63.
- [14] A. de Bouard, A. Debussche, A stochastic nonlinear Schrödinger equation with multiplicative noise, Commun. Math. Phys. 205 (1) (Aug. 1999) 161–181.
- [15] A. de Bouard, A. Debussche, The Korteweg-de Vries Equation with Multiplicative Homogeneous Noise, World Scientific, 2007, pp. 113–133.
- [16] G.B. Folland, Real analysis, in: Modern Techniques and Their Applications, second ed., in: Pure and Applied Mathematics (New York), John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1999, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [17] L. Gawarecki, V. Mandrekar, Stochastic Differential Equations in Infinite Dimensions, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [18] J. Ginibre, Le problème de Cauchy pour des EDP semi-linéaires périodiques en variables d'espace (d'après Bourgain), Sémin. Bourbaki 4 (237) (1996) 163–187, vol. 1994/95, Exp. No. 796.
- [19] D. Goodair, Stochastic calculus in infinite dimensions and spdes, 2022.
- [20] A. Grünrock, H. Pecher, Global solutions for the Dirac-Klein-Gordon system in two space dimensions, Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 35 (1) (2010) 89–112.
- [21] D.D. Haroske, H. Triebel, Distributions, Sobolev Spaces, Elliptic Equations, EMS Textbooks in Mathematics, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2008.
- [22] A. Helemskii, Lectures and Exercises on Functional Analysis. No. v. 233 in Translations of Mathematical Monographs, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I, 2006, OCLC, ocm61278711.

- [23] S. Herr, M. Röckner, D. Zhang, Scattering for stochastic nonlinear Schrödinger equations, Commun. Math. Phys. 368 (2) (2019) 843–884.
- [24] I. Karatzas, S.E. Shreve, Brownian Motion and Stochastic Calculus, second ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 113, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991.
- [25] S. Machihara, The Cauchy problem for the 1-D Dirac-Klein-Gordon equation, NoDEA Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl. 14 (5–6) (2007) 625–641.
- [26] S. Machihara, K. Nakanishi, K. Tsugawa, Well-posedness for nonlinear Dirac equations in one dimension, Kyoto J. Math. 50 (2) (2010) 403–451.
- [27] J. Marzuola, J. Metcalfe, D. Tataru, Strichartz estimates and local smoothing estimates for asymptotically flat Schrödinger equations, J. Funct. Anal. 255 (6) (2008) 1497–1553.
- [28] W. McLean, Strongly Elliptic Systems and Boundary Integral Equations, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2000.
- [29] H. Pecher, Low regularity well-posedness for the one-dimensional Dirac-Klein-Gordon system, Electron. J. Differ. Equ. 2006 (2006) 150, electronic only, 13 p.
- [30] S. Selberg, A. Tesfahun, Low regularity well-posedness of the Dirac-Klein-Gordon equations in one space dimension, Commun. Contemp. Math. 10 (02) (2008) 181–194.
- [31] T. Tao, Nonlinear dispersive equations, in: CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics. Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, vol. 106, American Mathematical Society, Washington, DC, 2006, Providence, RI. Local and global analysis.
- [32] H. Yukawa, On the interaction of elementary particles. I, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 1 01 (1955) 1–10.